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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

You should carefully consider the risks describelbl together with all of the other informatiorcinded in this Form 10-K, including Iltem 1A
“Risk Factors,” before making an investment decisidn investment in our common stock involves atdggree of risk. We operate in a dynamic and
rapidly changing industry that involves numerousartainties. The risks and uncertainties descrii@dw are not the only ones we face. Other risks
and uncertainties, including those that we do omotently consider material, may impair our businéisany of the risks discussed below actually a¢
our business, financial condition, operating ressattcash flows could be materially adversely affidcThis could cause the trading price of our
common stock to decline, and you may lose all or @layour investment.

This Form 10-K, including information incorporatedrein by reference, contains forward-looking stegets as defined in the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995. All statements treae not descriptions of historical fact are forwbrdking statements, based on estimates,
assumptions and projections that are subjectks ead uncertainties. These statements can ggnbeaitientified by use of forward looking
terminology such as “believes”, “expects”, “intehdsnay”, “will”, “plans”, “should”, “anticipates,” “potential” or similar terminology. Although we
believe that the expectations reflected in suctvdod looking statements are reasonable as of tieetidareof, such expectations are based on certain
assumptions regarding preclinical activities witlr AKIP ™ technology, the progress of other product develagraforts including clinical trials, the
prosecution of existing and efforts to execute gellaborative agreements, receipt of potential stdees and royalties under our collaborative
agreements, government regulations, reliance od gairties to conduct clinical trials and perfomsearch and analysis services, adequate financial
resources, changes in economic and business aomgjiind other factors relating to our growth. Sexjiectations may not materialize if product
development efforts, including any necessary taélgur potential drug candidates, are delayeduspended, if our compounds fail to demonstrate
safety and efficiency, if positive early resulte aot repeated in later studies or in humansegitierapeutic and value of our compounds are not
realized, if planned acquisitions or negotiatiorithywotential collaborators are delayed or unsusfesif we are unsuccessful at integrating acglire
assets or technologies, or if other assumptiongepircorrect. The forwardeoking statements contained herein representtigment of ArQule as «
the date of this Form 10-K. ArQule disclaims anteirt or obligation to update any forward-lookingtstnent except to the extent required by law.

2
ARQULE, INC.
TABLE OF CONTENTS
Page
PART |
Item 1. Business 4
Business Overview 4
Product Candidates 6
Clinical Stage Drug Development Pipeline 1C
Discovery Platform 1C
Corporate Partnerships 11
Business Strategy 13
Patents and Proprietary Rights 15
Competition 16
Government Regulatior 17
Employees 18
Certain Other Information 18
Executive Officers 19
Item 1A. Risk Factors 20

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments 37



Item 2. Properties 37

Item 3. Legal Proceedings 37
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures 37
PART II
Item 5. Market for the Registrant’s Common Stock, Related Stockholder Matters and Is&r Purchases of Equity 38
Securities
Stock Performance Graph 38
Item 6. Selected Financial Date 40
Item 7. Managemen’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition ahResults of Operations 42
Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Marlet Risk 53
Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Dat 55
Index to Financial Statements 55
Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Acunting and Financial Disclosure 83
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures 83
Conclusion Regarding the Effectiveness of Disclestontrols and Procedur 83
Management's Report on Internal Control Over FirariReporting 83
Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Repgrtin 83
Item 9B. Other Information 83
PART Il
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers, and Corporate Goverance 84
Item 11. Executive Compensatior 84
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners andManagement and Related Stockholder Matter: 84
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, an®irector Independence 84
Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Service 84
PART IV 84
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedule 84
15(a)(1) Financial Statements 84
15(a)(2) Financial Statement Schedules 84
15(a)(3) Exhibits 85
3
PART |

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

We are a clinical-stage biotechnology company eedag the research and development of innovatinearatherapeutics. Our mission is to
produce novel drugs with differentiated mechanisiresction that will extend the lives of our patienThese drugs target biological pathways
implicated in a wide range of cancers. We emplafnelogies such as our ArQule Kinase Inhibitor felat (“AKIP ™ ") to design and develop drugs
that have the potential to fulfill this mission.

Our product candidates and programs span a comirmfuesearch and development ranging from drugpdisry to advanced clinical testing. Tt
are based on our understanding of biological pseethat lead to the proliferation and metastdsiamcer cells, combined with our ability to geriera
product candidates possessing certain pre-selednieghlike properties. We believe that these dgigaljtwhen present from the earliest stages of mtodu
development, increase the likelihood of produciafg seffective and marketable drugs. Our discoaey development efforts are also guided by an
understanding of the role of biomarkers, whichiadécators of a particular biological conditionfmocess and may predict the clinical benefit of our
compounds in defined patient populations.

Our lead product candidate is tivantinib (ARQ 1%f),orally administered, small molecule inhibitbtlee c-Met receptor tyrosine kinase (“MET”)
and its biological pathway. MET is a promising &irépr cancer therapy, based on its multiple ralesancerous cell proliferation, tumor spread, new
blood vessel formation and resistance to certaig tinerapies. We and our partners, Daiichi Sankyo ad. (“Daiichi Sankyo”) and Kyowa Hakko
Kirin Co., Ltd. (“Kyowa Hakko Kirin"), are implemeing a clinical development program designed tdizeahe broad potential of tivantinib as a
single agent and in combination with other antiezartherapies in a number of disease indications.sDategy is to focus on the most promising
indications within our clinical programs based upontinually generated and updated data. Our nth&treced indication is liver cancer
(hepatocellular carcinoma or “HCC”). We are alsmpteting earlier-stage combination therapy triaithuivantinib and other anti-cancer agents that
may provide data to support later-stage trialsdditoonal indications.

On January 31, 2013, we announced that the fitstgehad been enrolled in the pivotal Phase 3 MEIME T-high patients witlTiv antinib in



HCC) trial of tivantinib for patients diagnosed Wit CC who have received one or two prior systemié@ancer therapies. The METIV trial is a
randomized, double-blind, controlled study of poasly treated patients with MET-high inoperable H@b will receive tivantinib as a single agent
or placebo. The primary endpoint of this trial iecall survival (“OS”"), and the secondary endpdsrprogression-free survival (“PFSApproximately
300 patients are planned to be enrolled at apprabeiy 120 clinical sites worldwide. This trial isihg conducted under a Special Protocol Assessmen
(“SPA™) agreement with the U.S. Food and Drug Adistimtion (“FDA”). The METIV trial builds upon theesults of a randomized, double-blind,
placebo controlled, Phase 2 trial in HCC announceldnuary 2012 demonstrating that treatment witintinib as single agent therapy produced a
statistically significant improvement in the primpandpoint of time-to-progression (“TTPiH) previously treated patients. Patients with higheels of
MET who were treated with tivantinib in this Ph&sgial experienced pronounced benefit in prolongi@é. Additional data from this trial, presented
at the Annual Meeting of the American Society ofhelal Oncology (“ASCO”)in June 2012, demonstrated significant improvementsedian overa
survival (“OS”) and progression-free survival (“P-# these MET-high patients.

On January 11, 2013, we announced the top-lindtsesiua randomized Phase 2 signal generationdfiivantinib used in combination with
irinotecan and cetuximab in patients with refragtor relapsed colorectal cancer (“CRC”). Althoubk trial did not meet its primary endpoint of PFS,
the analysis of the patients enrolled (n=122) shibthat median PFS was 8.3 months in the experirhanta(patients treated with irinotecan and
cetuximab plus tivantinib), compared with 7.3 manith the control arm (patients treated with irirate and cetuximab plus placebo) (hazard ratio =
0.85, 95% CI: 0.55, 1.33). Objective Response R&RR"), a secondary endpoint, was 45 percent éngkperimental arm versus 33 percent in the
control arm but the difference was not statisticalgnificant. The PFS results obtained in bothdbwetrol arm and
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the experimental arm were longer than expected aoaapto previously published historical norms. Aiddial data and analyses from this trial are
planned for presentation at a future medical mgedimd will include mature OS data as well as amalys patient sub-groups, biomarker status and
regional variability, including pre- and post-stutgatments. Adverse events were reported at simaitas in the experimental and control arms, eixcep
for increased neutropenia observed in the expetethamrm, with no discontinuations of treatmenttfus reason. No treatmeatnergent adverse eve
leading to death were assessed as related to tseatgnent. Tivantinib was generally well tolerabec¢ombination with the doses of cetuximab and
irinotecan studied in this trial.

On October 2, 2012, we and Daiichi Sankyo annoutitatthe independent Data Monitoring CommitteeM©") of the Phase 3 MARQUEE_(M
et inhibitor ARQ197 plus Elotinib vs. Erlotinib plus placebo in NSCLC) trial in non-squamsccell NSCLC recommended the study be discontinued
early following a planned interim analysis, wheaytttoncluded that the study would not meet its prinendpoint of improved OS. Although the
interim analysis showed a statistically significanprovement in PFS in the intent-teeat (ITT) population, this benefit did not canyer to OS. Ther
were no safety concerns identified by the DMC dyitinis interim analysis. MARQUEE is a randomizedyble-blind, controlled pivotal trial
conducted under an SPA to evaluate tivantinib imlmoation with erlotinib, an approved anti-cancgesat, in previously treated patients with locally
advanced or metastatic, non-squamous NSCLC. Wé®aiichi Sankyo have provided information regardihg study discontinuation to health
authorities and those clinical investigators pgptiting in studies of tivantinib. Data from thisidy will be presented at an upcoming peer review
forum. Our analysis of these data will inform oecisions regarding potential further developmet8CLC or in certain biomarker-defined sub-
groups within this disease population. In NSCLC,ame also conducting a Phase 2, randomized tri@arfitinib and erlotinib in patients with a
mutated form of the KRAS gene.

On October 30, 2012, we reported that we had b&emied by Kyowa Hakko Kirin that it will permanénsuspend enrollment in its ongoing
Phase 3 ATTENTION ( Aian_Trial of T ivantinib plus_Erlotinib for N SCLC without EGFR Muta tioptrial following the recommendation of an
independent Safety Review Committee (“SRC”) in Jagfter the reporting of cases of interstitial ludigease (“ILD") in the study as a drug-related
adverse event. It is our understanding that patiefio were enrolled in the ATTENTION trial at thmé of the safety finding can continue to receive
treatment with the combination of tivantinib antbénib upon request from the patient and investigeaand after providing new informed consent.
Data from the trial is expected in late 2013 ohea014. The ATTENTION trial is investigating theei of tivantinib and erlotinib versus erlotinib and
placebo in second line non-squamous NSCLC patieitisthe wild-type form of the EGFR gene. This tisabeing conducted by Kyowa Hakko Kirin
in Japan, South Korea and Taiwan.

We have licensed commercial rights to tivantinibliaman cancer indications to Daiichi Sankyo inth8., Europe, South America and the rest of
the world, excluding Japan and certain other Asamtries, where we have licensed commercial rightéyowa Hakko Kirin. Our agreements with
these partners provide for possible future milestoayments, royalties on product sales, and denedapfunding, in addition to significant payments
that we have already received. The most recenstoite payments under these agreements were madg 8041, when we received $25 million fr
Daiichi Sankyo resulting from the dosing of thesfipatient in the MARQUEE trial and $10 million fnroKyowa Hakko Kirin resulting from dosing of
the first patient in the ATTENTION trial.

Our proprietary pipeline is directed toward molecubrgets and biological processes with demomstnatles in the development of human cani
The most advanced candidates in this pipeline &® A87, an inhibitor of fibroblast growth factoceptor, ARQ 621, an inhibitor of the Eg5 kinesin
motor protein, and ARQ 736, an inhibitor of the RiRases, all of which are in Phase 1 clinical depment.

Our drug discovery efforts are focused primarilyAiIP ™ | which we are using to generate compounds designiedhibit kinases without
competing with adenosine triphosphate (“ATP”) fanding to the target kinase, as well as other tygfdsnase inhibitors. ATP is a chemical found in
all living cells and is the energy source involiea variety of physiological processes. We hawessed the potential of AKI™ to target multiple
kinases in oncology and other therapeutic areabyanare generating and validating compounds tabit these kinases. Our additional drug
discovery efforts have utilized our proprietaryréiby of



compounds generated in the course of our previbesistry services business to identify potentialdidates for clinical development.
PRODUCT CANDIDATES
Tivantinib (ARQ 197): Lead Product Candidate

We are developing our lead product candidate, timém with our partner, Daiichi Sankyo, in the U.Europe, South America and the rest of the
world, excluding Japan and certain other Asian twesy where we have licensed commercial rightéytowa Hakko Kirin. Tivantinib is an inhibitor
of MET that does not compete with ATP. We belidvat tMET is a promising target for cancer therapseolaon its multiple roles in cancerous cell
proliferation, tumor spread, new blood vessel fdiameand resistance to certain drug therapies.

We and our partners are implementing a clinicaktigyment program designed to realize the broadhgatef tivantinib as a single agent and in
combination with other anti-cancer therapies. Weecanducting trials in a number of indications, ti@st advanced of which is HCC, and we are
completing earlier-stage combination therapy tneith tivantinib and other anti-cancer agents thay provide data to support later-stage trials in
additional indications.

Liver Cancer (Hepatocellular carcinoma or HCC)

Our therapeutic approaches to HCC, our most adwkinckcation, include evaluating tivantinib as batkingle agent and in combination with an
approved targeted therapy, sorafenib. On Janugrg@®l13, we announced that the first patient had leeeolled in the pivotal Phase 3 METIV trial of
tivantinib for patients diagnosed with HCC who hageeived one or two prior systemic anti-cancerapies. The METIV trial is a randomized,
double-blind, controlled study of previously treafeatients with MET-high inoperable HCC who wiltedve tivantinib as a single agent or placebo.
The primary endpoint is OS, and the secondary entdfPFS. Approximately 300 patients are planteeble enrolled at approximately 120 clinical
sites worldwide. This trial is being conducted unale SPA agreement with the FDA. An SPA is an agesd establishing the design, endpoints and
statistical analysis of a clinical trial intendedprovide the necessary data, depending on themeatof the trial, which could support the filingaf
New Drug Application “NDA"). Final marketing approval depends on theulesof the trial.

The METIV trial builds upon the results of a randped, doubleblind, placebo controlled, Phase 2 trial in HCGially announced in January 2C
demonstrating that treatment with tivantinib agiragent therapy produced a statistically sigaific56 percent improvement in the primary endpoint
of TTP in the ITT population of previously treatedtients. The 107 patients in this trial had urstzdd#e HCC and had experienced disease progre
after firstdine therapy or were unable to tolerate such ther@pP was defined as the time from patient randation until objective tumor progress
using RECIST (Response Evaluation Criteria in S®lidnors) 1.1 criteria evaluated by central radiadabreview.

Additional data from this trial were presentedret ASCO meeting in June 2012. Patients with hi¢gnezls of MET in the Phase 2 trial who were
treated with tivantinib experienced pronouncedjsttaally significant improvements in TTP, PFS &8. In this sub-group of 37 patients, median OS
in the tivantinib arm (22 patients) was 7.2 mon#rg] median OS in the placebo arm (15 patients)38&amonths (HR=0.38; log rank p-value=0.01);
median TTP in the tivantinib arm was 2.9 monthsl median TTP in the placebo arm was 1.5 months (435 log rank p-value=0.03); median PFS
in the tivantinib arm was 2.4 months, and mediaB PRhe placebo arm was 1.5 months (HR=0.45,d08 p-value=0.02).

At the start of the Phase 2 trial, patients weneloanized to receive tivantinib at 360 milligramsdegvdaily (“BID”) or placebo. Due to the rate of
neutropenia, or an abnormally low count of whiteddl cells that help fight infections, the tivaniidose was reduced to 240 milligrams BID for all
patients. Adverse events were reported at sinalfi@srin the treatment and placebo arms, except liagher incidence of fatigue and hematologic
events, including neutropenia and anemia, in tinémtreated patients. The incidence of these tyfevents declined following dose reduction. We
continue to monitor the safety profile of tivanbrin patients with HCC, among whom underlying asts and compromised liver function may limit
the body’s ability to process tivantinib and theréticrease such toxicity. Among these patientsyéftemmended dose of tivantinib is 240 milligrams
BID.

With respect to combination therapy for HCC, wesprded data from a Phase 1b study at the JuneABT® meeting showing that the
combination of tivantinib at 240 milligrams BID glsorafenib, an approved anti-cancer therapy, @diligrams BID was well tolerated in patients
with HCC. Preliminary evidence of anti-cancer aityiwas observed in this patient population, arelahtitumor activity observed in this trial suggest
that the combined inhibition of MET activity by &nmtinib and angiogenic signaling by sorafenib mayehtherapeutic potential in HCC.

Non-small cell lung cancer
MARQUEE Phase 3 Trial

On October 2, 2012, we and Daiichi Sankyo annoutitatthe independent DMC of the Phase 3 MARQUIE itr non-squamous cell NSCLC
recommended the study be discontinued early fofigvéi planned interim analysis, when they conclutiatithe study would not meet its primary
endpoint of improved OS. Although the interim as&éyshowed a statistically significant improvemianPFS in the ITT population of non-squamous
cell NSCLC, this benefit did not carry over to GBecondary endpoints include OS in the subpopulatigratients with epidermal growth fact



receptor (EGFR) wild type, PFS in the ITT populatiand further assessment of the safety of tivdmimcombination with erlotinib. There were
no safety concerns identified by the DMC to DaiiSlainkyo or us during this interim analysis.

MARQUEE is a randomized, double-blind, controlledapal trial conducted under an SPA to evaluatarttinib in combination with erlotinib, an
approved anti-cancer agent, in previously treatg@pts with locally advanced or metastatic, nonasgous NSCLC. Approximately 1,000 patients
were recruited in MARQUEE from more than 200 clalisites worldwide. We and Daiichi Sankyo have pded information regarding the study
discontinuation to health authorities and thoseicdil investigators participating in studies ofamtinib. Data cut-off from this study occurred in
December 2012, and related analyses are expecbhedpresented at a peer reviewed forum in 2013 aDalysis of these data will inform our decisi
regarding potential further development in NSCLGnocertain biomarker-defined sub-groups withirstlisease population.

We incorporated into the SPA for the MARQUEE taabroad genotyping and biomarker program designeatpand what is an evolving
understanding of the biology of MET and of tivaitiinn addition, we continue to investigate and &aldur understanding of the profile of tivantinib
and its metabolites to better characterize theipe@nd effect as anti-cancer agents. These eifeitale the generation and interpretation of chhi
and pre-clinical data by us, our partners and tpadies suggesting potential anti-cancer activitgddition to MET inhibition. In this regard, cait
preclinical experiments have demonstrated thanhtiaé has activity against cells that harborditdr undetectable levels of MET, suggesting an
additional mechanism or mechanisms in those sattingluding mitotic arrest, or the possible inarvent of cellular mechanisms and signaling
pathways activated by MET. Although it is uncledraweffect such activity may have in clinical sgg8, data from randomized, controlled clinical
trials demonstrate that tivantinib has greater fiefog patients who have tested positive for hET status while showing less activity in MET low
populations. As a result, ArQule believes that MéEdtus remains the most significant biomarker dothier development of the drug, and we, our
partners, and academic collaborators intend tosfacusuch patient populations in a number of tutyymes. We will pursue these and future findings to
inform our decisions regarding additional clinisattings and patient populations for tivantinib.

ATTENTION Phase 3 Trial

On October 30, 2012, we reported that we had bdemied by Kyowa Hakko Kirin that it will permanénsuspend enrollment in its ongoing
Phase 3 ATTENTION trial in non-squamous cell NSChb{owing the recommendation of an independent SiRCapan after the reporting of cases of
ILD in the study as a drug-related adverse eveéig.dur understanding that patients who were édoh the ATTENTION trial at the time of the
safety finding can continue to receive treatmerthwhe combination of tivantinib and erlotinib up@guest from the patient and investigator and afte
providing new informed consent. Data from the taig¢ expected in late 2013 or early 2014.

The ATTENTION trial is investigating the use ofaivtinib and erlotinib versus erlotinib and placébsecond line non-squamous NSCLC patients
with wild-type EGFR. This trial is being conductey Kyowa

Hakko Kirin in Japan, South Korea and Taiwan to pame OS of patients treated with tivantinib andtanlb to OS in patients treated with placebo
erlotinib. The design of this trial is based on tesults of clinical studies conducted by Kyowa KaKirin in Japan and those conducted by Daiichi
Sankyo and us in the U.S. and Europe.

KRAS Mutation-Positive Phase 2 Trial

We are continuing to enroll patients in a Phasardomized open label trial of tivantinib and anit in NSCLC patients with a mutated form of
the KRAS gene. We selected this patient populdimsed on a signal of clinical benefit observed agrdRAS-mutant patients who comprised a sub-
group in our previous randomized Phase 2 trial SCNC. The primary endpoint of this trial is PFSdaecondary endpoints include OS, ORR and
safety. Approximately 100 patients will be enrolkcclinical sites in the U.S., and we expect teehdata from this trial in 2013.

Colorectal cancer trial

On January 11, 2013, we announced the top-lindtsesiua randomized Phase 2 signal generationdfitivantinib used in combination with
irinotecan and cetuximab in patients with refragtor relapsed CRC. Although the trial did not miéeprimary endpoint of PFS, the analysis of the
patients enrolled (n=122) showed that median PFES8s&months in the experimental arm (patientdecewith irinotecan and cetuximab plus
tivantinib), compared with 7.3 months in the cohtron (patients treated with irinotecan and cetwabtimplus placebo) (hazard ratio = 0.85, 95% CI:
0.55, 1.33). Objective response rate (“ORR"), aadary endpoint, was 45 percent in the experimentalversus 33 percent in the control arm but the
difference was not statistically significant. ThESPresults obtained in both the control arm ancettperimental arm were longer than expected
compared to previously published historical norAdverse events were reported at similar ratesarettperimental and control arms in this trial,
except for increased neutropenia observed in theregrental arm, with no discontinuations of treattrfer this reason. No treatmeatrergent adver:
events leading to death were assessed as relagtgtiptreatment. Tivantinib was generally welktalted in combination with the doses of cetuximab
and irinotecan studied in this trial. Additionataand analyses from this trial are planned fos@néation at a future medical meeting and will uael
mature OS data as well as analyses of patient supg, biomarker status and regional variabilitg)uding pre- and post-study treatments.

The patients enrolled in this trial (U.S. n=67; Bamn=39; Western Europe n=16) had unresectable, RGressed following first-line treatment
and had tumors expressing the wild-type form ofkRAS gene. The primary objective of the trial ieasssess the contribution of tivantinib to the
irinotecan and cetuximab treatment regimen. Thaarny endpoint of the study was PFS, and secondgegtives included OS and ORR. Patients \
randomized to receive tivantinib, 360 milligramsdevdaily, plus irinotecan and cetuximab, or placphus irinotecan and cetuximab. The trial was
conducted by Daiichi Sanky



National Institutes of Health Program

The National Cancer Institute (NCI), through itsn€ar Therapy Evaluation Program (CTEP), has saldatantinib for study under a Cooperative
Research and Development Agreement (CRADA). The BRArovides financial support for a number of indegdent investigator-sponsored clinical
trials that will examine the safety and spectruntivafntinib’s anti-tumor activity, including new pential indications based on the profile of tivaitii
and the role of MET in different diseases. Additithy, it provides support for pre-clinical studi@ssigned to expand the basic understanding and
development of tivantinib, including explorationitsf potential activity beyond MET inhibition.

Patient enrollment is ongoing with tivantinib asiagle agent and in combinations with other antiega therapies in a number of CRADA-
sponsored trials. These include Phase 2 singlet &ggs in prostate cancer (randomized), multipgeloma and breast cancer, and Phase 2
combination therapy trials in kidney cancer (withnéthout erlotinib, randomized) and head and neahkcer (with or without cetuximab, randomized).
In addition, Phase 1 trials are ongoing with tivibtas a single agent in pediatric tumors andaasgf combination therapies with bevacizumab,
pazopanib, topotecan and temsirolimus.

Earlier Clinical Stage Product Candidates
Proprietary Pipeline: ARQ 087, ARQ 621, ARQ 736, AR 761

Our proprietary early clinical-stage product pipelincludes: ARQ 087, a multi-kinase inhibitor witan-fibroblast growth factor receptor (FGFR)
activity; ARQ 621, an inhibitor of the Eg5 kinesimotor protein; ARQ 736, an inhibitor of the RAF &Bes; and ARQ 761, an activator of the E2F-1
damage response/checkpoint pathway. We initiateldase 1 trial with ARQ 087 in late 2012, and PHasknical testing has been completed with the
other compounds in this earlier-stage portfolior &tuategy with these product candidates is to ggag@re-clinical and early clinical data that will
inform decisions regarding possible initiation ¢faBe 2 testing with one or more of them eitherpedeently or on a partnered basis. In addition, we
may seek areas of potential therapeutic synergygrtttese product candidates.

Decisions regarding our early-stage pipeline wibabe guided by the following considerations. Véédve FGFR, the target of ARQ 087, may
represent an attractive focus for anti-cancer thebmsed on its important roles in cell prolifepati differentiation, migration, survival, protein
synthesis and angiogenesis, as well as its conipalsatecent emergence as a novel molecule ofésteor targeted therapy in oncology. Eg5, the
target of ARQ 621, has not yet been validated,va@dre seeking additional scientific evidence thatclass of Eg5 inhibitors merits further clinical
testing. With respect to ARQ 736, the barriersritryein the field of RAF kinase inhibitors have bete more difficult, as drugs including ipilumimab
and vemurafinib have been recently approved fotrdstment of late-stage melanoma patients, aniti@ukll members of this class and others are in
development. ARQ 761 is a second-generation conmpérom our E2F-1 DNA damage response/checkpoiritvgay that we would seek to develop
primarily through investigator-sponsored testing.

Partnered Pipeline: ARQ 092

Our partnered early stage product pipeline inclulaR® 092, an AKT inhibitor discovered through ouKI® ™ collaboration with Daiichi Sanky:
On November 10, 2011, Daiichi Sankyo and we annediice execution of a license agreement for theldpment of ARQ 092, the first compount
emerge from this collaboration. The license agregmevides exclusive rights to Daiichi Sankyo floe development, manufacturing and marketing
of ARQ 092 on a worldwide basis. Under this agresimee received a $10 million upfront payment frBaiichi Sankyo in November 2011, as well
as support for an ongoing Phase 1 clinical triat the are conducting in the U.S. The agreementiges\for up to a total of $265 million in upfront,
potential development and sales milestone paynientach product selected for clinical developnfesin the AKIP™ collaboration, as well as
tiered, double-digit royalties on net sales.

CLINICAL STAGE DRUG DEVELOPMENT PIPELINE

The chart below displays our clinical stage produahd their stages of developme
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America and the rest of the world, and licensed to Kyowa Hakka Kirin
in Japan, China {including Hong Kong), South Korea and Taiwan

DISCOVERY PLATFORM
ArQule Kinase Inhibitor Platform (AKIPT™)

Introduction

An important focus of oncology research and devalapt activities conducted by biopharmaceutical camngs is a class of proteins known as
kinases, which play pivotal roles in modulatingetise cellular activities and have been implicatedrgortant growth signals for certain forms of
cancer and other diseases. The success of kir@ibéons such as Tarceva®, Gleevec® and Nexavagfteused attention on the kinase field,
resulting in the increased development of next-gaien inhibitors that target cancers and otheealiges such as inflammation. The global market for
protein kinase inhibitors was estimated at $28liohiin 2010 and nearly $29.1 billion in 2011. Thharket is expected to reach $40.2 billion by 2016
The U.S. market for kinase inhibitors was estimae#i10.8 billion in 2010 and $10.4 billion in 20This market is expected to reach $11.6 billion by

2016.

We have discovered a novel binding mode of tivalntia its target that effects inhibition of the ME&ceptor kinase without competing with ATP
for binding to that kinase. We have completed aaesh program with the objective of querying thenan kinome (consisting of 518 human kinase
genes) for similar binding sites, and we have ifiedtcomparable sites in approximately 270 kinasese having roles in different therapeutic areas,
leading to the establishment of our proprietarygdiiscovery platform, AKIPM

We believe that this platform allows our scientistsationally design novel kinase inhibitors teatompass new chemical spaces and provide for
an expanding intellectual property estate. We ppdying our drug discovery capabilities based onAKM to generate novel, selective and potent

compounds that
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target the inactive form of kinases. We have asseAKIP T™™’s potential to target multiple kinases in oncol@qd other therapeutic areas, and we are
generating and validating compounds that inhilEsthkinase targets. We are actively designingestihy such novel kinase inhibitor compouirds
silico (on the computer) to create new libraries of leahgounds that can be synthesized and purified Isap&ing our proprietary robotic parallel
chemistry platform. This platform is coupled to lnithroughput robotic-assisted kinase screens aghpsical assays.

We believe the application of our discovery endménd novel kinase inhibitors will enable us xpand into multiple chemical scaffolds that
could generate novel intellectual property. Weédithain silico design and testing will shorten drug discovery times relative to traditional
approaches. Furthermore, the ability of small maes to inhibit kinases without competing with ATd? binding (the ATP binding site is highly
conserved across different kinases) may lead terfeff-target side effects.

We anticipate that these novel kinase inhibitorisemtargeted against selected therapeutically astekinases, may have utility in treating a broad
range of human diseases in addition to cancer. Weseek to expand the applications of this profang drug discovery platform through collaborative
research programs as well as through our own iateliscovery and development activities in multifflerapeutic areas.

Daiichi Sankyo AKIFTMOncology Collaboration

In November 2012, we completed our research calitmm with Daiichi Sankyo, entered into in NovemB608, which was our first collaboration
based on AKIFM | Pursuant to this agreement, we applied our petgy technology and know-how from this platfornditscover selective inhibitors
of two kinases in the field of oncology. In Octol2€&x10, Daiichi Sankyo and we expanded this collatiom by establishing a third therapeutic target,
with an option for a fourth, in the field of oncgg and we lengthened the term of the collaboratiigh a two-year extension (see Corporate
Partnerships, Daiichi Sankyo Co., Ltd, Kinase litbibDiscovery Agreement below).

On November 10, 2011, Daiichi Sankyo and we annedtice execution of a license agreement for theldpment of a new AKT inhibitor, ARQ
092, the first compound to emerge from the commam&IP ™ collaboration. The license agreement provides ekedurights to Daiichi Sankyo for
the development, manufacturing and marketing of AFRQ on a worldwide basis. Under this agreementiegeived a $10 million upfront fee from
Daiichi Sankyo in November 2011.

CORPORATE PARTNERSHIPS
Daiichi Sankyo Co., Ltd.
Tivantinib Agreement

On December 18, 2008, we entered into a licensdgwelopment and co-commercialization agreemertit éiichi Sankyo under which the two
companies will collaborate to conduct researchmjcdil trials and the commercialization of tivantinn human cancer indications in the U.S., Europe,
South America and the rest of the world, excludlagan, China (including Hong Kong), South Korea &aaidvan, where Kyowa Hakko Kirin has
exclusive rights for development and commercialimatOn a combined basis, our agreements with BiaBankyo and Kyowa Hakko Kirin (see
Kyowa Hakko Kirin Co., Ltd. below), include totapfront payments of $90 million and provide for tatpfront and potential milestone payments in
excess of $750 million offset by our share of D@iiankyo Phase 3 tivantinib costs.

Our agreement with Daiichi Sankyo provides for @ $i@illion cash upfront payment from Daiichi Sankgaus, which we received in December
2008. In addition, it includes an additional $56illion in development and sales milestone paymerite. dosing of the first patient in a Phase 3
clinical trial of tivantinib in NSCLC, announced danuary 2011, triggered the payment of a $25anilllevelopment milestone from Daiichi Sankyo
that was received in February 2011. We and Daeikyo will codevelop and share equally the costs of Phase Plaaske 3 clinical studies, with ¢
share of Phase 3 costs payable solely from milesdoid royalty payments from Daiichi Sankyo. Futaiestone and royalty payments, if any, will be
offset by our share of the Phase 3 costs incuryedaiichi Sankyo. As of December 31, 2012 our portdf these costs was $38.8 million. Daiichi
Sankyo has the right to offset future milestone any@lty payments by this amount. On January 3132®e announced that the first patient had been
enrolled
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in the pivotal Phase 3 METIV trial of tivantinibngtling us to a $15 million milestone. We will naceive any net cash proceeds from this milesas

it will be netted against our cumulative share g 3 collaboration costs in excess of milestoesived of $38.8 million at December 31, 2012.
Upon commercialization, we will receive tiered dta:Higit royalties from Daiichi Sankyo on net satégivantinib commensurate with the magnitude
of the transaction. We retain the option to pgptté in the commercialization of tivantinib in theS.

The duration and termination of the agreemeneis tb future events. Unless earlier terminatedtdd®each, insolvency or upon 90 days notice if
prior to Phase 3 clinical trials or 180 days notfaen or after the beginning of Phase 3 clinic&lls by Daiichi Sankyo, the agreement shall cargin
until the later of (i) such time as Daiichi Sankgmo longer developing at least one licensed pbdu(ii) if Daiichi Sankyo has commercialized a
licensed product or products, such time as allltpyarms for all licensed products have ended. Myalty term, on a country-by country basis for a
product, ends as of the later of (i) the expiratiéthe last valid claim under a patent covering tanufacture, use, or sale of a licensed produdl) @
certain number of years from the date of the coroiaksale of the licensed product in such cour



We believe this alliance with Daiichi Sankyo wilp realize the therapeutic potential of tivantiaitd define its utility as monotherapy and as part
of combination therapy in multiple cancer indicasolt also may allow us to establish a foundingioercial presence in the U.S. that will
complement Daiichi Sankyo’s primary commercialieateffort for tivantinib.

On October 2, 2012, we and Daiichi Sankyo annoutitatthe independent Data Monitoring CommitteéhefPhase 3 MARQUEE trial in non-
squamous cell NSCLC recommended the study be discenl early following a planned interim analysigien they concluded that the study would
not meet its primary endpoint of improved overalisval. Following this decision and the initiatiofi patient enroliment in the Phase 3 METIV tria
January 2013, HCC has emerged as the most advamdieation for tivantinib under our alliance withaiichi Sankyo, which remains in effect.

Kinase Inhibitor Discovery Agreeme

In November 2012, we completed our research calitom with Daiichi Sankyo under an agreement euténto in 2008 that was focused on
applications of our proprietary AKI™ technology and know-how for the discovery of thenatic compounds that selectively inhibit certaindses.
Within the scope of this collaboration, we haveniifeed a development candidate for one target.

The agreement provides for a $15 million upfrontrpant, which we received in November 2008, resesngport for the first two years of the
collaboration (which was extended for an additidmad years in 2010 and terminated in November 20i®@nsing fees for compounds discovered
result of this research, milestone payments reletetinical development, regulatory review ancesabind royalty payments. We retain the option to
co-commercialize licensed products developed utideiagreement in the U.S.

The duration and termination of the agreemeneis tb future events. Unless earlier terminatedtdumeach, insolvency or upon 90 days notice by
Daiichi Sankyo, the agreement terminates on thee taft(i) the expiration of the research collabmmaperiod, or (ii) various periods specified ireth
agreement for development and commercializatigorofiucts. If Daiichi Sankyo has commercializedcatised product or products, the agreemen
continue in force until such time as all royaltynts for all licensed products have ended. The tgyatm, on a country-by country basis for a prdduc
ends as of the later of (i) the expiration of thst lvalid claim under a patent covering the martufac use, or sale of a licensed product or (dgdain
number of years from the date of the commercia efthe licensed product in such country.

In May 2009 we entered into an agreement with Daiankyo related to potential future milestoned aoyalties for our AKIPM collaboration,
under which we could receive up to a total of $&6hion in upfront, potential development and sateitestone payments for each product selected for
clinical development. Upon commercialization ofaehsed product, we would also receive tiered, tedlgit royalties on its net sales.

On November 10, 2011, we and Daiichi Sankyo annedtice execution of a license agreement for theldpment of a new AKT inhibitor, ARQ
092, the first compound to emerge from the commam&IP ™ collaboration. The license agreement provides ekedurights to Daiichi Sankyo for
the development,
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manufacturing and marketing of ARQ 092 on a worltevbasis. Under this agreement, we received a $liomupfront fee from Daiichi Sankyo in
November 2011, and since then we have receivedosufgp an ongoing Phase 1 trial with this compat

Kyowa Hakko Kirin Co., Ltd.

On April 27, 2007, we announced an exclusive lieemgreement with Kyowa Hakko Kirin to develop anthemercialize tivantinib in Japan and
parts of Asia. The agreement includes $123 miliioapfront and potential development milestone pagts from Kyowa Hakko Kirin to ArQule,
including $30 million in upfront licensing paymerttgt we received in 2007.

In addition to the upfront and possible developraerd regulatory milestone payments totaling $128anj the Company will be eligible for
future milestone payments based on the achieveofi@etrtain levels of net sales. The Company witbignize the payments, if any, as revenue in
accordance with its revenue recognition policies.oADecember 31, 2012, the Company has not rezedriny revenue from these sales milestone
payments, and there can be no assurance that dwslo in the future.

The duration and termination of the agreementis tb future events. Unless earlier terminatedtdd®each, insolvency or upon 90 days notice by
Kyowa Hakko Kirin, the agreement terminates ondate that the last royalty term expires in all doies in the territory. The royalty term ends as of
the later of (i) the expiration of the last pendpagent application or expiration of the patenthi@ country covering the manufacture, use, or cide
licensed product or (ii) a certain number of ydews the date of the commercial launch in such éguof such license product.

Upon commercialization, ArQule will receive tieregyalties in the mid-teen to low-twenty percentgarfirom Kyowa Hakko Kirin on net sales of
tivantinib. Kyowa Hakko Kirin will be responsibleff clinical development costs and commercializatibthe compound in the Asian territory,
consisting of Japan, China (including Hong Kong)uth Korea and Taiwan.

In February 2008, we received a $3 million milestmayment from Kyowa Hakko Kirin marking their iation of a Phase 1, dose escalation trial
in Japan with tivantinib. This payment was madeaurite terms of the exclusive license agreememidest the two companies.

In September 2010, we received a $5 million milestpayment from Kyowa Hakko Kirin marking theirtiation of a Phase 2, single agent t



with tivantinib in gastric cancer. The primary otfjee of this trial was to determine disease cdntite, defined as a combination of objective
responses and stable disease. Secondary objectbheded tumor response, progression-free sundwdl overall survival. Approximately 30 patients
were enrolled at clinical trial sites in Japan &udea.

On August 9, 2011, Kyowa Hakko Kirin announceddbsing of the first patient in its Phase 3 ATTENN®ial of tivantinib in combination with
erlotinib in non-squamous NSCLC patients with wilfge EGFR, conducted in Japan, South Korea anddraiidosing of this patient triggered a
milestone payment of $10 million to us from Kyowakko Kirin, which we received in August 2011.

On October 30, 2012, we reported that we had bdemied by Kyowa Hakko Kirin that it will permanénsuspend enrollment in the
ATTENTION trial following the recommendation of amlependent Safety Review Committee in Japan #feereporting of cases of interstitial lung
disease in the study as a drug-related adversé. évenour understanding that patients who weneked in the ATTENTION trial at the time of the
safety finding can continue to receive treatmerthwhe combination of tivantinib and erlotinib up@guest from the patient and investigator and afte
providing new informed consent. The terms of ouanitinib licensing agreement with Kyowa Hakko Kiramain in effect following this recent
development. Data from the trial are expectedt|m 2013 or early 2014.

BUSINESS STRATEGY

Our strategy is to build a fully integrated, comniakstage biotechnology company that discoverselbgs, manufactures, markets and sells safe,
innovative, and effective small molecule drugsyently in the field of oncology. Specifically, wetend to accomplish this through the following
activities:

» implementation of a clinical development prograrmoas multiple tumor types with our lead productdidate, tivantinib, as monotherapy anc
combination with other targeted therapies or cytimt@gents
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» continued refinement and prioritization of our @&l program with tivantinib based on our expandingwledge of MET inhibition, the
mechanism of action of tivantinib, and emergingadadm clinical trials:

* application of our proprietary AKIPM drug discovery technology to discover novel drugdisease indications for which we believe we can
develop products with advantages over current glieseor where no current therapy exi:

 evaluation of our proprietary library of compourgimerated in the course of our previous chemigtryiges business to identify potential
candidates for clinical developme

» ongoing portfolio prioritization to select our mggbmising product candidates for further developtnthereby focusing our financial
investment in areas of greatest potential retuitigating overall development risk and maximizingniet opportunities

 pursuit of partnerships or alliances with pharmécaliand biotechnology companies to offset spegdi@lance risk, and gain expertise;
¢ maintenance and expansion of our portfolio of pateinow-how and trade secrets; and

» commercialization or co-commercialization of ouugls in the U.S.

2013 Operational Goals

During 2013, we plan to pursue the clinical deveiept of our product candidates and to advance isaodery activities in the following ways:
Tivantinib / MET Program

Initiate and achieve timely progress in patienoénrent in the Phase 3 METIV trial in HCC;

» complete patient enroliment in the Phase 2 KRAS &nd conduct data analysis;

» complete and present final data analyses from tlzsé3 MARQUEE trial with tivantinib and erlotinib NSCLC;

» complete and present final data analyses from fasé2 trial with tivantinib, irinotecan and cetagb in CRC

« complete evaluation of clinical data with tivantirdnd sorafenib to determine potential further tigwment plans in HCC; and

» support ongoing clinical trials and pre-clinicaldies of tivantinib under the National Cancer luséi/Cancer Therapy Evaluation Program
sponsorship

ARQ 087 / FGFR Prograt



* recruit patients in the ongoing Phase 1 trial imeely fashion.

ARQ 092 / AKT Prograr

e complete patient enrollment in the ongoing Phas&ll
Discovery

* explore potential new AKIPM collaborations that apply the capabilities of thlistform toward validated kinase targets in oncglogother
therapeutic area

» complete screening of our proprietary library ofngmunds to identify potential candidates directaudeard defined therapeutic targe
Development and Commercialization Strategy
Our development and commercialization strategyuishes the following components:

Grow organically and through business developm@fg.plan to grow both organically and through busingevelopment activities that take
advantage of our product and technology assetar@rgrowth will
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be based on our advancement of internally defimedyzxt candidates from pre-clinical through clinidavelopment. These candidates will be based
upon scientific platforms within the Company ancedted toward targets with validated roles in omeog processes and potentially in other
therapeutic areas. Their design will be informedbycombined expertise in chemistry and cancdogjothat we believe differentiates us from many
of our competitors.

Simultaneously, we will consider a broad rangeusibess development activities potentially encorsipgsproduct and technology acquisitions,
licensing agreements and corporate combinatiorismbald help expand the overall scope of produgetioment and potentially accelerate the
implementation of a commercialization infrastruetusuch activities offer the opportunity to levexdlge capabilities of a potential partner with
resources complementary to ours in drug discovedydevelopment. We may also continue to investéhnology and personnel to enhance or expanc
our capabilities in drug discovery.

Focus on cancer, a market with a large unmet n€aghcer is the second most common cause of de#tte 1d.S. In 2012, approximately 571,000
cancer-related deaths were projected to occur d@hahillion new cases of cancer were projected tdibgnosed in the U.S. Demographic trends and
improved screening are expected to increase theofatancer diagnoses, as 78 percent of canceus iocthe over-55 year old population.

Medical therapy for cancer has historically inclddeirgery, cytotoxic (poisonous to cells) chematpgrand radiation. While chemotherapies have
evolved, many are still harmful to all rapidly dimg cells. More recently, a number of alternativerapies that are target-specific have been
introduced. We believe that targeted approach&g#ting cancer, such as those we are pursuing, thevpotential to be more selective for cancds
than traditional chemotherapies.

Cancer compounds are eligible for potential ace¢éer regulatory approval, and we will pursue oppdaties for such approval as appropriate.
Once on the market, with supportive data the ageatsbe approved for additional indications.

Our most advanced indication, HCC, represents miane 80 percent of primary liver cancers. Accordimghe Journal of Hepatology, liver cancer
worldwide accounts for seven percent of all candsrhe sixth most common cancer with 749,000 oases, and is the third leading cause of cancer-
related death with 692,000 cases. The American &#aciety has estimated that more than 20,000 ¢aecer-related deaths occurred and that more
than 28,000 new cases of liver cancer were diaghiosthe U.S. during 2012. Eastern Asia has thbdsgincidence and mortality rates from the
disease.

Utilize our AKIP™(discovery technologyVe have discovered a novel binding mode of tivalntia its target, the MET receptor kinase. We have
completed initial research in the human kinome $tsiimg of 518 human kinase genes) and identifi@ilar binding sites in approximately 270
kinases, which has led to the establishment of ARIPWe believe we have within this platform the caligtto design novel kinase inhibitors with a
non-ATP competitive mechanism of action. We will seefund and to expand our proprietary drug discoydayform through additional collaborati
research programs as well as through our own iateliscovery and development activities in multitfflerapeutic areas.

Benefit from the resources and strengths of collatows. In April 2007, we announced that we entered int@eclusive license agreement with
Kyowa Hakko Kirin to develop and commercialize titiaib in Japan and parts of Asia, and in Noveni#f8, we entered into a strategic relationship
with Daiichi Sankyo to develop and commercializatitinib in those areas of the world not coveredhgyKyowa Hakko Kirin agreement. We benefit
from the resources and expertise of these partaedsye intend to pursue future partnership arnareges as appropriate when the resources and
capabilities of a potential partner complementsitengths in drug discovery and developm



PATENTS AND PROPRIETARY RIGHTS

We rely principally on patent and trade secretgution for our intellectual property, both in theSJand other countries. While many patent
applications have been filed in the U.S., the EaeopUnion (“E.U.”) and other foreign countries widispect to our drug candidates, many of these
have not yet been issued or allowed. The pateriti@us of companies in the biotechnology industng ghe pharmaceutical industry are highly
uncertain and involve complex legal and factualstjoes. Therefore, we cannot predict the breadth of
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claims, if any, that may be allowed under any af patent applications, or the enforceability of afiyur issued patents.

Patents extend for varying periods according tadéite of patent filing or grant and the legal tehpatents in the various countries where patent
protection is obtained. The actual protection aféat by a patent, which can vary from country tontoy depends on the type of patent, the scopes
coverage and the availability of legal remediethncountry.

As and when needed to support our current or fuesearch and development programs, we may fromtinime obtain rights under patents and
other intellectual property owned by other partle®ugh permanent or limited duration licensesssignments of relevant intellectual property. These
may include exclusive and nonexclusive licensesifnoedical and academic institutions, and indusityaes as well as generally available comme
licenses. For our current clinical and researcly@nms, we are not a party to any material intell@igproperty agreement under which we could lose
access to a technology necessary to continue msaad development of our products if we faileéutéll our obligations thereunder. We anticipate
that we will continue to seek intellectual propeithts from external sources where the applicédatenology complements our research and
development efforts.

For our MET program, we have two issued patentkenJ.S. covering the composition of matter oftithaib. The U.S. Patent and Trademark
Office has determined that the term of the injiatent will be adjusted beyond its normal expiratiate of February 2026 to March 2029 (and in
addition, there is the possibility of a patent temxtension based upon regulatory review) and therskpatent will be adjusted beyond its normal
expiration date of February 2026 to December 2026 have issued patents from the Republic of KdteaRepublic of Singapore, Australia, the
People’s Republic of China, the E.U., Japan, Istdekico, New Zealand, Philippines, Russia and Bddtica for composition of matter covering
tivantinib. We understand that these patents wplie in February 2026. We also have pending UEESJ, and other foreign applications covering the
composition of matter and pharmaceutical compassticontaining this compound, as well as its tharapeses in the treatment of cancer and other
diseases. Furthermore, we have an issued patth l0.S. relating to the preparation of an interiadin the synthesis of tivantinib, which expines
December 2020.

With respect to the lead compounds in our Eg5, BRA& FGFR programs, we have issued patents andhggoatent applications in the U.S., the
E.U. and other foreign jurisdictions covering corsition of matter and pharmaceutical compositionthefe compounds as well as their therapeutic
uses in the treatment of cancer and other diseBaabermore, through the application of our AKNPdiscovery platform to the discovery of small
molecule kinase inhibitors, we have filed numeroosiposition of matter patent applications in vasicountries.

ARQ 761 is the current lead compound in our E2FRdgFRam and we have an issued patent in the U.®ritmythe composition of matter of this
compound, pharmaceutical compositions containirggdbmpound, and the therapeutic uses of this camghan the treatment of cancer. The U.S.
Patent and Trademark Office has determined thattine of the patent will be adjusted beyond itsnmairexpiration date of April 2028 to December
2028. We also have an issued patent in Australraring the composition of matter of this compouadditional issued patents in the U.S. for the
E2F-1 Program have expiration dates which range eptember 2021 to September 2029.

In an effort to maintain the confidentiality and msvship of our trade secrets and proprietary in&iiom, we require all of our employees and
consultants to sign confidentiality agreements. Byges and consultants involved in scientific aachhical endeavors also sign invention assignment
agreements. We intend these confidentiality anijas®ent agreements to protect our proprietary métion by controlling the disclosure and use of
technology to which we have rights. These agreesnagb provide that we will own all the proprietéeghnology developed at ArQule or developed
using our resources.

“ArQule”, the ArQule logo, and “AKIPM ™ are trademarks of ArQule that are registerechanWnited States and other jurisdictions with
applications pending in approximately 20 countries.

COMPETITION

The pharmaceutical and biotechnology industrieshagily competitive. We face intense competitioonfrorganizations such as large
pharmaceutical companies, biotechnology compamédsaaademic and research organizations. The magnmceutical and biotechnology
organizations competing with us have
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greater capital resources, larger overall reseamchdevelopment staff and facilities and considgratore experience in drug development and
commercialization. Consequently, we face competitn several fronts, including:

» competition for collaborators and investors;
e recruitment and retention of highly qualified s¢iBo and management personnel;
« competition for qualified subjects for our clinicstlidies of our drug candidates, which may resulbmger and more costly clinical tria

» with respect to our cancer drug development progratier companies have potential drugs in preeirand clinical trials that may result
effective, commercially successful treatments figr $ame cancers we targ

» advancement of a discovery and development pastédlant-cancer candidates that are selective for canclsramdl applicable across a brc
spectrum of cancer types; a

* securing partners to co-develop and advance ogr candidates through later-stage clinical triald bayond.

In the area of small molecule anti-cancer therapguive have identified a number of companies llaae clinical development programs and
focused research and development in small moleppeoaches to cancer, including: Ariad Pharmacalgtitnc., Array BioPharma Inc., Astex
Therapeutics, Cell Therapeutics, Inc., Curis, I@ytokinetics, Inc., Deciphera Pharmaceuticals likise Inc., Evotec AG, GlaxoSmithKline, FORMA
Therapeutics, Incyte Corporation, Infinity Pharmaezals, Inc., Onyx Pharmaceuticals, Inc., OSI Rfseuticals, Inc., Roche and Telik, Inc.

In addition, with respect to tivantinib, we are aevaf a number of companies that are or may beupugsa number of different approaches to MET
inhibition, including Amgen Inc., AstraZeneca/Hugn MediPharma, AVEO Pharmaceuticals, Inc., BFistgers Squibb Company, Cephalon, Inc.,
Compugen Ltd., Exelixis, Inc., GlaxoSmithKline, dslon & Johnson, Merck & Co., Inc., Methylgene Iifizer, Roche, Takeda and Supergen Inc.
With respect to HCC, our lead indication, we are@eaof a number of companies with products undeeldgment, including Eisai Co., Abbott, Eli
Lilly, Bayer, and 4SC AG. There can be no assuraimaeour competitors will not develop more effeetor more affordable products or technology or
achieve earlier product development and commerzeidin than ArQule, thus rendering our technologied/or products obsolete, uncompetitive or
uneconomical.

GOVERNMENT REGULATIONS

Virtually all pharmaceutical and biotechnology puots that our collaborative partners or we develdbrequire regulatory approval by
governmental agencies prior to commercializatidre Mature and the extent to which these regulatpp$y vary depending on the nature of the
products. In particular, human pharmaceutical petglare subject to rigorous preclinical and clihteating and other approval procedures by the FDA
or the applicable regulatory authorities in cowegrother than the U.S. Various federal and, in sceses, state statutes and regulations also govern
influence the manufacturing, safety, labeling, at@r, record keeping and marketing of these prodiuibes process of obtaining these approvals and the
subsequent compliance with appropriate statutesegudations are time consuming and require subiataasources, and the outcome of these
regulatory activities is uncertain.

Generally, in order to gain marketing authorizatiartompany first must conduct preclinical studinethe laboratory and in animal models to gain
preliminary information on a compound’s activitydato identify potential safety problems. Preclihistudies must be conducted in accordance with
applicable regulations of the relevant regulatartharity (e.g. FDA in the U.S., European Medicidegency (“EMA”) in E.U.). The results of these
studies are submitted as a part of an IND appticatiith the FDA or a Clinical Trial Application (“CA”) application with the appropriate regulatory
authority outside of the United States. The regujaagency involved must review the data in theliappon before human clinical trials of an
investigational drug can commence. If the regulatarthority does not object, a drug developer aagirbclinical trials after expiration of a specdfie
statutory period following submission of the apation. Notwithstanding that the regulatory authodid not respond during the thirty-day, post-
submission review
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period, the regulatory authority may at any timevaluate the adequacy of the application and reqdditional information about any aspect of the
IND or CTA application and corresponding clinicaht, e.g. preclinical testing, drug formulationdamanufacture, dosing regimens and drug
administration or potential safety risks.

In order to eventually commercialize any produats,or our collaborator will be required to initistad oversee clinical studies under an IND or
CTA to demonstrate the safety and efficacy thahaeessary to obtain marketing approval. Clinidalg are normally done in three phases and
generally take several years, but may take lorgeoinplete. Furthermore, a regulatory authority sagpend clinical trials at any time if it believes
that the subjects participating in trials are bedmgosed to unacceptable risks or if the regulaaoithority finds deficiencies in the conduct of thals
or other problems with our product under developmen

After completion of clinical trials of a new producegulatory marketing approval must be obtaitithe product is classified as a new
pharmaceutical, our collaborator or we will be riegd to file a New Drug Application (“NDA”) or Marding Authorization Application (“MAA”),and
receive approval before commercial marketing ofdhey. The marketing application contains, amormgiothings, the results of the non-clinical and
clinical testing of the drug. Marketing applicatiosubmitted to any regulatory authority can takesss years to obtain approval and the regula



authority is not obligated to grant approval at Alregulatory agency can condition marketing applt@n the conduct of costly post-marketing
follow-up studies or can place restrictions onghke or marketing of the drug in order to managiesti

Even if regulatory clearances are obtained, a nbedikgroduct is subject to continual review and emgoegulatory obligations. If and when a
regulatory authority approves any of our or outatmbrators’ products under development, the matufa@nd marketing of these products will be
subject to continuing regulation, including comptia with current Good Manufacturing Practices (“c&) adverse event reporting requirements and
prohibitions on promoting a product for unapprouseés or making false or misleading statements @goms with respect to a drug in advertising or
promotion. Later discovery of previously unknowolplems or failure to comply with the applicableukgory requirements may result in restrictions
on the marketing of a product or withdrawal of flieduct from the market as well as possible civiteminal sanctions. Various federal and, in some
cases, state statutes and regulations also govarfiumnce the manufacturing, safety, labelingrage, record keeping and marketing of
pharmaceutical products.

For marketing outside the U.S., we or our partmélishe subject to foreign regulatory requiremegtserning human clinical trials, marketing
approval and post-marketing activities for pharnugéical products and biologics. The requirementsegoing the conduct of clinical trials, product
licensing, pricing and reimbursement vary widelynfrcountry to country.

EMPLOYEES

As of January 24, 2013, we employed 97 people ild¥o, Massachusetts. Of that total, 72 are engegessearch and development and 25 in
general and administration, and 35 hold PhDs, 8 MiDs and 13 hold Masters Degrees in the sciences.

CERTAIN OTHER INFORMATION

We file annual, quarterly and current reports, gretatements and other information with the Seiasritnd Exchange Commission (“SEC”). You
may read and copy any document we file at the SIPGHdic Reference Room at 100 F Street, N.E., Wiaggbh D.C. 20549. Please call the SEC at 1-
800-SEC-0330 for further information on the pulskéerence room. The SEC maintains a websitgtpt//www.sec.gothat contains reports, proxy &
information statements and other information conicey filers. We also maintain a web sitehétp://www.arqule.conthat provides additional
information about our company and links to docursewg file with the SEC. The Company’s Corporate &onance Guidelines; the charters of the
Audit Committee, the Compensation, Nominating amdé&nance Committee, and the Science Committeetren@ode of Conduct are also available
on the Company’s website.
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EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

Set forth below is certain information regarding ourrent executive officers, including their resipée ages as of February 1, 2013.

NAME AGE POSITION
Paolo Pucci 51 Chief Executive Officer and a Director
Peter S. Lawrenc 49 President and Chief Operating Offic
Dr. Brian Schwart: 51 Chief Medical Officel

Paolo Pucci

Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Pucci joined ArQule as Chief Executive Offi@ard a member of the board of directors in June 2@08 Bayer A.G., where he served as
senior vice president and president in charge®Btliyer-Schering Pharmaceuticals Global Oncolog@eBfized Therapeutics Business Units.
Previously Mr. Pucci was senior vice president af®& Pharmaceuticals Global Specialty Business, gresident of U.S. Pharmaceutical Operations
and a member of the Bayer Pharmaceuticals Globabement Committee. At Bayer, Mr. Pucci was invdlirea broad range of activities related to
Nexavar® (sorafenib), an oral multiple kinase inhibitortteat liver and kidney cancers. These activitieduded clinical development, regulatory
review, corporate alliance management, productdaamd marketing. Mr. Pucci joined Bayer as heaitsdfalian Pharmaceutical operations in 2001.
Prior to Bayer, Mr. Pucci held positions of incriegsresponsibility with Eli Lilly, culminating witthis appointment as managing director, Eli Lilly
Sweden AB. At Lilly, his responsibilities includegerations, sales, marketing and strategic plan@mgNovember 1, 2011, Mr. Pucci was appointed
to the Board of Directors of Dyax Corporation. Nucci holds an MBA from the University of Chicagudas a graduate of the Universifaégli Studi
Di Napoli in Naples, Italy.

Peter S. Lawrence
President and Chief Operating Officer

Mr. Lawrence joined ArQule as Executive Vice Presidand Chief Business Officer in April 2006. Hesweamed Chief Operating Officer in
October 2007 and President in April 2008. Previphs was at Pod Venture Partners, an internatimraure capital firm which he dounded in 200
and where he most recently served as general paktaéhelped drive the strategic growth of thanfiincluding deal sourcing and structuring,
syndication and business expansion activities.iBusly, Mr. Lawrence was an attorney and partndfiatz, Levin, Cohn, Ferris Glovsky and Popeo,
P.C., from 1991 to 2001. At Mintz Levin, he senadexternal corporate counsel to public and prigatepanies, managed a transactional |



practice and provided strategic guidance to cligmsugh periods of rapid growth and transformatieegporate events. His public financing
experiences include the initial public offering amgmerous financings for America Online Inc. (AO&3, well as public financings for Biogen, Human
Genome Sciences, Hybridon and many other companesiorked on numerous mergers and acquisitioofyding Roche/Compuchem, AOL/Time
Warner, Steinway Piano, DEC/Intel, and Mitotix/GB®©tech. Mr. Lawrence worked at Gaston & Snow frb®89 to 1991 in the firm’s Corporate
Law Department. He holds a Bachelor’'s degree framhérst College and a J.D. from Boston Universitiicdt of Law.

Brian Schwartz, M.D.
Chief Medical Officer

Dr. Schwartz joined ArQule in July 2008 from ZiopimaOncology, Inc., where as Senior Vice presidelittical and regulatory affairs, and Chief
Medical Officer he built and led clinical, regulagpand quality assurance departments responsibké development of new cancer drugs. Prior to
Ziopharm, Dr. Schwartz held a number of positionBayer Healthcare. His experience in oncologydraompassed the clinical development of n
cytostatic, cytotoxic and immunological agentsBatyer, Dr. Schwartz was a key physician responsdsi¢éhe global clinical development of Nexavar
® (sorafenib) and led the clinical team througluecgssful Phase 3 trial in renal cell cancer, lggth FDA approval. He has extensive regulatory
experience working with the FDA’s Oncology Divisidhe European Medicines Agency (EMA), and numeiabsr health authorities. Dr. Schwartz
has also been responsible for U.S. clinical andleggry
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activities, including Phase 4 studies and inteomstiwith the National Cancer Institute and otherobogy cooperative groups. Dr. Schwartz received
his medical degree from the University of PretoBauth Africa, practiced medicine, and worked atltmiversity of Toronto prior to his career in
industry.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

RISKS RELATED TO OUR INDUSTRY AND BUSINESS STRATEGY
Development of our products is at an early stagelame may not successfully develop a drug candidhtg becomes a commercially viable dru

The discovery and development of drugs is inheyargky and involves a high rate of failure. Diseoy and development of commercial drugs are
relatively new to us. Our drug candidates and desgarch programs are in early stages and redgirdicant, timeconsuming and costly research .
development, testing and regulatory approvals.

Our leading clinical-stage product candidate, tiirab, is based on inhibition of the c-Met receptynosine kinase. Our other proprietary clinical-
stage products, ARQ 087, ARQ 621 and ARQ 736 asegded to inhibit the fibroblast growth factor rptar, the Eg5 kinesin motor protein, and the
RAF kinases, respectively. ARQ 092 (licensed tadbaiSankyo) is designed to inhibit the AKT kina€aur approaches and scientific platforms may
not lead to the development of approvable or matketdrugs.

In addition to our clinical-stage programs, we hauvenited number of pre-clinical and research-stpgbgrams in our pipeline. Our viability as a
company depends, in part, on our ability to corgitmicreate drug candidates for ourselves andallaborators. Numerous significant factors will
affect the success of our drug research and developefforts, including the biology and chemistoynplexity involved, availability of appropriate
technologies, the uncertainty of the scientificqaes and the capabilities and performance of opt@mes. Our research and development capabilities
may not be adequate to develop additional, viahlg dandidates.

We must show the safety and efficacy of our prodoahdidates through expensive, time consuming pirachl testing and clinical trials, the results
of which are uncertain and governed by exacting tegtions.

Our product candidates are in clinical or prechhigtages of development and may not prove to fiieisntly safe or effective in more advanced
human clinical trials. We will need to conduct endive further testing of all of our product candeda expend significant additional resources and
possibly partner emerging programs to realize coroia@evalue from any of our product candidates.

Before obtaining regulatory approvals for the comuia sale of our products, we and our collaboepartners must demonstrate through
preclinical studies (laboratory or animal testiagy clinical trials (human testing) that our pragabproducts are safe and effective for use in each
target indication. This testing is expensive anteticonsuming, and failure can occur at any stdgee terminate a preclinical or clinical progranme w
will have expended resources in an effort that moll provide a return on our investment and miskedpportunity to have allocated those resoumm
potentially more productive uses.

Clinical trials must meet FDA and foreign regulgtoequirements. We have limited experience in desigy conducting and managing the
preclinical studies and clinical trials necessargltain regulatory approval for our product caatiéd in any country. We or our collaborative pagne
may encounter problems in clinical trials that neayse us or the FDA or foreign regulatory ageniietelay, suspend or terminate our clinical tral
any phase. These problems could include our inaldimanufacture or obtain sufficient quantitiésmaterials produced in accordance with current
Good Manufacturing Practice, or cGMP, for use indinical trials, conduct clinical trials at ourgderred sites, enroll a sufficient number of pattie
for our clinical trials at one or more sites, ogieor successfully complete clinical trials inimely fashion, if at all. Furthermore, we, the FRA
foreign regulatory agencies may suspend clinidalstof our product candidates at any time if weéhay believe the subjects participating in thelsri
are being exposed to unacceptable health risksesult of adverse events occurring in our triale we or they find deficiencies in the clinicaia



process or conduct of the investigation.

Acceptable results from initial preclinical studesd clinical trials of products under developmenet not necessarily indicative of results that will
be obtained from subsequent or more extensiveipiesl studies
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and clinical testing in humans. Clinical trials magt demonstrate sufficient safety and efficacglitain the required regulatory approvals or reisult
marketable products. Failure to adequately dematesthe safety and efficacy of a product under ldgveent will delay and could prevent its
regulatory approval.

A number of companies in the pharmaceutical ingustcluding biotechnology companies, have suffesigahificant setbacks in advanced clinical
trials, even after generating promising resultearlier trials.

Although it is part of our strategy to pursue aialidevelopment to take advantage of availablelaated regulatory approval processes, there
guarantee that our product candidates will showethdence predictive of clinical benefit necesdargualify for such regulatory treatment.

Delays in clinical testing could result in increadecosts to us and delay our ability to obtain regtdry approval and commercialize our produ
candidates.

Clinical trials typically take several years to quate. The duration and cost of clinical trialslw#ry greatly depending on the nature, complexity,
and intended use of the drug being tested. Evifreifesults of our clinical trials are favorableg tlinical trials of tivantinib and other product
candidates will continue for several years and g significantly longer than expected to complBtelays in the commencement or completion of
clinical testing for tivantinib or pre-clinical atinical testing for any of our other product catetes could significantly affect our product deyatent
costs and business plan. We have experienced aemwhblinical trial-related delays and obstaclest increase the risk of tivantinib being approved
for the indications that are the focus of thesadri

On October 2, 2012, we and Daiichi Sankyo annoutitatithe independent Data Monitoring CommitteeM©") of the Phase 3 MARQUEE_( M
et inhibitor ARQ197 plus Elotinib vs. Erlotinib plus placebo in NSCLC) trial in non-squamsccell NSCLC recommended the study be discontinued
early following a planned interim analysis, wheaytttoncluded that the study would not meet its primendpoint of improved OS. Although the
interim analysis showed a statistically significanprovement in PFS in the intent-to-treat (ITT)pptation, this benefit did not carry over to OS. We
and Daiichi Sankyo have provided information regagdhe study discontinuation to health authorides those clinical investigators participating in
studies of tivantinib. Data from this study will peesented at an upcoming peer review forum. Oalyais of these data will inform our decisions
regarding potential further development in NSCLGnocertain biomarker-defined sub-groups withirstlisease population. In NSCLC, we are also
conducting a Phase 2, randomized trial of tivahtamd erlotinib in patients with a mutated forntled KRAS gene. We cannot predict if the data from
either of these trials will lead to further testiogapproval of tivantinib for the treatment of NIST

On October 30, 2012, we reported that we had bdemied by Kyowa Hakko Kirin that it will permanénsuspend enrollment in its ongoing
Phase 3 ATTENTION ( Aian_Trial of T ivantinib plus_Erlotinib for N SCLC without EGFR Mutat ioptrial following the recommendation of an
independent Safety Review Committee (“SRC”) in Jagfter the reporting of cases of interstitial ludigease (“ILD”) in the study as a drug-related
adverse event. It is our understanding that patiefio were enrolled in the ATTENTION trial at theé of the safety finding can continue to receive
treatment with the combination of tivantinib antbénib upon request from the patient and investigand after providing new informed consent. [
from the trial is expected in late 2013 or earll)t20The ATTENTION trial is investigating the usetofantinib and erlotinib versus erlotinib and
placebo in second line non-squamous NSCLC patieititsthe wild-type form of the EGFR gene. This ltibeing conducted by Kyowa Hakko Kirin
in Japan, South Korea and Taiwan. We cannot prédiee data from this trial will lead to furtheggting or approval of tivantinib for the treatmeht
NSCLC.

On January 11, 2013, we announced the top-lindtsesiua randomized Phase 2 signal generationdfiivantinib used in combination with
irinotecan and cetuximab in patients with refragtor relapsed colorectal cancer (“CRC”). The td&l not meet its primary endpoint of PFS.
Additional data and analyses from this trial arenpled for presentation at a future medical meebingye cannot predict if these data and analysié
lead to further testing or approval of tivantinlbGCRC.

At any time, a clinical trial can be placed on tatial hold” or temporarily or permanently stopped & variety of reasons, principally for safety
concerns. We may experience humerous unforeseesevgring, or
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as a result of, the clinical trial process thatldalelay or prevent us from receiving regulatorpryal or commercializing our product candidates,
including the following:

 our clinical trials may produce negative or incarsive results, and we may decide, or regulators r@ayire us, to provide addition



information about formulation or manufacture of puoduct candidates or clinical trial design océmduct additional clinical and/or podinical
testing or to abandon progran

* we may experience delays related to reaching agreeom acceptable terms with prospective clinieakarch organizations, or CROs, clinical
investigators and trial sites, the terms of whiah be subject to extensive negotiation and may signjificantly among different CROs, clinical
investigators and trial site

* we may be unable to manufacture or obtain sufftagmntities of a product candidate for use inictihtrials;

« trial results may not meet the level of statistgighificance required by the FDA or other regutatagencies;

¢ enrollment in our clinical trials for our producirididates may be slower than we anticipate, respiti significant delays

* we, or regulators, may suspend or terminate ooiceli trials if the participating patients are lipexposed to unacceptable health risks;

« the effects of our product candidates on patierstg not be the desired therapeutic effects or melydte undesirable side effects or other
characteristics that may delay or preclude regnfapproval or limit their commercial use, if appedl; anc

» the FDA or other regulatory agencies may lack eégpee in evaluating the safety and efficacy of drbgsed on our development platforms,
which could lengthen the regulatory review proc

Completion and duration of clinical trials depermds among other things, our ability to enroll afignt number of patients, which is a function of
many factors, including:

 the incidence among the general population of diseahich contain therapeutic endpoints choseavaluation;
« the eligibility criteria defined in the protocol;

« the size of the patient population required forlygsia of the trial's therapeutic endpoints;

 our ability to recruit clinical trial investigatoend sites with the appropriate competencies apdrence;

e our ability to obtain and maintain patient consgatsl

e competition for patients by clinical trial prograrfies other treatment:

We have reached Special Protocol Assessment (Sité@¢ments with the FDA for the design of the ongdiase 3 METIV trial of tivantinib in
patients with hepatocellular carcinoma and forRhase 3 MARQUEE trial, which has been discontifielldwing an interim analysis. The SPA
process is a procedure by which the FDA providésiaf evaluation and written guidance on the desagd size of proposed protocols that are
intended to form the basis for a New Drug ApplicatiFinal marketing approval depends on the resiiltise trial. The SPA may not be sufficient for
the purpose of obtaining marketing approval foanitinib. Clinical trials may also be delayed oreated as a result of ambiguous or negative interim
results or unforeseen complications in testingaddition, a clinical trial may be suspended or ieated by us, the FDA, the IRB overseeing the
clinical trial at issue, any of our clinical trisites with respect to that site, or other reguiatarthorities due to a number of factors, including

« failure to design appropriate clinical trial protds;

« failure by us, our employees, our CROs or their leyges to conduct the clinical trial in accordamgth all applicable FDA, DEA or other
regulatory requirements or our clinical protoct
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« inspection of the clinical trial operations or triites by the FDA or other regulatory authoritiesulting in the imposition of a clinical hold;
» discovery of serious or unexpected toxicities desffects experienced by study participants oerotimforeseen safety issues;

 lack of adequate funding to continue the clinicall{ including the incurrence of unforeseen cakts to enrollment delays, requirements to
conduct additional trials and studies and increas@enses associated with the services of our GR@®ther third parties;—lack of
effectiveness of any product candidate during céihirials;

« slower than expected rates of subject recruitmedtemroliment rates in clinical trials;

« failure of our CROs or other third-party contrasttw comply with all contractual requirements opé&sform their services in a timely or
acceptable manne

« inability or unwillingness of medical investigatdsfollow our clinical protocols; and



< unfavorable results from -going clinical trials and p-clinical studies

Additionally, changes in applicable regulatory riegments and guidance may occur and we may neaohémd clinical trial protocols to reflect
these changes. Amendments may require us to resabnilinical trial protocols to IRBs for reexaration, which may impact the costs, timing or
successful completion of a clinical trial. If wepexience delays in completion of, or if we term@atny of our clinical trials, the commercial pres{s
for tivantinib and our other product candidates rbayharmed, which may have a material adversetedfeour business, results of operations, finai
condition and prospects.

We have limited clinical development and commeriation experience.

We have limited experience conducting clinicallsriand have never obtained regulatory approvalarigrdrug. We have not completed a Phase 3,
or pivotal, clinical trial, filed an NDA or commaesdized a drug. We have no experience as a comipatimg sale, marketing or distribution of
pharmaceutical products and do not currently has&es and marketing organization. Developing coriakzation capabilities will be expensive and
time-consuming, and could delay any product launch. Vilg not be able to develop a successful commergi@amzation. To the extent we are une
or determine not to acquire these resources irltgymae will be forced to rely on third-party clical investigators, clinical research organizations,
marketing organizations or our collaboration patrees we have done for our Phase 3 non-smallwegdl tancer trial. If we were unable to establish
adequate capabilities independently or with othews drug development and commercialization effoasld fail, and we may be unable to generate
product revenues.

We depend substantially on the successful comptetib Phase 3 clinical trials for our product candades. The positive clinical results obtained for
our product candidates in Phase 2 clinical studiesy not be repeated in Phase 3.

We have experienced significant delays and obstaclthe Phase 3 MARQUEE and ATTENTION trials amdhie Phase 2 CRC trial details of
which are described above, The MARQUEE trial wasalitinued early following a planned interim an@yat the recommendation of an indepen:
Data Monitoring Committee when they concluded thatstudy would not meet its primary endpoint. &#tenrollment in the ATTENTION trial was
permanently suspended following the recommendati@m independent Safety Review Committee after¢perting of cases of interstitial lung
disease. It is our understanding that patients wéa@ enrolled in the ATTENTION trial at the timetbe safety finding can continue to receive
treatment with the combination of tivantinib antb&nib upon request from the patient and investigeand after providing new informed consent.
Phase 2 CRC trial did not meet its primary endpdidditional data from these trials will be presahin the future. We have never completed a Phase
3 clinical trial. Our product candidates are subfedhe risks of failure inherent in pharmaceutievelopment. Before obtaining regulatory approval
for the commercial sale of any product candidateawd our collaborators must successfully compétese 3 clinical trials. Negative or inconclusive
results of a Phase 3 clinical study could causd-iw& to require that we repeat it or conduct addiél clinical studies. Furthermore, while we have
obtained positive safety and efficacy results ifiearitinib during our prior clinical trials, we caoinbe certain that these results will be duplicatben
our product candidates are tested in a larger nupfigatients in our Phase 3 clinical trials.
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If our drug discovery and development programs dat progress as anticipated, our revenue and stodkecould be negatively impacte

We estimate the timing of a variety of precliniadinical, regulatory and other milestones for plgng purposes, including when a drug candide
expected to enter clinical trials, how soon patenill be recruited and enrolled in these trialbew a clinical trial will be completed and when an
application for regulatory approval will be filed/e base our estimates on facts that are currentdyk to us and on a variety of assumptions, many of
which are beyond our control. If we or our colladtors do not achieve milestones when anticipatedwill not receive the corresponding revenue,
our stock price could decline. In addition, oureash and clinical testing may be delayed or abaeddf we or our competitors subsequently discover
other compounds that show improved safety or effic@mpared to our product candidates, which ctodid our ability to generate revenues, caus
to incur additional expense and cause the markes pf our common stock to decline significantly.

RISKS RELATED TO OUR FINANCIAL CONDITION

We have incurred significant losses since our intiep and anticipate that we will incur significantontinued losses for the next several years, and
our future profitability is uncertain.

From our inception in 1993 through December 31220& have incurred cumulative losses of approxilp&420 million. These losses have
resulted principally from the costs of our reseactivities, acquisitions, enhancements to ourrietdgy and clinical trials. In the past we derived
revenue primarily from license and technology tfanfees and payments for compound deliveries &ssacwith our discontinued chemistry services
operations; research and development funding padémuour agreements with collaboration partnerd;tara limited extent, milestone payments.

We expect our expenses to increase significantlyeaspend additional amounts to fund research,ldeweent, clinical testing and
commercialization of our drug candidates. We cutyemave three product candidates in various stafietinical development. As a result, we will
need to generate significant additional revenuestieve profitability.

To attain profitability, we will need to developrital products successfully and market and selitleffectively, either by ourselves or with
collaborators. We have never generated revenuetfiernommercialization of our product candidatesl, there is no guarantee that we will be able to
do so. Even if were to generate product revenudsahieve profitability, we may not be able to ntaim or increase profitability. Because of the
numerous risks and uncertainties associated witldévelopment of drugs, we are unable to predicegtent of any future losses or when we



become profitable, if at all. If we fail to becomefitable, or if we are unable to fund our contirgulosses, we may be unable to continue our
business.

We may need substantial additional funding and dieeglobal capital and credit market conditions ooif other reasons, we may be unable to raise
capital when needed, or on terms favorable to ukjahk could force us to delay, reduce or eliminataradrug discovery, product development and
commercialization activities.

Volatility and disruption in the global capital ancedit markets in recent years have led to agigihg of business credit and investment capital in
the United States and internationally. If globabmeemic and financial market conditions deterioateemain weak for an extended period of time, our
efforts to raise capital will face additional dif€ilties.

Developing drugs, conducting clinical trials, amdranercializing products are expensive. Our futureling requirements will depend on many
factors, including:

« the progress and cost of our ongoing and futuralotative and independent clinical trials and ptiesearch and development activities anc
ability to share such costs of our clinical devetgmt efforts with third partie:

« the costs and timing of obtaining regulatory appisy

« the costs of filing, prosecuting, maintaining, defimg and enforcing any patent applications, claipasents and other intellectual prope
rights;
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« the cost and timing of securing manufacturing céigls for our clinical product candidates and auoercial products, if any;

« the costs and timing of commercializing our prodtantdidates, including establishing or contracforgsales, marketing and distribution
capabilities, if any such candidates receive rdgufaapproval for commercial sale; a

« the costs of any acquisitions of or investmentsusinesses, products and technologies.

We may seek the capital necessary to fund our tpesathrough public or private equity offeringghd financings, or collaboration and licensing
arrangements. To the extent that we raise addltoaptal through the sale of equity or convertibbt securities, our stockholders’ ownership
interests will be diluted and the terms of suctusies may include liquidation or other preferesitieat adversely affect our stockholdeights. Othe:
debt-financing arrangements may require us to gleggtain assets and enter into covenants thatiwestrict certain business activities or our &pili
to incur further indebtedness. If we raise adddidunds through collaboration and licensing areangnts with third parties, we may have to relini
rights to certain product candidates that we migherwise seek to develop or commercialize indegethy, or grant licenses on terms that are not
favorable to us. There can be no assurance tHatieof funds will be available to us when required satisfactory terms, or at all. If we are ueabl
obtain additional funds when needed, we may havelay, reduce the scope of or eliminate some ptleuelopment and commercialization
programs, or obtain funds through other arrangesn@mtunattractive terms, which could prevent usfeuccessfully executing our business strategy.

We have federal and state net operating losses (IK)Gand research and development credit carryforvels which, if we were to become profitable,
could be used to offset/defer federal and stateoime taxes. Such carryforwards may not, under camtaircumstances related to changes in
ownership of our stock, be available to us.

As of December 31, 2012, we had federal NOL, dtdé, and research and development credit carryfatgvaf approximately $265 million, $1
million and $26 million respectively, expiring frog013 to 2032. Such carryforwards could potentiaiyused to offset certain future federal and state
income tax liabilities. Utilization of carryforwasdnay be subject to a substantial annual limitgpiarsuant to Sections 382 and 383 of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, as well as sstal@ provisions due to ownership changes that bacurred previously or that could occur in
the future. In general, an ownership change, dsel#by Section 382, results from transactionsaasing the ownership of certain stockholders or
public groups in the stock of a corporation by mibi@n 50 percentage points over a three-year pafedundertook a detailed study of our NOL and
research and development credit carryforwards tiiv@lanuary 31, 2013 to determine whether such armewe likely to be limited by Section 382. As
a result of this analysis, we currently do notdaedi any Section 382or 383 limitations will signéfitly impact our ability to offset income with
available NOL and research and development cradiyforwards. However, future ownership changeseui@ection 382 may limit our ability to fully
utilize these tax benefits. Any limitation may riso expiration of a portion of the carryforwarlsfore utilization. If we were not able to utilinar
carryforwards, we would be required to use our easburces to pay taxes that would otherwise haea bffset, thereby reducing our liquidity.

RISKS RELATED TO REGULATORY APPROVAL

Our product candidates are subject to a lengthy amttertain regulatory process that may not resuitthe necessary regulatory approvals, which
would adversely affect our ability to commercialipeoducts. We have only limited experience in regtalry affairs.

Our product candidates, as well as the activitts®eiated with their research, development and cencialization, are subject to extensive
regulation by the FDA in the United States and yparable authorities in other countries, for exianigMA in the E.U. These regulations govern or
influence the manufacturing, assessment of beaefitrisk, safety, labeling, storage, records andketimg of these product



Failure to obtain regulatory approval for a prodeamdidate would prevent us from commercializiraf firoduct candidate. We have not applied
for or received regulatory approval to market ahgur product
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candidates in any jurisdiction and have only lidiexperience in preparing and filing the applicasimecessary to gain regulatory approvals. The
process of obtaining regulatory approvals is expensften takes many years, if approval is obtadiaeall, and can vary substantially based upon the
type, complexity and novelty of the product cantiégdanvolved.

The regulatory process requires preclinical testmgl data obtained from preclinical and clinicahaties are susceptible to varying interpretasi
which could delay, limit or prevent regulatory apyal. In addition, the results of later trials nragt confirm the positive results of earlier preai
studies or trials. Delays or rejections may alseheountered based upon changes in regulatoryydoligroduct approval during the period of proc
development and regulatory agency review. Chamgesgulatory approval policy, regulations or stasubr the process for regulatory review during
development or approval phases of our product datel$ may cause delays in the approval or rejeofian application. We have completed certain
Phase 1 and Phase 2 clinical trials of tivantimith have enrolled patients in the Phase 3 METIV ini& CC. We have also completed patient
enrollment in the Phase 3 MARQUEE trial in NSCLQyigh was discontinued following a planned interimalgsis that concluded the study would not
meet its primary endpoint. Patients are also bemfed in the Phase 3 ATTENTION trial by Kyowa Kakirin, enrollment in which was
permanently suspended following the recommendati@n independent Safety Review Committee afterdiperting of cases of ILD in the study as a
drug-related adverse event. It is our understantfiagpatients who were enrolled in the ATTENTIONItat the time of the safety finding can
continue to receive treatment with the combinatibtivantinib and erlotinib upon request from thaipnt and investigator and after providing new
informed consent. We have also conducted or ardumiimg Phase 1 clinical testing of ARQ 087, ARQ6&RQ 736 and ARQ 092. We have never
completed a Phase 3, or pivotal, clinical trial; have we filed or prosecuted the applications s&&®y to gain regulatory approvals.

A company first must conduct preclinical studieshia laboratory and in animal models to gain prelary information on a candidate compound’s
activity and to identify potential safety problenfseclinical studies must be conducted in accorelavith applicable regulations of the relevant
regulatory authority (e.g. the FDA in the Unitea@tss, the EMA in E.U.). The results of these studi® submitted as a part of an IND applicatiom’
the FDA or a CTA application with the appropria¢gulatory authority outside of the United Statdse Tegulatory agency involved must review the
data in the application before human clinical trief an investigational drug can commence. If gwutatory authority does not object, a drug deved
can begin clinical trials after expiration of a sified statutory period following submission of tapplication. Notwithstanding that the regulatory
authority does not respond during the thirty-daystpsubmission review period, the regulatory althonay at any time re-evaluate the adequacy of
the application and require additional informatabout any aspect of the IND or CTA application andesponding clinical trial, e.g. preclinical
testing, drug formulation and manufacture, dosegjmens and drug administration or potential safiety Before a new marketing application can be
filed with the FDA or other regulatory authoritret product candidate must undergo extensive clitrigds. Any clinical trial may fail to produce
results satisfactory to the regulatory authorigpictally for lack of safety or efficacy or for séfeisks. For example, the regulatory authorityldou
determine that the design of a clinical trial iadequate to produce reliable results or convingisglts.

Even if our drug candidates obtain regulatory appal, we and our collaborators will be subject togwing government regulatior

Even if regulatory authorities approve any of owrgdcandidates, the manufacture, marketing ando$aleese drugs will be subject to strict and
ongoing regulation. Compliance with such regulaiaray consume substantial financial and managerasatirces and expose us and our
collaborators to the potential for other adversewnstances. For example, a regulatory authorityptace restrictions on the sale or marketing of a
drug in order to manage the risks identified duiimtial clinical trials or after the drug is oneghmarket. A regulatory authority can condition the
approval for a drug on costly post-marketing follap studies. Based on these studies, if a regylatathority does not believe that the drug
demonstrates a clinical benefit to patients oraeptable safety profile, it could limit the indiimas for which a drug may be sold or revoke thegts
marketing approval. In addition, identificationadrtain side effects either during clinical triatsafter a drug is on the market may result in
reformulation of a drug, additional preclinical atithical trials, labeling changes, terminationooigoing clinical trials or withdrawal of approvainy
of these events could
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delay or prevent us from generating revenue froenctimmercialization of these drugs and cause itw significant additional costs.

Even if we or our collaborators bring products toarket, we may be unable to price our products effeely or obtain adequate reimbursement {
sales of our products, which would have an advee$ict on our revenues

The requirements governing product licensing, pg@nd reimbursement vary widely from country taroy. Some countries require approval of
the sale price of a drug before it can be markdtethany countries, the pricing review period begifter product-licensing approval is granted. As a
result, we may obtain regulatory approval for agdeandidate in a particular country, but then dgesi to price regulations that reduce our profits
from the sale of the product. In some foreign mireicing of prescription pharmaceuticals is sabje continuing government control even after
initial marketing approval. Varying price regulatibetween countries can lead to inconsistent peoessome re-selling by third parties of products
from markets where products are sold at lower prioenarkets where those products are sold at hjgiwes. Any practice of exploiting price
differences between countries could undermine al@ssn markets with higher prices and reduce éfesof our future products, if ar



Additionally, third party payors, such as governinamd private insurance plans, frequently requiraganies to provide rebates and predetern
discounts from list prices and are increasinglyllehging the prices charged for pharmaceuticalsathdr medical products. Our products may not be
considered costffective, and reimbursement to the patient maybecavailable or be sufficient to allow the sal@of products on a competitive ba:
We, or our collaborators, may not be able to neg@tiavorable reimbursement rates for our produictge, or our collaborators, fail to obtain an
adequate level of reimbursement for our productthivg-party payors, sales of the drugs would beeeskly affected or there may be no commercially
viable market for the products.

We face potential liability related to the privagy health information we obtain from research institions.

Most health care providers, including researchitunt&ns from which we or our collaborators obtaatient information, are subject to privacy
regulations promulgated under the Health Insurdargability and Accountability Act of 1996, or HIPA Although we are not directly regulated by
HIPAA, we could face substantial criminal penalifese knowingly receive individually identifiableealth information from a health care provider or
research institution that has not satisfied HIPRAslosure standards. In addition, certain stat@py laws may apply directly to our operations
and/or those of our collaborators and may imposkictions on our use and dissemination of indialduhealth information. Moreover, patients about
whom we or our collaborators obtain informationwagl as the providers who share this informatidthws, may have contractual rights that limit our
ability to use and disclose the information. Claiimst we have violated individuals’ privacy riglisbreached our contractual obligations, even if we
are not found liable, could be expensive and tioresaming to defend and could result in adverseigtypthat could harm our business.

RISKS RELATED TO COLLABORATIONS

Part of our business strategy involves collaboratiou-licensing of our drug candidates while retainingpommercialization or co-promotional rights
in parts of the world. We may not be able to findllaborators or successfully form suitable collakaiions to further our drug development and
commercialization efforts.

We have sought and may seek collaborators for aug development and commercialization efforts. W&y anter into these collaborations to
obtain external financing for drug development smdbtain access to drug development and commizaii@in expertise. The availability of partners
depends on the willingness of pharmaceutical aottbhnology companies to collaborate in drug disepwactivities. Only a limited number of
pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies wotlolii requirements. The number could decline furtheough consolidation, or the number of
collaborators with interest in our drugs could dezl If the number of our potential collaboratomsre/to decline, the remaining collaborators may be
able to negotiate terms less favorable to us.

We face significant competition in seeking drugelepment collaborations, both from other biotecbgglcompanies and from the internal
capabilities and compound pipelines of the pharmiica and
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biotechnology companies themselves. This competiigarticularly intense in the oncology field.rGbility to interest such companies in forming
co-development and commercialization arrangemeittsus will be influenced by, among other things:

< the compatibility of technologies;
« the potential partner’'s acceptance of our appréachug discovery;
 the novelty, quality and commercial potential of @nug candidate we may succeed in developing;

< our ability, and collaboratc’ perceptions of our ability, to achieve intendeditssin a timely fashion, with acceptable qualibdaost.

Even if we are able to gain the interest of potdrtiug development partners, the negotiation, oh@mntation and implementation of collaborative
arrangements are complex and time-consuming. Goldions may not be available on commercially ataddp terms and, if formed, may not be
commercially successful or, if successful, maynealize sufficient benefit for us. If we are unatddorm collaborations, we may not gain accedb¢
financial resources and industry expertise necgdsatevelop and commercialize drug products ocsssfully market any products we develop on
own and, therefore, be unable to generate revenoedur products. In addition, our past, existing &iture collaboration terms contain or will lilgel
contain limitations on classes of chemical compaumidbiological targets that we may explore outsidese collaborations for our own use.

Our success depends in part on the efforts of ourrent and possible future collaborators, who wilkely have substantial control and discretion
over the continued development and commercializataf drug candidates, including tivantinib, that arthe subjects of our collaborations.

Our current collaborators, Kyowa Hakko Kirin andiiblai Sankyo have, and future collaborators wilV@aignificant discretion in determining the
efforts and amount of resources that they dedicateir collaborations. Our collaborators may deteermot to proceed with clinical development or
commercialization of a particular drug candidateamumber of reasons that are beyond our comvelh under circumstances where we might have
continued such a program. In addition, our rightssceive milestone payments and royalties fromcollaborators will depend on our collaborators’
abilities to establish the safety and efficacy of drug candidates, obtain regulatory approvalsaamieve market acceptance of products developed
from our drug candidates. We may also depend orallaborators to manufacture clinical scale quegtiof some of our drug candidates and,
possibly, for commercial scale manufacture, digtign and direct sales. Our collaborators may reasiccessful in manufacturing our drug candidates
or successfully commercializing the



We face additional risks in connection with ourstixig and future collaborations, including the daling:

e our collaborators may develop and commercializbeeialone or with others, products that are simdaor competitive with the products that
are the subject of the collaboration with

e our collaborators may underfund, not commit suéfitiresources to, or conduct in an unsatisfact@itenthe testing, marketing, distribution or
other development of our drug candida

« our collaborators may not properly maintain or defeur intellectual property rights or they mayizné our proprietary information in suck
way as to invite litigation that could jeopardizepmtentially invalidate our intellectual propedy proprietary information or expose us to
potential liability;

 our collaborators may encounter conflicts of insérehanges in business strategy or other busis&sss which could adversely affect their
willingness or ability to fulfill their obligationso us (for example, pharmaceutical and biotechmotmmpanies historically have re-evaluated
their priorities following mergers and consolidaiso which have been common in recent years in tinesestries); an

» disputes may arise between us and our collabord&daying or terminating the research, developmergbmmercialization of our drug
candidates, resulting in significant litigationarbitration that coul
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be time-consuming and expensive, or causing calédbrs to act in their own self-interest and nothia interest of our stockholders;

« we might not have the financial or human resouteeseet our obligations or take advantage of ayhrts under the terms of our existing and
future collaborations; ar

 our existing collaborators may exercise their reipe rights to terminate without cause their dofleations with us, in which event, we might
not be able to complete development and commezat#in of tivantinib and other drug candidates anawn.

We may not receive any further milestone, royaltylicense payments under our current collaboratians

Although we have received license fees and othgmpats to date under our current drug developmaidhiorations with Kyowa Hakko Kirin ar
Daiichi Sankyo, we may not receive any royalty pawis or additional license and milestone fees usden agreements. Our receipt of any future
milestone, royalty or license payments depends amynfiactors, including whether our collaboratorsitvar are able to continue to pursue potential
drug candidates, intellectual property issues, i@sten complications in the development or comrakzation process, and the ultimate commercial
success of the drugs.

Our cumulative share of Phase 3 collaboration dus$sexceeded the amount of milestones receivedghrDecember 31, 2012 by $38.8 million
which will be netted against future milestones emlties, if any, when earned. On January 31, 2@&3announced that the first patient had been
enrolled in the pivotal Phase 3 METIV trial of tiinib, entitling us to a $15 million milestone. Wl not receive any net cash proceeds from this
milestone as it will be netted against our cumutashare of Phase 3 collaboration costs in exdesdl@stones received of $38.8 million at December
31, 2012.

RISKS RELATED TO RELATIONSHIPS WITH THIRD PARTY VEN DORS

We rely heavily on third parties such as contraetsearch organizations, to conduct clinical trial&d perform research and analysis services for us.
If third parties upon which we rely do not performs contractually required or expected, we may netdble to develop further, obtain regulato
approval for or commercialize our product candidate

We do not have the ability or the human resouragsetform all of the testing or conduct all of timical trials that are necessary in connection
with the development of our product candidates.aféeusing third-party clinical research organizaaicor CROs, to oversee many of our ongoing
clinical trials and expect to use the same or singrganizations for certain of our future clinit@ls. Our reliance on these third parties redumg
control over these activities. We may face delaytside of our control if these parties do not perfaeheir obligations in a timely or competent fashi
or if we are forced to change service providers tire quality or accuracy of the data they obiainompromised due to their failure to adhere to ou
clinical protocols or regulatory requirements ar dther reasons. These risks are heightened ifonduzt clinical trials outside of the United States
where it may be more difficult to ensure that séisdire conducted in compliance with FDA requiresehny third party that we hire to conduct
clinical trials may also provide services to oumpetitors, which could compromise the performarfaeir obligations to us. If we experience
significant delays in the progress of our clinitéls and in our plans to file NDAs, the commefgieospects for product candidates could be harmed
and our ability to generate product revenue woeld®ayed or prevented.

If the third parties we rely upon to conduct, supgse and monitor our clinical studies perform in amnsatisfactory manner, it may harm ot
business.

We rely on CROs and clinical trial sites to enginesproper and timely conduct of our clinical sidWhile we have agreements governing their
activities, we have limited influence over theitwad performance. We have relied and plan to caetio rely upon CROs to monitor and manage data
for our ongoing clinical programs for tivantinibcaour other product candidates, as well as thewiagcof nonclinical studies. We control only cémt



aspects of our CROsCctivities. Nevertheless, we are responsible fesugng that each of our studies is conducted inm@ance with the applicak
protocol, legal, regulatory and scientific standaadd our reliance on the CROs does not relievs# aar regulatory responsibilities. We and our CF
are required to comply with the FDA'’s current gaidical practices, or cGCPs, which are regulatiand
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guidelines enforced by the FDA for all of our pretdoandidates in clinical development. The FDA ecés these cGCPs through periodic inspections
of trial sponsors, principal investigators and ick trial sites. If we or our CROs fail to compigith applicable cGCPs, the clinical data generated
our clinical trials may be deemed unreliable arelRBDA may require us to perform additional clinitidls before approving our marketing
applications. Upon inspection, the FDA may detemthnat our Phase 3 clinical trials do not complthvdGCPs. In addition, our Phase 3 clinical trials
will require a sufficiently large number of tesbgects to evaluate the safety and effectivenesisadftinib. Accordingly, if our CROs fail to comply
with these regulations or fail to recruit a suiict number of patients, we may be required to tefheaPhase 3 clinical trials, which would delag th
regulatory approval process. Our CROs are not myi@yees, and we cannot control whether or not tresote sufficient time and resources to our
ongoing clinical and nonclinical programs. TheseGBRnay also have relationships with other commekegitties, including our competitors, for
whom they may also be conducting clinical studiexther drug development activities which couldnhaur competitive position. We face the risk of
potential unauthorized disclosure or misappropriatf our intellectual property by CROs, which nadipw our potential competitors to access our
proprietary technology. If our CROs do not sucagstarry out their contractual duties or obligats, fail to meet expected deadlines, or if thdityu

or accuracy of the clinical data they obtain is poopmised due to the failure to adhere to our diihprotocols or regulatory requirements, or for any
other reasons, our clinical trials may be extendethyed or terminated, and we may not be abldtai regulatory approval for, or successfully
commercialize tivantinib, or our other product cialaties. As a result, our financial results andatxmercial prospects for tivantinib and any future
product candidates that we develop would be harmadgosts could increase, and our ability to gateerevenues could be delayed.

We have limited manufacturing experience. Currenthye primarily rely on third parties to provide didient quantities of our product candidates to
conduct pre-clinical and clinical studies. In theufure, we may rely on our collaborators for drug pply. We have no control over our
manufacturers’, suppliers’ and collaborators’ comigihce with manufacturing regulations, and their faire to comply could interrupt our drug

supply.

To date, our product candidates have been manuéakciu relatively small quantities for precliniaaid clinical trials. We have no experience in
manufacturing any of our product candidates ongelacale and have contracted with third party rfearturers to provide material for clinical trials
and to assist in the development and optimizatfauo manufacturing processes and methods. Outyatilconduct clinical trials and commercialize
our product candidates will depend on the abilftguch third parties to manufacture our productaderge scale at a competitive cost and in
accordance with cGMP and other regulatory requirgmesignificant scale-up of manufacturing may heisuunanticipated technical challenges and
may require additional validation studies thatRIBA must review and approve. If we are not ablelitain contract cGMP manufacturing on
commercially reasonable terms, obtain or develemtittessary materials and technologies for mamufagt or obtain intellectual property rights
necessary for manufacturing, we may not be abt®maoluct or complete clinical trials or commercial@ur product candidates. There can be no
assurance that we will be able to obtain such siiguierms, materials, technologies and intelldqtuaperty necessary to successfully manufacture ou
product candidates for clinical trials or commelizition. Our product candidates require precisghguality manufacturing. The failure to achieve
and maintain these high manufacturing standardgjding the incidence of manufacturing errors, daelsult in patient injury or death, product regall
or withdrawals, delays or failures in product tegtor delivery, cost overruns or other problems tioald seriously hurt our business.

The facilities used by our contract manufactureay nmdergo inspections by the FDA for compliancéhwiGMP regulations before our product
candidates produced there can receive marketingaplp If these facilities do not satisfy cGMP r@gments in connection with the manufacture of
our product candidates, we may need to conductieddi validation studies, or find alternative méaaiuring facilities, either of which would resiit
significant cost to us as well as a delay of upeteeral years in obtaining approval for any affé@eoduct candidate. In addition, after approvah of
product candidate for commercial use, our contreanufacturers and any alternative contract manufactve may utilize will be subject to ongoing
periodic inspection by the FDA and correspondirgestind foreign agencies for compliance with cGReutations, similar foreign regulations and
other regulatory standards. We do not have contret our contract manufacturecdmpliance with these regulations and standardg.faifure by ou
third-party manufacturers or suppliers to complyhvéipplicable regulations could result in sanctibesg imposed (including fines,
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injunctions and civil penalties), failure of regidey authorities to grant marketing approval of puwduct candidates, delays, suspension or withalraw
of approvals, license revocation, seizures or lecédlproduct candidates or products, operatingicti®ns and criminal prosecution.

Materials necessary to manufacture our product caaaltes currently under development may not be aalié on commercially reasonable terms,
at all, which may delay our development and comnialization of these drugs.

Some of the materials necessary for the manufacfuvar product candidates currently under develepimay, from time to time, be available
either in limited quantities, or from a limited nber of manufacturers, or both. We and/or our coltators need to obtain these materials for our
clinical trials and, potentially, for commerciaktibution when and if we obtain marketing apprdeaithese compounds. Suppliers may not sell us
these materials at the time we need them or on @oially reasonable terms. If we are unable toiokitee materials needed for the conduct of our
clinical trials, product testing and potential rigary approval could be delayed, adversely impactiur ability to develop the product candidatég. |
becomes necessary to change suppliers for angsé timaterials or if any of our suppliers experiems@utdown or disruption in the facilities use



produce these materials, due to technical, regylatoother problems, it could significantly hindarprevent manufacture of our drug candidates
and any resulting products.

RISKS RELATED TO COMPETITION

The drug research and development industry is higlsbmpetitive, and we compete with some compartiashiave a broader range of capabilities
and better access to resources than we do.

The pharmaceutical and biotechnology industrieshegacterized by rapid and continuous technolbgicevation. We compete with companies
worldwide that are engaged in the research anadaisy, licensing, development and commercializatibdrug candidates, including, in the area of
small molecule anti-cancer therapeutics, bioteatmyocompanies such as Ariad Pharmaceuticals, Anay BioPharma Inc., Astex Therapeutics, Cell
Therapeutics, Inc., Curis, Inc., Cytokinetics, Jigeciphera Pharmaceuticals, Exelixis, Inc., Ev&&€; GlaxoSmithKline, FORMA Therapeutics,
Incyte Corporation, Infinity Pharmaceuticals, Im@nyx Pharmaceuticals, Inc., OSI Pharmaceuticats, Roche and Telik, Inc. and many others.

With respect to tivantinib specifically, we are awaf a number of biotechnology and pharmaceutioaipanies that are or may be pursuing
approaches to c-Met inhibition, including Amgen.|rsstraZeneca/Hutchison MediPharma, AVEO Pharmiacas, Inc., Bristol- Myers Squibb
Company, Cephalon, Inc., Compugen Ltd., Exelixis, | GlaxoSmithKline, Johnson & Johnson, Merck & ,Qoc., Methylgene Inc., Pfizer, Roche,
Takeda and Supergen Inc. and others. With respdd¢CC, our lead indication, we are aware of a nunebeompanies with products under
development, including Eisai Co., Abbott, Eli LillBayer, and 4SC AG.

Even if we are successful in bringing products trket, we face substantial competitive challengesffiectively marketing and distributing our
products. Companies and research institutionsydicg large pharmaceutical companies with muchtgrdmancial resources and more experience in
developing products, conducting clinical trialstaihing FDA and foreign regulatory approvals anihdpng new drugs to market are developing
products within the field of oncology. Some of thestities already have competitive products omtheket or product candidates in more advanced
stages of development than we do. By virtue of ingvar introducing competitive products on the mablefore us, these entities may gain a
competitive advantage. In addition, there may loelpct candidates of which we are not aware at dieeatage of development that may compete
with our product candidates. Some of our competit@ve entered into collaborations with leading jganies within our target markets.

We are in a rapidly evolving field of research. €equently, our technology may be rendered non-ctitiveeor obsolete by approaches and
methodologies discovered by others, both beforeadted we have gone to market with our products.alge face competition from existing therapies
that are currently accepted in the marketplacefiamd the impact of adverse events in our field thaly affect regulatory approval or public
perception.

31

We anticipate that we will face increased compmtiin the future as new companies enter the markgtadvanced technologies become available.
If we are unable to successfully compete in ouisehdield, we will not become profitable.

We may not be able to recruit and retain the scistg# and management we need to compete.

Our success depends on our ability to attractiretad motivate highly skilled scientific personaeld management, and our ability to develop and
maintain important relationships with leading acadeinstitutions, clinicians and scientists. We highly dependent on our senior management and
scientific staff, and the loss of the servicesmé or more of our other key employees could havadwerse effect on the successful completion of our
clinical trials or the commercialization of our pkect candidates.

We compete intensely with pharmaceutical and biotetogy companies, including our collaborators, itied! chemistry outsourcing companies,
contract research and manufacturing organizatems academic and research institutions in the iteceat of scientists and management. The sha
of personnel with experience in drug developmeniatead to increased recruiting, relocation anchgensation costs, which may exceed our
expectations and resources. If we cannot hire iaddit qualified personnel, the workload may inceef® both existing and new personnel. If we are
unsuccessful in our recruitment efforts, we maybable to execute our strategy.

RISKS RELATED TO INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

Our patents and other proprietary rights may fad protect our business. If we are unable to adealptprotect our intellectual property, third
parties may be able to use our technology which Idoadversely affect our ability to compete in thearket.

To be successful and compete, we must obtain andgirpatents on our products and technology aoiggirour trade secrets. Where appropriate,
we seek patent protection for certain aspectseofeébhnology we are developing, but patent praiaatiay not be available for some of our product
candidates or their use, synthesis or formulatidhs. patent position of biotechnology firms is Highncertain, involves complex legal and factual
guestions, and has recently been the subject ofi fiitigation. No consistent policy has emerged fribmm U.S. Patent and Trademark Office or the
courts regarding the breadth of claims allowecherdegree of protection afforded under many bioteldgy patents. In addition, there is a substantial
backlog of biotechnology patent applications atth®. Patent and Trademark Office. As a consequehitese factors, the approval or rejection of
patent applications may take several years.

We do not know whether our patent applications kedlult in issued patents. In addition, the receif@ patent might not provide much practical
protection. If we receive a patent with a narrowseit will be easier for competitors to designdurcts that do not infringe our patent. We cannc



certain that we will receive any additional patefitat the claims of our patents will offer sigoéit protection for our technology, or that our
patents will not be challenged, narrowed, invakdabr circumvented.

Competitors may interfere with our patent protetiioa variety of ways. Competitors may claim ttiegty invented the claimed invention before
Competitors may also claim that we are infringimgtieeir patents and that, therefore, we cannotipeaour technology as claimed under our patents.
Competitors may also contest our patents by shothiagpatent examiner that the invention was ngfimal, was not novel or was obvious. In
litigation, a competitor could claim that our isdygatents are not valid for a number of reasores cifurt agrees, our patents could be narrowed,
invalidated or rendered unenforceable, or we mafpheed to stop using the technology covered bgdlpatents or to license the technology from 1
parties. As a company, we have no meaningful ezpee with competitors interfering with our patemtpatent applications and therefore may not
have the experience we would need to aggressivetgqt our patents should such action become nagess

The laws of some foreign countries do not proteteliectual property rights to the same extenhadaws of the United States. Many companies
have encountered significant problems in proteciind defending such rights in foreign jurisdictioM&ny countries, including certain countries in
Europe, have compulsory licensing laws under whigiatent owner may be compelled to grant licersésird parties. In addition, many countries
limit the enforceability of patents against goveamnhagencies or government contractors. In thegetdes, the patent owner may have limited
remedies, which could materially diminish the vatdi¢he
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patent. Compulsory licensing of life-saving drugglso becoming increasingly popular in develogiogntries either through direct legislation or
international initiatives. Such compulsory licensesld be extended to include some of our prodactitiates, which could limit our potential revenue
opportunities. Moreover, the legal systems of dgertauntries, particularly certain developing caie#, do not favor the aggressive enforcement of
patent and other intellectual property protectiwhich makes it difficult to stop infringement.

Drug candidates we develop that are approved fomeercial marketing by the FDA would be subjecttte provisions of the Drug Price
Competition and Patent Term Restoration Act of 1¥8wn as the “Hatch-Waxman Act.” The Hatch- Warmet provides companies with
marketing exclusivity for varying time periods cwgiwhich generic versions of a drug may not be etadk and allows companies to apply to extend
patent protection for up to five additional yedt®lso provides a means for approving genericigassof a drug once the marketing exclusivity perio
has ended and all relevant patents have expireglp&tiod of exclusive marketing, however, may bartemed if a patent is successfully challengec
defeated, which could reduce the amount of revereieeceive for such product.

Agreements we have with our employees, consultamid collaborators may not afford adequate protectifor our trade secrets, confidenti:
information and other proprietary information.

In addition to patent protection, we also rely apyright and trademark protection, trade secrets kanow-how. It is unclear whether our trade
secrets and know-how will prove to be adequatebygmted. To protect our trade secrets and know-k@arequire our employees, consultants and
advisors to execute agreements regarding the eonifadity and ownership of such proprietary infotioa. We cannot guarantee, however, that these
agreements will provide us with adequate protectigainst improper use or disclosure of confidemtifdrmation and there may not be adequate
remedies in the event of unauthorized use or discéo Our employees, consultants or advisors meyantionally or willfully disclose our
information to competitors. In addition, in someiations, these agreements may conflict with, asuigect to, the rights of third parties with whom
our employees, consultants or advisors had or peaxgous employment or consulting relationship&elpatent litigation, enforcing a claim that ad
party illegally obtained and is using our tradersesis expensive and time-consuming and the owtdemnpredictable. In addition, courts outside the
United States are sometimes less willing than ederfal and state courts to protect trade secretthdfmore, others may independently develop
substantially equivalent knowledge, methods andiwkhow. Our failure or inability to protect our progtary information and techniques may inhibi
limit our ability to compete effectively or excludertain competitors from the market.

Our success will depend partly on our ability toerate without infringing upon or misappropriatinghte proprietary rights of others.

There are many patents in our field of technology we cannot guarantee that we do not infringehore patents or that we will not infringe on
patents granted in the future. If a patent holddieles a product of ours infringes on its patdrg,patent holder may sue us even if we have redeiv
patent protection for our technology.

If we do not prevail in litigation or if other p&st have filed, or in the future should file, patepplications covering products and technolodies t
we have developed or intend to develop, we may t@eétain licenses from third parties, which may Ibe available on commercially reasonable
terms, or at all, and may require us to pay sulisiaioyalties or grant a cross-license to somewfpatents to another patent holder. Additionallg,
may have to change the formulation of a productichaie so that we do not infringe third- party pdge Such reformulation may be impossible to
achieve or which may require substantial time afkese. If we are unable to cost-effectively regiesiur products so they do not infringe a patent,
we may be unable to sell some of our products. éfrthese occurrences will result in lost revenuas @rofits for us.

The drug research and development industry has sthiy of patent and other intellectual propertyigiation, and we may be involved in costly
intellectual property lawsuits.

The drug research and development industry hastarhiof patent and other intellectual propertigéition, and we believe these lawsuits are likely
to continue. Legal proceedings relating to inteliat property would be expensive, take signifidime and divert management’s attention from other
busines:
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concerns. We face potential patent infringemertsdy companies that control patents for drugsotenttial drugs similar to our product candidates or
other suits alleging infringement of their intelieal property rights. There could be issued patehtghich we are not aware that our products aed th
use, whether as single agents or in combinatioh ettier products, infringe or patents that we lveli@e do not infringe that we are ultimately foun
infringe. The publication of discoveries in theestific or patent literature frequently occurs dahs$ally later than the date on which the undedyi
discoveries were made and patent applications filece Because patent applications can take maaysy® issue, there may be currently pending
applications of which we are unaware that may legsult in issued patents that we infringe with durg candidates or resulting products, and thes
as single agents or in combination with other potslun addition, technology created under ouraegeand development collaborations may infringe
the intellectual property rights of third parti@swhich case we may not receive milestone or tgy@venue from those collaborations.

If we do not prevail in an infringement lawsuit bght against us, we might have to pay substargialatjes and we could be required to stop the
infringing activity or obtain a license to use tretented technology or redesign our products sma® infringe the patent. We may not be able to
enter into licensing arrangements at a reasonasleoe effectively redesign our products. Any itiépio secure licenses or alternative technology
could delay the introduction of our products orverat us from manufacturing or selling products.

RISKS RELATED TO EMPLOYEES, FACILITIES AND INFORMAT ION TECHNOLOGY
Our operations could be interrupted by damage ta taboratory facilities.

Our operations are dependent upon the continuedfus@ specialized laboratories and equipment obWhn, Massachusetts. Catastrophic events,
including fires or explosions, could damage ouplalories, equipment, scientific data, work in pesg or inventories of chemical compounds and
biological materials and may materially interrupt dbusiness. We employ safety precautions in dagrktory activities in order to reduce the
likelihood of the occurrence of these catastropghvients; however, we cannot eliminate the chandestia an event will occur. Rebuilding our
facilities could be time consuming and result ibstantial delays in our development of productsiarfdlfilling our agreements with our
collaborators.

Security breaches may disrupt our operations and/extely affect our operating result

Our network security and data recovery measureshars® of third parties with which we contract, nmay be adequate to protect against comg
viruses, cyber-attacks, breais, and similar disruptions from unauthorized tannpy with our computer systems. The misappromngtiheft, sabotac
or any other type of security breach with respe@trty of our proprietary and confidential inforneatithat is electronically stored, including resdasc
clinical data, could cause interruptions in ourragiens, and could result in a material disruptémour clinical activities and business operatians,
addition to possibly requiring substantial expemdis of resources to remedy. This disruption cbake a material adverse impact on our business,
operating results and financial condition. Addiadlyp, any break-in or trespass of our facilitieatthesults in the misappropriation, theft, sabotage
any other type of security breach with respectuomoprietary and confidential information, incing research or clinical data, or that results in
damage to our research and development equipmerassets could have a material adverse impact obusiness, operating results, and financial
condition.

RISKS RELATED TO PRODUCT LIABILITY

If our use of chemical and biological materials arfthzardous materials violates applicable laws ousas personal injury, we may be liable 1
damages.

Our drug discovery activities, including the an@yand synthesis of chemical compounds, involvectirgrolled use of chemicals, including
flammable, combustible, toxic and radioactive mateithat are potentially hazardous if misused .effald state and local laws and regulations govern
our use, storage, handling and disposal of theseriaks. These laws and regulations include theReg Conservation and Recovery Act, the
Occupational Safety and Health Act, local fire éiding codes, regulations promulgated by the Depant of Transportation, the Drug Enforcement
Agency and the Department of Energy, the
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Department of Health and Human Services, and the td Massachusetts where we conduct our operatidramay incur significant costs to comply
with these laws and regulations in the future amdent or future environmental laws and regulatiovay impair our research, development and
production efforts. Notwithstanding our extensiegesy procedures for handling and disposing of niete the risk of accidental contamination or
injury from these materials cannot be completeipielated. In the event of an accident, our busicessd be disrupted and we could be liable for
damages. Our liability may exceed our insuranceraye and our total assets and have a negativetmpaur financial condition and results of
operations.

We may be exposed to potential liability relatedhe development, testing or manufacturing of conuymals we develop and our insurance coverage
may not be sufficient to cover losses.



We are developing, clinically testing and manufeoty potential therapeutic products for use in homan connection with these activities, we
could be liable if persons are injured or die whigeng these drugs. We may have to pay substata@imbges and/or incur legal costs to defend claims
resulting from injury or death, and we may not reeexpected royalty or milestone payments if comaiadization of a drug is limited or ended as a
result of such claims. We have product liabilityainical trial insurance that contains customexglusions and provides coverage per occurrence at
levels, in the aggregate, which we believe areacnaty and commercially reasonable in our indusivergour current stage of drug development. Our
product liability insurance does not cover everyetyf product liability claim that we may face os$ we may incur and may not adequately
compensate us for the entire amount of coveredhslair losses or for the harm to our business répntaAlso, we may be unable to maintain our
current insurance policies or obtain and mainta@icessary additional coverage at acceptable cosis adl.

RISKS RELATED TO OUR COMMON STOCK
Our stock price may be extremely volatile.

The trading price of our common stock has beenligblatile. We believe the trading price of ounmmon stock will remain highly volatile and
may fluctuate substantially due to factors such as:

» adverse results or delays in clinical trials;

« announcement of FDA approval or non-approval, ¢eydein the FDA review process, of our or our dodieators’ product candidates or those of
our competitors or actions taken by regulatory agenwith respect to our, our collabora’ or our competitor clinical trials;

¢ announcement of new products by us or our compstito

» quarterly variations in our or our competitors’ults of operations, including as a result of reétign of upfront licensing or other fees, the
timing and amount of expenses incurred for clindmlelopment, regulatory approval and commerciadineof our product candidate

« litigation, including intellectual property infrimgnent lawsuits, involving us;

« financing transactions;

» developments in the biotechnology and pharmaceiitidastries;

« the general performance of the equity markets aniticular the biopharmaceutical sector of thaityqnarkets;
e departures of key personnel or board members;

» developments concerning current or future collationg;

« FDA or international regulatory actions affectingr andustry generally; and

« third-party reimbursement policie

This volatility and general market declines in mdustry over the past several years have affetiednarket prices of securities issued by many
companies, often for reasons unrelated to theiratipgy performance, and may adversely affect tieef our common stock. In the past, securities
class action litigation has often been institutaltbfving periods of volatility in the market pricd a company’s securities.
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A securities class action suit against us couldlt@s potential liabilities, substantial costs ahe diversion of management’s attention and ressyr
regardless of the outcome of the action.

Some of our existing stockholders can exert contoser us, and their interests could conflict withe best interests of our other stockholde

Due to their combined stock holdings, our princigtaickholders (stockholders holding more than 5%uwfcommon stock), acting together, ma
able to exert significant influence over all mattezquiring stockholder approval, including thecgten of directors and approval of significant
corporate transactions. In addition, this conceioimeof ownership may delay or prevent a changepintrol of our company, even when a change may
be in the best interests of our stockholders. [euntiore, the interests of these stockholders mawlaatys coincide with our interests as a company or
the interests of other stockholders. Accordindigse stockholders could cause us to enter intsdcdions or agreements that would not be widely
viewed as beneficial.

If our officers, directors or principal stockholdesell substantial amounts of our common stocKy@ing shares issued upon the exercise of op
and warrants) in the public market, the marketgpatour common stock could fall. These sales migght make it more difficult for us to sell equity
equity- related securities in the future at a time andeptiiat we deem appropria



Anti-takeover provisions in our charter documents andder Delaware law could make an acquisition of wghich may be beneficial to our
stockholders, more difficult and may prevent or detattempts by our stockholders to replace or remour current managemen

Provisions in our corporate charter and bylaws @elhware law may discourage, delay or prevent guiaition of our company, a change in
control, or attempts by our stockholders to replaiceemove members of our current Board of DirextBecause our Board of Directors is responsible
for appointing the members of our management télaese provisions could in turn affect any attempobr stockholders to replace current members
of our management team. These provisions include:

» a Board of Directors having three classes of dimscivith a thre-year term of office that expires as to one clast gaar, commonly referred
as g“staggered boa”;

 a prohibition on actions by our stockholders byttsri consent
« the inability of our stockholders to call speciaetings of stockholder

« the ability of our Board of Directors to issue gmeéd stock without stockholder approval, whichlddae used to institute a “poison pill” that
would work to dilute the stock ownership of a pdi@rhostile acquirer, effectively preventing acgjtions that have not been approved by our
Board of Directors

* [imitations on the removal of directors; and

» advance notice requirements for director nominatiamd stockholder proposals.

Moreover, because we are incorporated in Delawegegre governed by the provisions of Section 20BeDelaware General Corporation Law,
which prohibits a person who owns in excess of B%ur outstanding voting stock from merging or &dning with us for a period of three years &
the date of the transaction in which the persomiaed in excess of 15% of our outstanding votirakt unless the merger or combination is approved
in a prescribed manner. As a result, it is diffidot a third party to acquire control of us withidlie approval of our Board of Directors and, thene,
mergers with and acquisitions of us that our stottkérs may consider in their best interests mayoootir.

Because we do not intend to pay dividends, stoctard will benefit from an investment in our commaock only if it appreciates in valut

We have never declared or paid any cash dividendsiocommon stock. We currently intend to retainfoture earnings, if any, to finance the
expansion of our business and do not expect tapsycash dividends in the foreseeable future. fesalt, the success of an investment in our con
stock will depend entirely upon any future appréeia There is no guarantee that our common staltlappreciate in value or even maintain the price
at which stockholders have purchased their shares.
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ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

In November 1999, we moved our main operationsrteva facility in Woburn, Massachusetts, which intda approximately 128,000 square fet
laboratory and office space. This facility was deed to our specific requirements. In March 2004 parchased this building and the land on which it
sits and a developable adjacent parcel of lan§¥8c2 million and $2.3 million, respectively, in ams-length transaction with the original develtope
On May 2, 2005, we completed a transaction totkelWoburn facility and simultaneously leased #lity from the purchaser. The lease was
subsequently amended on June 30, 2005. Underrths te the transaction, the purchaser obtainedpavoels of land and our headquarters building in
exchange for a cash payment of approximately $4@llibn. We are leasing our existing facility arftetassociated land for a period of ten years at an
average annual rental rate of $3.4 million. We &laee options to extend the lease term for up tadalitional ten years. See Note 5, “Property and
Equipment” in the Notes to Financial Statementseapipg in Item 8 in this Annual Report on Form 10-K

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
None.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFTEY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable.
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PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT 'S COMMON STOCK, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISS UER PURCHASES

OF EQUITY SECURITIES

STOCK PERFORMANCE GRAPH

The following graph shows the cumulative total ktemder return on our common stock over the pefiioth December 31, 2007 to December 31,

2012, as compared with that of the NASDAQ Stock iaindex (U. S. Companies) and the NASDAQ Biotextbgy Index, based on an initial

investment of $100 in each on December 31, 200fl Btockholder return is measured by dividing starice change plus dividends, if any, for each

period by the share price at the beginning of éspective period, and assumes reinvestment ofetidisl
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ArQule, Inc. 100.0( 72.7¢ 63.62
NASDAQ Market (U.S. Companies) Ind: 100.0( 61.17 87.9¢
NASDAQ Biotechnology Inde: 100.0( 87.31 101.0¢

ArQule’s common stock is traded on the NASDAQ Gldfdarket under the symbol “ARQL”".
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101.2:
104.1:
116.1¢

The following table sets forth, for the periodsicaded, the range of the high and low sale prioe#\fQule’s common stock:

2011

First Quartel
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter
2012

First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter
2013

First Quarter (through February 25, 20

97.2¢ 48.10
104.6¢ 123.8¢
129.97 171.3¢

HIGH LOW
§7.17 $5.7¢
7.8¢ 6.12
6.72 3.9¢
6.1% 4.4¢
$8.1¢ $5.3¢€
8.3z 5.4C
6.9¢ 4.81
5.14 1.9¢
$3.1¢ $2.3¢

As of February 25, 2013, there were approximat@ly@ders of record and approximately 6,116 bersfstockholders of our common stc



Dividend Policy

We have never paid cash dividends on our commark stod we do not anticipate paying any cash divddéen the foreseeable future. We curre

intend to retain future earnings, if any, for us@ur business.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected financial data have beerivedrfrom our audited historical financial statersercertain of which are included elsewhere in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The following szt financial data should be read in conjunctidgth wur financial statements and related notes
and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Fimgr€ondition and Results of Operations” appeagtsgwhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-

K.

The following data is in thousands, except peresliata.

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
DATA:
Revenue
Research and development revenue(a)(b)(i $ 36,41« $ 47,31( $ 29,22: $ 25,19¢ $ 14,14:
Costs and expense
Research and development 33,96¢ 45,011 47,03¢ 49,49t 49,62¢
General and administrati 13,85 13,37¢ 13,47% 13,311 16,91¢
Total costs and expens 47,81¢ 58,38« 60,51: 62,81: 66,54
Loss from operation (11,409 (11,079 (31,290 (37,619 (52,40¢)
Interest incomt 44t 317 61¢ 1,08¢ 3,34z
Interest expens (26) (25 (274) (655) (472)
Other income (expense)| 112 20 26€ 1,594 (1,32¢)
Loss before income taxi (10,879 (10,767 (30,679 $(35,58¢) $(50,86)
Benefit from (provision for) income tax — — 55(C (550 —
Net loss (10,872 (10,762 (30,129 (36,136 (50,864)
Unrealized gain (loss) on marketable secur 10€ 1 (62) 53 4
Comprehensive los §(10,769 _$(10,76) _$(30,19) _$(36,08) _§(50,86()
Basic and diluted net loss per sh § (019 ¢ (020 _§ (069 ¢ (089 _§ (1.16
Weighted average common shares outsta—basic and dilute 59,82! 52,77t 44,52¢ 44,16¢ 43,87(
Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securit{b$ $ 79,271 ¢ 68,16¢ $ 80,69t $154,67" $141,89(
Marketable securitilong term 51,32¢ 40,47¢ 2,15¢ 8,814 64,21¢
$130,59¢ $108,64: $ 82,84¢ $163,49: $206,10¢
Working capital 52,96¢ 23,29¢ 34,90: 73,56¢ 59,68(
Notes payabl 1,70C 1,70C 1,70( 46,10( 47,75(
Total asset 134,19¢ 117,05: 88,86¢ 171,88( 214,21:
Total stockholdel' equity (deficit)(g)(h) 81,02¢ 29,72¢ (14,567) 11,53¢ 43,467
(@) In April 2004, we entered into an alliance with Redo discover and develop drug candidates taig#tie E2F biological pathway. Thi

immediately provided $15 million and continued @sh and development funding through the first taraosf 2008. In 2008, we recognized
revenue from this alliance of $8.2 million, incladi$1.6 million of deferred revenue upon the teation of the agreement in 20(

(b) In November 2008, we entered into a research aufédion, exclusive license and co-commercializatigreement with Daiichi Sankyo for the
discovery of therapeutic compounds that selectiirgiybit certain kinases. The agreement includdsoap licensing fees of $15 million, which
were received in 2008, payments for research stpgad licensing fees for compounds discoveredrasut of this research. ArQule will also
receive milestone payments related to clinical tegyeent, regulatory review and sales and royaltynmnts on net sales of compounds from

the collaboration
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(c) In December 2008, we entered into an exclusiveaieeagreement with Daiichi Sankyo to develop amdroercialize tivantinib in the U.S.,
Europe, South America and the rest of the world|weing Japan and parts of Asia. The agreemeniidies upfront licensing fees of $60
million, which were received in 2008. In additidretagreement provides for potential developmentsates milestones of $560 million, and
royalty payments upon commercialization. Futurealigment and sales milestones and royalty paynvéiitse offset by our share of the
Phase 3 costs incurred by Daiichi Sank

(d) In November 2011, we entered into a license agraemi¢h Daiichi Sankyo for ARQ 092, an inhibitor tife AKT protein kinase discover:
under our AKIP™ oncology drug discovery collaboration. As a resiilour license agreement for this compound, weivecea $10 million
payment from Daiichi Sankyo in November 20

(e) The $11.0 million decrease in research and devedopexpense in 2012 was primarily due to an $8llfomidecrease in outsourced clinical
and product development costs related to our phasel 2 programs for tivantinib and pipeline progsaOther cost decreases include $1.0
million labor related costs from reduced headco®di4 million for lab expenses, and $0.3 million foofessional fees

4] In 2008, we received a put option from UBS AG tpuechase auction rate securities we owned at pae ¥eom June 30, 2010 through July
2012 (the “Put Option”). We accounted for the Ppti@n as a freestanding financial instrument aedteld to record the value under the fair
value option for financial assets and financidbilities. The fair value of the Put Option of $6@rillion was reported as other income (exper
Simultaneously, we transferred these auction rtargties from available-for-sale to trading setesi, reflecting our intent to exercise the Put
Option during the period June 30, 2010 to July@,22 This resulted in a loss of $8.0 million in 808hich was recorded in other income
(expense)

Other income (expense) in 2009 includes an unedigain on our auction rate securities of $3.2iom|lpartially offset by a loss of $1
million on our auction rate security Put Optis

Other income (expense) in 2010 includes a $4.4amiljain from the increase in fair value of ourtartrate securities and a $5.1 million loss
from the decrease in fair value of our Put Optipomuexercise. Other income (expense) in 2010 atdades $1.0 million of cash grants for
qualifying therapeutic discovery projects awardadar the Patient Protection and Affordable Cared®@010.

Other income (expense) in 2011 includes a gain filwrincrease in fair value of our auction rateusiéies.
Other income (expense) in 2012 includes a gain fifwerincrease in fair value of our auction rateusiéies.

(9) In January 2011, we completed a stock offering lictv we sold 8,050,000 shares of common stockpaica of $6.15 per share for net
proceeds of $46.8 million after commissions anenifiy expense:

(h) In April 2012, we completed a stock offering in wiiwe sold 8,222,500 shares of common stock ata pf $7.30 per share for net proceeds
of $56.3 million after commissions and offering erpes
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT 'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AN D RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion should be read in conjiamctvith our financial statements and related natestained in this report.

We are a clinical-stage biotechnology company eedag the research and development of innovatimeaatherapeutics. Our mission is to
produce novel drugs with differentiated mechanisirsction that will extend the lives of our patienThese drugs target biological pathways
implicated in a wide range of cancers. We emplapnelogies such as our ArQule Kinase InhibitorfBlat (“AKIP T™M ") to design and develop drugs
that have the potential to fulfill this mission.

Our product candidates and programs span a comirmfuesearch and development ranging from drugpdisry to advanced clinical testing. Tt
are based on our understanding of biological pseethat lead to the proliferation and metastdsiamcer cells, combined with our ability to geriera
product candidates possessing certain pre-selatiigghlike properties. We believe that these gigslitwhen present from the earliest stages of mtodu
development, increase the likelihood of produciafg seffective and marketable drugs. Our discoesy development efforts are also guided when
possible by an understanding of the role of bioraexkwhich are indicators of a particular biologimandition or process and may predict the clinical
benefit of our compounds in defined patient popoiret.

Our lead product candidate is tivantinib (ARQ 1%f),orally administered, small molecule inhibitbtlee c-Met receptor tyrosine kinase (“MET”)
and its biological pathway. MET is a promising &trépr cancer therapy, based on its multiple rotesancerous cell proliferation, tumor spread, new
blood vessel formation and resistance to certaig therapies. We and our partners, Daiichi Sankyo ad. (“Daiichi Sankyo”) and Kyowa Hakko
Kirin Co., Ltd. (“Kyowa Hakko Kirin"), are implemeamg a clinical development program designed tdizeahe broad potential of tivantinib as a
single agent and in combination with other antiezartherapies in a number of disease indications.sDategy is to focus on the most promising
indications within our clinical programs based upontinually generated and updated data. Our nth&treced indication is hepatocellular carcinoma
("HCC"). We are also completing earlier-stage comaltion therapy trials with tivantinib and otheriszancer agents that may provide data to support
latel-stage trials in additional indicatior



On October 2, 2012, we and Daiichi Sankyo annoutitatithe independent Data Monitoring CommitteeM©") of the Phase 3 MARQUEE_( M
et inhibitor ARQ197 plus _Erlotinib vs. Erlotinib plus placebo in NSCLC) trial in non-squamsccell NSCLC recommended the study be discontinued
early following a planned interim analysis, whesytttoncluded that the study would not meet its primendpoint of improved OS. Although the
interim analysis showed a statistically significanprovement in PFS in the intenttiat (ITT) population, this benefit did not caoyer to OS. Ther
were no safety concerns identified by the DMC dyitinis interim analysis. MARQUEE is a randomizedyble-blind, controlled pivotal trial
conducted under an SPA to evaluate tivantinib imlgimation with erlotinib, an approved anti-cancgemt, in previously treated patients with locally
advanced or metastatic, non-squamous NSCLC. Wé®aiichi Sankyo have provided information regardihg study discontinuation to health
authorities and those clinical investigators pgtiting in studies of tivantinib. Data from thisidy will be presented at an upcoming peer review
forum. Our analysis of these data will inform oecibions regarding potential further development8CLC or in certain biomarker-defined sub-
groups within this disease population. In NSCLC,ame also conducting a Phase 2, randomized tri@varftinib and erlotinib in patients with a
mutated form of the KRAS gene.

On October 30, 2012, we reported that we had bdemied by Kyowa Hakko Kirin that it will permanénsuspend enrollment in its ongoing
Phase 3 ATTENTION ( Aian_Trial of T ivantinib plus_Erlotinib for N SCLC without EGFR Muta tiohtrial following the recommendation of an
independent Safety Review Committee (“SRC”) in Jepfier the reporting of cases of interstitial ldigease (“ILD”) in the study as a drug-related
adverse event. It is our understanding that patiehio were enrolled in the ATTENTION trial at theé of the safety finding can continue to receive
treatment with the combination of tivantinib antb&nib upon request from the patient and investigand after providing new informed consent. [
from the trial are expected in late 2013 or eafl§£® The ATTENTION trial is investigating the usktivantinib and erlotinib versus erlotinib and
placebo in second line non-squamous NSCLC patieitiisthe wild-type
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form of the EGFR gene. This trial is being condddig Kyowa Hakko Kirin in Japan, South Korea andngan.

On January 11, 2013, we announced the top-lindtsesiua randomized Phase 2 signal generationdfiivantinib used in combination with
irinotecan and cetuximab in patients with refragtor relapsed colorectal cancer (“CRC”). The tdal not meet its primary endpoint of PFS, The PFS
results obtained in both the control arm and tipedrmental arm were longer than expected comparedelviously published historical norms.
Additional data and analyses from this trial anpled for presentation at a future medical meetimywill include mature OS data as well as analyses
of patient sub-groups, biomarker status and regicangability, including pre- and postudy treatments. Additional data and analyses tlostrial are
planned for presentation at a future medical mgetin

We have licensed commercial rights to tivantinibliaman cancer indications to Daiichi Sankyo inth8., Europe, South America and the rest of
the world, excluding Japan and certain other Asmmtries, where we have licensed commercial rigghtéyowa Hakko Kirin. Our agreements with
these partners provide for possible future milestoayments, royalties on product sales, and deredapfunding, in addition to significant payments
that we have already received. During 2011, weivede$25 million from Daiichi Sankyo resulting frotine dosing of the first patient in the
MARQUEE trial, and we received $10 million from Kyea Hakko Kirin resulting from dosing of the firsatent in the ATTENTION trial. The terms
of our tivantinib licensing agreements with Daii@ankyo and Kyowa Hakko Kirin remain in effect élling the recent developments in both of these
trials.

Our other clinical-stage products are directed towaolecular targets and biological processes d&timonstrated roles in the development of
human cancers. The most advanced candidates ipifigkne are ARQ 087, an inhibitor of fibroblagbgth factor receptor ARQ 621, an inhibitor of
the Eg5 kinesin motor protein, and ARQ 736, anhitbi of the RAF kinases, all of which are undergpor have completed Phase 1 clinical testing.

Our drug discovery efforts are focused primarilytoe AKIP™ | which we are using to generate compounds designietibit kinases without
competing with adenosine triphosphate (“ATP”) fanding to the target kinase, as well as other tygfdsnase inhibitors. ATP is a chemical found in
all living cells and is the energy source involiea variety of physiological processes. We hawessed the potential of AKI™ to target multiple
kinases in oncology and other therapeutic areabyanare generating and validating compounds tabit these kinase targets. During 2011, Daiichi
Sankyo licensed ARQ 092, an inhibitor of the AKDt&in kinase discovered under our AKIPoncology drug discovery collaboration that terméak
in November 2012. ARQ 092 is the first clinicalggacompound to emerge from this collaboration. Assalt of our license agreement for this
compound, we received a $10 million payment fronidbaSankyo in November 2011.

We have incurred a cumulative deficit of approxieta$420 million from inception through December 2012. We expect research and
development costs to increase during the cour2@18, due to clinical testing of our lead produmtdidates. We recorded a net loss for 2010, 2011
and 2012 and expect a net loss for 2013.

Our revenue consists primarily of development fagdirom our alliances with Daiichi Sankyo and Kyoldakko Kirin. Revenue and expenses
fluctuate from quarter to quarter based upon a reurabfactors, notably the timing and extent of oancerrelated research and development activ
together with the length and outcome of our clihigals.

On December 18, 2008, we entered into a licensdegelopment and co-commercialization agreement diichi Sankyo to conduct research,
clinical trials and commercialization of tivantinib human cancer indications. The agreement previdiea $60 million cash upfront licensing payn
from Daiichi Sankyo to us, which we received in Beber 2008, and an additional $560 million in pt&mevelopment and sales milestone payn
offset by our share of the Phase 3 costs. Upon @angialization, we will receive tiered, double-digilyalties from Daiichi Sankyo on net sales of
tivantinib commensurate with the magnitude of tia@saction. We retain the option to participatéhencommercialization of tivantinib in the U.S. We
and Daiichi Sankyo will share equally the cost®bése 2 and Phase 3 clinical studies, with oueshfdPhase 3 costs payable solely from milestone
and royalty payments by Daiichi Sank:
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The dosing of the first patient in the Phase 3 MAREE clinical trial of tivantinib in NSCLC, annount¢én January 2011, triggered the payment of
a $25 million development milestone from Daiichn8go that was received in February 2011. Revenuthfs agreement is recognized using the
contingency-adjusted performance model. ThrougheBaiper 30, 2012, revenue was recognized basedarpestimated development period through
December 2013. As a result of the October 2012s@®tio discontinue the MARQUEE trial, the devel@mperiod as of October 1, 2012 was
extended to June 2015. Therefore, commencing Wéldurth quarter of 2012, revenue is recognizezt ¢hvis new development period. Under the
previous estimated development period revenuehferagreement was expected to be approximatelyr#lién in the fourth quarter of 2012. Under
the revised development period revenue for thisemgent was $2.1 million in the fourth quarter of2@esulting in a reduction of $2.6 million.

Under the terms of our tivantinib collaborationegment with Daiichi Sankyo we share developmenrtisaagually with our share of Phase 3 costs
funded solely from milestones and royalties. Inheqarter the tivantinib collaboration costs weuinare compared with those of Daiichi Sankyo. If
our costs for the quarter exceed Daiichi Sankyetsrecognize revenue on the amounts due to us timeleontingency adjusted performance model.
Revenue is calculated on a pro-rata basis usingrtteeelapsed from inception of the agreement tverestimated duration of the development period
under the agreement. If our costs for the quareetess than those of Daiichi Sankyo’s, we regmetamount due to Daiichi Sankyo as contra-revenue
in that quarter. To the extent that our share @SeIB collaboration costs exceeds the amount ektoites and royalties received, that excess ischett
against future milestones and royalties if and wis@med and is not reported as contra-revenue.

Our cumulative share of the Daiichi Sankyo Phases3s inception to date through December 31, 2@t2led $63.8 million and we received
milestones of $25.0 million during that period. @umulative share of Phase 3 collaboration costeRaeeded the amount of milestones received
through December 31, 2012 by $38.8 million whicll & netted against future milestones and royslifeany, when earned and has not been rep
as contra-revenue. On January 31, 2013, we annduhatthe first patient had been enrolled in tivetal Phase 3 METIV trial of tivantinib, entitling
us to a $15 million milestone. We will not recey net cash proceeds from this milestone aslitoihetted against our cumulative share of Phase 3
collaboration costs in excess of milestones recedfe$38.8 million at December 31, 2012.

In 2012, our Phase 2 tivantinib collaboration castsirred were less than those of Daiichi Sankyy’$1.4 million which was recognized as
contra-revenue and netted against our tivantiniiicBiaSankyo research and development revenue nOmirefundable share of advance drug
purchases is recognized as contra-revenue aslétederugs are administered to patients. For &z gnded December 31, 2012, $2.5 million of these
drug purchases was also recognized as contra-revéhere were no advance drug purchases in theepelad December 31, 2012.

In 2011, our Phase 2 tivantinib collaboration castsirred were less than those of Daiichi Sankyy'$16.6 million which was recognized as
contra-revenue and netted against our tivantiniiicBiesSankyo research and development revenue nGmirefundable share of advance drug
purchases in 2011 was $5.4 million. These costsem@gnized as contra-revenue as the related dnegadministered to patients. For the year ended
December 31, 2011 $2.9 million of these drug pusebavas also recognized as contra-revenue.

In 2010, our Phase 2 tivantinib collaboration castsirred were less than those of Daiichi Sankypy’'$3.3 million which was recognized as
contra-revenue and netted against our tivantiniiicBisSankyo research and development revenue.€lflvere no advance drug purchases in the year
ended December 31, 2010.

Prepaid expenses and other current assets at Dec8mi2011 included $2.5 million of prepaid Phaskug purchases. This amount was
recognized as contra-revenue in the year endednile=me31, 2012 as the drugs were administered terpgatin the Phase 3 trial.

In November 2012, we completed our research caitlom with Daiichi Sankyo under an agreement eténto in 2008 that was focused on
applications of our proprietary AKI™ technology and know-how. The agreement providea 15 million upfront payment, which we received i
November 2008, research support payments for tietfio years of the collaboration (which was egghfor an additional two years in 201
licensing fees for compounds discovered as a reétiiis research, milestone payments related to
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clinical development, regulatory review and sateg] royalty payments on net sales of compounds fhencollaboration. We retain the option to co-
commercialize licensed products developed undsrapieement in the U.S. In May 2009, we enterexlantagreement with Daiichi Sankyo related to
potential future milestones and royalties for o#tlR ™ collaboration, under which we could receive up total of $265 million in upfront, potential
development and sales milestone payments for eachugt selected for clinical development. Upon caruralization of a licensed product, we would
also receive tiered, double-digit royalties omitt sales. Revenue for this agreement was recajogirg the contingencgejusted performance mot
with an estimated performance period through Nowr2912.

In November 2011, we and Daiichi Sankyo announbecekecution of a license agreement for the dewadop of ARQ 092, the first compound to
emerge from the companies’ AKI™ collaboration. The license agreement provides ekoturights to Daiichi Sankyo for the development,
manufacturing and marketing of ARQ 092 on a worlivbasis. Under this agreement, we received a #liompayment from Daiichi Sankyo in
November 2011

On April 27, 2007, we entered into an exclusiverise agreement with Kyowa Hakko Kirin to develod aammercialize tivantinib in Japan and
parts of Asia. A $3 million portion of an upfromténsing fee was received by the Company undeiatiieement in the first quarter of 2007, anc



additional $27 million in upfront licensing fees sveeceived on May 7, 2007. The agreement includ&8 #illion in upfront and potential
development milestone payments from Kyowa Hakkankio ArQule, including the $30 million cash upftditensing payments. In February 2008,
received a $3 million milestone payment from Kyadakko Kirin, and in September 2010, we receive® anfilion milestone payment. Upon
commercialization, ArQule will receive tiered rotfas in the mid-teen to low-twenty percent rangerfrKyowa Hakko Kirin on net sales of tivantinib.
Kyowa Hakko Kirin will be responsible for all clical development costs and commercialization ottirapound in certain Asian countries, consisting
of Japan, China (including Hong Kong), South Kaeed Taiwan. In addition to the upfront and possiblgulatory milestone payments totaling $123
million, the Company will be eligible for future hastone payments based on the achievement ofrcégiagls of net sales.

The Company will recognize the payments, if anyrea®nue in accordance with its revenue recognjtimities. As of December 31, 2012, the
Company has not recognized any revenue from these siilestone payments, and there can be no assuttzat it will do so in the future. Revenue
for this agreement is recognized using the contingedjusted performance model with an estimatee@ldement period through April 2016.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

December 31 % increase (decrease
2012 2011 2010 2011t0 201 2010 to 201
(in millions)
Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securit@t-term $79.5 $68.2 $80.7 16% (16)%
Marketable securities lo-term 51.Z 40.t 2.2 27% 1779%
Notes payabli 1.7 1.7 1.7 - —
Working capital 53.C 23.2 34.€ 12&% (33)%

December 31

2012 2011 2010
(in millions)

Cash flow from:

Operating activitie: $(34.2) $(23.7) $(34.¢)

Investing activities (20.5) (36.9) 62.2

Financing activitie: 57.¢ 51.2 (43.¢)

Cash flow from operating activitie©ur uses of cash for operating activities have arily consisted of salaries and wages for our eygss,
facility and facility-related costs for our officasid laboratories, fees paid in connection witlcimmesal and clinical studies, laboratory supplési
materials, and professional fees. The sourcesrofash flow from operating activities have congigte@marily of payments received from our
collaborators for services performed or upfrontmpants for future services. For the year ended
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December 31, 2012, our net use of cash of $34lbmilvas primarily driven by the difference betwesash receipts from our collaborators and
payments for operating expenses.

Cash flow from investing activitie®ur net cash used by investing activities of $20ilion in 2012 was primarily comprised of net phases of
marketable securities. The composition and mixashe cash equivalents and marketable securitiescheyge frequently as a result of the Company’s
constant evaluation of conditions in financial metgk the maturity of specific investments, andrmeear term liquidity needs.

Our cash equivalents and marketable securitiesdilpiinclude U.S. Treasury bill funds, money markeds, commercial paper, and U.S. federal
and state agency backed certificates, includingi@ucate securities that have investment gradegst Our cash equivalents and our portfolio of
marketable securities are subject to market rigktdichanges in interest rates. Fixed rate inteeairities may have their market value adversely
impacted due to a rise in interest rates, whilatfiag rate securities may produce less income ¢ixgected if interest rates fall. Due in part tosthe
factors, our future investment income may fall sledrexpectation due to changes in interest rategeomay suffer losses in principal if we are fatce
to sell securities that decline in market value tluehanges in interest rates. ArQule’s marketabtairities portfolio includes $2.1 million (at cpat
December 31, 2012 and 2011, invested in auctieansedturities.

Beginning in the first quarter of 2008 and through®012, certain auction rate securities faileduattion due to sell orders exceeding buy orders.
On November 3, 2008, the Company received a putoftom UBS AG to repurchase auction rate seasitiwned by the Company at par value at
any time during the period from June 30, 2010 tghoduly 2, 2012 (the “Put Option”). The Companyasted for the Put Option as a freestanding
financial instrument and elected to record the @alnder the fair value option for financial assetd financial liabilities.

On June 30, 2010, the company exercised the PitrOgind in July 2010, UBS AG redeemed at par vall$22.9 million of the Company’s
auction rate securities held by UBS AG that werstamding at June 30, 2010. Throughout 2010 UBSédeemed at par value a total of $56.9
million of the Company’s auction rate securitietdhgy UBS AG, including those redeemed from thereise of the Put Option. The Company used a
portion of the $56.9 million of 2010 redemptiongétire the $44.4 million notes payable to UBS A@tthad been outstanding at December 31, 2



The credit line at UBS AG was cancelled in July @01

Cash flow from financing activitieQur net cash provided by financing activities of $million in the year ended December 31, 201Xisted of
$56.3 million from the net proceeds of our Aprill20stock offering and additional cash inflow of@nillion from the exercise of stock options and
employee stock plan purchases.

Our net cash provided by financing activities ol ®million in the year ended December 31, 2015isted of $46.8 million from the net proce:
of our January 2011 stock offering and additioraalcinflow of $4.5 million from the exercise of ekooptions and employee stock plan purchases.

Our net cash used by financing activities of $48illion in the year ended December 31, 2010 was ftloe $44.4 million payment on our notes
payable, partially offset by additional cash inflofs$0.8 million from stock option exercises andpdoyee stock plan purchases.

Our cash requirements may vary materially from ¢hosw planned depending upon the results of oug discovery and development strategies,
our ability to enter into additional corporate eblbrations and the terms of such collaboratiorssilt® of research and development, unanticipated
required capital expenditures, competitive andrietdgical advances, acquisitions and other faciiescannot guarantee that we will be able to
develop any of our drug candidates into a commigpc@duct. It is likely we will need to raise addital capital or incur indebtedness to continue to
fund our operations in the future. Our ability &ise additional funds will depend on financial, smmic and market conditions, and due to global
capital and credit market conditions or for otheasons, we may be unable to raise capital wheredeed on terms favorable to us. If necessary funds
are not available, we may have to delay, reducadbpe of, or eliminate some of our developmengzms, potentially delaying the time to market
for any of our product candidates.

In April 2012, we received net proceeds of $56.8iom from our 8,222,500 share stock offering. ilght of this cash inflow, cash, cash equivalents
and marketable securities on hand at December03®, and
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our collaboration agreements, we expect that oailae cash and cash equivalents will be sufficierfinance our working capital and capital
requirements well into 2015.

Our contractual obligations were comprised of tifving as of December 31, 2012 (in thousands):

Payment due by period

Less than More than

Contractual Obligations Total 1 year 1-3 years 3-5 years 5 years
Note payable $170Cc $170C § — § — § =
Operating lease obligatiol 7,327 3,07¢ 4,25¢ — —
Purchase obligatior 5,89¢ 5,89:¢ — — —
Total $14,92( $10,66¢ $4,25¢ § — § —

Purchase obligations are comprised primarily oboutced preclinical and clinical trial expenses pagments to license certain intellectual
property to support the Company’s research efftmterest on notes payable is variable and is eedudrom the table above. Notes payable currently
bears interest at LIBOR plus 125 basis points. Unde tivantinib collaboration with Daiichi Sankyour share of Phase 3 costs are payable solely
from future milestones and royalties. As of Decengife 2012 our portion of these costs was $38.8aniand is excluded from the table above. These
costs are netted against any future milestonesayadties due to us. Daiichi Sankyo has the rightffset future milestone and royalty payments by
this amount.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

A “critical accounting policy” is one which is botimportant to the portrayal of the Company’s finahcondition and results and requires
management’s most difficult, subjective or comgledgments, often as a result of the need to makmates about the effect of matters that are
inherently uncertain. Management believes the Wahg are critical accounting policies. For addidimformation, please see the discussion of our
significant accounting policies in Note 2 to th@dicial Statements included in Item 8 of this FAO¥K.

Research and Development Revenue

Research and development revenue is generatedrityithaough collaborative research and developnagmeements. The terms of the agreements
may include nonrefundable upfront payments, fundangesearch and development, milestone paymemntsayalties on any product sales derived
from collaborations.

The Company adopted the FASB issued ASU No. 201®&Venue Recognition—Milestone Metloda prospective basis on January 1, 2011
decision to use the milestone method of revenuegration is a policy election. The milestone metimoaly impact any new collaboration agreements
or material modifications to existing agreememighie event we elect the policy of utilizing thdestone method to recognize substantive milestc



Research and development payments associated wvitotlaboration agreements in effect prior to Jagu, 2011 are recognized as research and
development revenue using the contingency adjysteidrmance model. Under this model, when paymam@®arned, revenue is immediately
recognized on a pro-rata basis in the period weegeltthe milestone based on the time elapsed fnoepiion of the agreement to the time the
milestone is earned over the estimated duratidheotlevelopment period under the agreement. There#ie remaining portion of the milestone
payment is recognized on a straight-line basis tweremaining estimated development period urteagreement. This estimated development
period may ultimately be shorter or longer depegdipon the outcome of the development work, resyithi accelerated or deferred recognition of the
development revenue. Royalty payments will be raczsgl as revenue when earned. The costs assowitteshtisfying research and development
contracts are included in research and developmense as incurred.

For our tivantinib collaboration with Daiichi Sardywe compare the collaboration costs we incur #itise of Daiichi Sankyo each quarter. If our
costs for the quarter exceed Daiichi Sankyo’s veegeize
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revenue on the amounts due to us under the contiygedjusted performance model. Revenue is cakulilan a pro-rata basis using the time elapsed
from inception of the agreement over the estimdtgdtion of the development period under the agesenif our costs for the quarter are less than
those of Daiichi Sankyo’s, we report the amount uBaiichi Sankyo as contra-revenue in that qua&mounts recognized as contra-revenue are
netted against our tivantinib Daiichi Sankyo reshand development revenue. To the extent thaslwane of Phase 3 collaboration costs exceeds the
amount of milestones and royalties received, tRe¢ss is netted against future milestones andtiegaf and when earned and is not reported as
contra-revenue.

On November 10, 2011, we and Daiichi Sankyo annedtice execution of a license agreement for theldpment of a new AKT inhibitor, ARQ
092. The license agreement provides exclusivesighDaiichi Sankyo for the development, manufastuand marketing of ARQ 092 on a worldwide
basis. Revenue for this agreement is recognized)#snancial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB")cAanting Standards Update No. 2009-13,
Multiple-Deliverable Revenue Arrangeme(itaSU 2009-13"). Under ASU 20093 all undelivered items under an agreement aidetivinto separat
units of accounting based on whether the deliverpbdvides stand-alone value to the licensee. Tdmegany determines the best estimate selling price
(BESP) for each unit of accounting based upon mamagt’s judgment and including factors such asodisted cash flows, estimated direct expenses
and other costs and probability of successful cutof clinical trials.

Stock-Based Compensation

Our stock-based compensation cost is measuree grémt date, based on the calculated fair valikeeodward, and is recognized as an expense
over the employees’ requisite service period (gahethe vesting period of the equity grant). Wéreate the fair value of stock options using the
Black-Scholes valuation model. Key input assumggtiosed to estimate the fair value of stock optinokide the exercise price of the award, expected
option term, expected volatility of our stock oviee option’s expected term, risk-free interest mater the option’s expected term, and the expected
annual dividend yield. We believe that the valuatiechnique and approach utilized to develop thdetping assumptions are appropriate in
calculating the fair values of our stock optionrgsa

Cash Equivalents and Marketable Securities

We consider all highly liquid investments purchaséttin three months of original maturity date t® ¢tash equivalents. We invest our available
cash primarily in U.S. Treasury bill funds, monegrket funds, commercial paper, and U.S. federalséatg agency backed certificates, including
auction rate securities that have investment gratiigegs. Auction rate securities are structuredhwshort-term interest reset dates of generallytless
90 days, but with contractual maturities that camell in excess of ten years. At the end of easktrperiod, which occurs every seven to twengy
days, investors can sell or continue to hold tloeistes at par value. Our auction rate secur#iesclassified as trading securities. We generally
classify our marketable securities as availablesde at the time of purchase and re-evaluate designation as of each balance sheet date. The
Company classifies its investments as either ctioetong-term based upon the investments’ contedenaturities and the Company’s ability and
intent to convert such instruments to cash withia gear. We report available-for-sale investmenfainvalue as of each balance sheet date and
include any unrealized gains and, to the extentn@eetemporary, unrealized losses in stockholdepsite. Realized gains and losses are determined
using the specific identification method and amuded in other income in the statement of openatend comprehensive loss. Certain of our
marketable securities are classified as tradingrgezs and any changes in the fair value of treesaurities are recorded as other income in the
statement of operations and comprehensive loss.

We conduct quarterly reviews to determine thevalue of our investment portfolio and to identifydaevaluate each investment that has an
unrealized loss, in accordance with the meaningttuér-than-temporary impairment and its applicatmnoertain investments. An unrealized loss exists
when the current fair value of an individual setyuis less than its amortized cost basis. In trenethat the cost basis of a security exceedsiits f
value, we evaluate, among other factors, the duratf the period that, and extent to which, the ¥alue is less than cost basis, the financialthezl
and business outlook for the issuer, including stduand sector performance, and operational aahéing cash flow factors, overall market
conditions and trends, our intent to sell the itwvest and if it is more likely than not that we vdbe required to sell
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the investment before its anticipated recovery.dadlized losses on available-for-sale securitiesatemdetermined to be temporary, and not related
to credit loss, are recorded in accumulated otbemprehensive income loss.

For available-for-sale debt securities with unzdilosses, we perform an analysis to assess whethiatend to sell or whether we would more
likely than not be required to sell the securitjobe the expected recovery of the amortized cosisb&Vhere we intend to sell a security, or may be
required to do so, the security’s decline in falue is deemed to be other-than-temporary andutharhount of the unrealized loss is reflectednia t
statement of operations and comprehensive loss esgirment loss.

Regardless of our intent to sell a security, weéquer additional analysis on all securities with ealized losses to evaluate losses associated with
the creditworthiness of the security. Credit lossesidentified where we do not expect to receaghdlows sufficient to recover the amortized cost
basis of a security.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
The following are the results of operations for ylears ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010:

Revenue

% increase (decrease

2012 2011 2010 201110201 2010 to 201
(in millions)
Research and development reve $36.4  $47.2 $29.: (23)% 62%

2012 as compared to 201Research and development revenue in 2012 was csedpof revenue from the Daiichi Sankyo developragnt
research collaboration agreements entered int0®8,2he November 2011 license agreement with Bis8ankyo for the development of ARQ 092,
and the 2007 Kyowa Hakko Kirin exclusive licenseeggnent.

Under the terms of our tivantinib collaborationegment with Daiichi Sankyo we share developmertsaagually with our share of Phase 3 costs
funded solely from milestones and royalties. Inheqarter the tivantinib collaboration costs thatincur are compared with those of Daiichi Sankyo.
If our costs for the quarter exceed Daiichi Sankyw@/e recognize revenue on the amounts due todey time contingency adjusted performance mu
Revenue is calculated on a pro-rata basis usingrtteeelapsed from inception of the agreement tverestimated duration of the development period
under the agreement. If our costs for the quartetess than those of Daiichi Sankyo’s, we regmetamount due to Daiichi Sankyo as contra-revenue
in that quarter. To the extent that our share @s@I8 collaboration costs exceeds the amount ektoites and royalties received, that excess ischett
against future milestones and royalties if and wesemed and is not reported as contra-revenue.

Our cumulative share of the Daiichi Sankyo Phases3s inception to date through December 31, 2@1&led $63.8 million and we received
milestones of $25.0 million during that period. @umulative share of Phase 3 collaboration costeRkaeeded the amount of milestones received
through December 31, 2012 by $38.8 million whicll & netted against future milestones and royglifeany, when earned and has not been rep
as contra-revenue. On January 31, 2013, we annduhatthe first patient had been enrolled in tivetal Phase 3 METIV trial of tivantinib, entitling
us to a $15 million milestone. We will not recey net cash proceeds from this milestone aslitoihetted against our cumulative share of Phase 3
collaboration costs in excess of milestones recedfeéb38.8 million at December 31, 2012.

In 2012, our tivantinib collaboration costs incutweere less than those of Daiichi Sankyo’s by $iilflon which was recognized as cont@enut
and netted against our tivantinib Daiichi Sankysesech and development revenue. Our non-refundable of advance drug purchases is recognized
as contra-revenue as the related drugs are adergusto patients. For the year ended December@32, 2.5 million of these drug purchases was also
recognized as contra-revenue. There were no adwhngepurchases in the year ended December 31, 2012

The $10.9 million revenue decrease in 2012 wasjpatly due to a $10.0 million decrease in reveraeognized from Daiichi Sankyo ARQ 092
milestone we received in 2011, a $4.4 million daseein revenue recognized from the license agreewigdnKyowa Hakko Kirin, a $10.2 million
decrease in revenue
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recognized on the milestone we received from thicbigSankyo tivantinib program in 2011, a $2.2lioih revenue decrease from our Daiichi Sankyo
AKIP ™ agreement, and a $2.6 million decrease in revessidting from the extension of the developmentqeedf our Daiichi Sankyo tivantinib
agreement. These revenue decreases were parffalty by a $2.8 million increase from our Daiicldrtkyo ARQ 092 agreement and lower contra-
revenue of $15.7 million associated with our Ddi8hnkyo tivantinib program.

2011 as compared to 201Besearch and development revenue in 2011 was csedpof revenue from the Daiichi Sankyo developragnt
research collaboration agreements entered int608,2he November 2011 license agreement with Big8ankyo for the development of ARQ 092,
and the 2007 Kyowa Hakko Kirin exclusive licenseeggnent



In 2011, our tivantinib collaboration costs incufngere less than those of Daiichi Sankyo’s by $16il6on which was recognized as contra-
revenue and netted against our tivantinib Daii@rikyo research and development revenue. Our nondable share of advance drug purchases in
2011 was $5.4 million. These costs are recognisezbatra-revenue as the related drugs are admniste patients. For the year ended December 31,
2011 $2.9 million of these drug purchases was l@sognized as contra-revenue.

Our cumulative share of the Daiichi Sankyo Phases3s inception to date through December 31, 2@tdled $35.6 million and we received
milestones of $25.0 million during that period. @umulative share of Phase 3 collaboration costeRaeeded the amount of milestones received
through December 31, 2011 by $10.6 million whicll b& netted against future milestones and royaltteen earned and has not been reported as
contra-revenue.

Prepaid expenses and other current assets at Dec8mh®2011 included $2.5 million of prepaid Phaskug purchases which was recognized as
contra-revenue in 2012 as the drugs were admieister patients in the Phase 3 trial.

In 2010, our tivantinib collaboration costs incagere less than those of Daiichi Sankyo’s by $8ilBon which was recognized as cont@enut
and netted against our tivantinib Daiichi Sankysesgch and development revenue. There were no eeldsng purchases in the year ended Decembe
31, 2010.

The increase in revenues in 2011 was due to armaserin revenues of $4.0 million from our licengeeament with Kyowa Hakko Kirin, $5.1
million from our Daiichi Sankyo AKIFM program and $10.0 million from our November 20t&tise agreement with Daiichi Sankyo for the
development of ARQ 092. Offsetting these increaszs a net decrease of $1.0 million in revenue fooimDaiichi Sankyo tivantinib program.
Although revenue for that program increased by $dillion in 2011, the amount of contra-revenue@ased by $16.2 million as our share of
development costs associated with the MARQUEE imizieased.

Research and development

% increase (decrease

2012 2011 2010 2011 to 201 2010 to 201
(in millions)
Research and developme $34.C $45.C $47.C (25)% (4)%

2012 as compared to 201The $11.0 million decrease in research and devedopexpense in 2012 was primarily due to an $8llfomidecrease
in outsourced clinical and product developmentosiated to our phase 1 and 2 programs for timénénd pipeline programs. Other cost decreases
include $1.0 million labor related costs from regdihieadcount, $0.4 million for lab expenses, and 80llion for professional fees. At December 31,
2012, we had 72 employees dedicated to our reseactdevelopment program, down from 75 employe&seaéember 31, 2011.

2011 as compared to 201The $2.0 million decrease in research and develapm@ense in 2011 was primarily due to a $1.8ioniltlecrease in
outsourced clinical and product development cadtged to our phase 1 and 2 programs for tivantisiibecember 31, 2011, we had 75 employees
dedicated to our research and development progtanwn from 86 employees at December 31, 2010.

Overview

Our research and development expense consistsriyimisalaries and related expenses for persqmosts of contract manufacturing services,
costs of facilities and equipment, fees paid tdgssional service providers in conjunction with olimical trials, fees paid to research organizaim
conjunction with
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pre<linical animal studies, costs of materials useresearch and development, consulting, licensespodsored research fees paid to third partie
depreciation of associated laboratory equipmenteWeect our research and development expensergage as we continue to develop our portfolio
of oncology programs.

We have not accumulated and tracked our intersédtical research and development costs or ouopeet and personnel-related costs on a
program-by-program basis. Our employee and infuasiire resources are allocated across severatppgd many of our costs are directed to
broadly applicable research endeavors. As a regeltannot state the costs incurred for each obnaology programs on a program-by-program
basis.

The expenses incurred by us to third parties ferghinical and clinical trials in the current yeard since inception of our lead clinical stage
program were as follows (in millions):

Year Ended
Oncology program Current status ~ December 31, 2012  Program-to-date

c-Met progran—Tivantinib Phase ! $ 4.2 g 79.2



Our future research and development expenses posugf our current and future oncology programis laé subject to numerous uncertainties in
timing and cost to completion. We test potentialducts in numerous pdinical studies for safety, toxicology, and effiga We may conduct multip
clinical trials for each product. As we obtain résdrom trials, we may elect to discontinue oragetlinical trials for certain products in orderfazus
our resources on more promising products. Compleifaclinical trials may take several years or margd the length of time generally varies
substantially according to the type, complexityyelty, and intended use of a product. It is notawal for the pre-clinical and clinical developmeht
each of these types of products to take nine y@mamsore, and for total development costs to ex&&fd million for each product.

We estimate that clinical trials of the type getlgnaeeded to secure new drug approval are typicmpleted over the following timelines:

Clinical Phase Estimated Completion Perioc
Phase 1 1-2 years
Phase 2 2-3 years
Phase 3 2-4 years

The duration and the cost of clinical trials mayywsignificantly over the life of a project as &uét of differences arising during clinical
development, including, among others, the following

* the number of clinical sites included in the trjals

« the length of time required to enroll suitable pats;

« the number of patients that ultimately participatéhe trials;

« the duration of patient follow-up to ensure theeadz® of long-term product-related adverse events; a

« the efficacy and safety profile of the product.

An element of our business strategy is to purseedhearch and development of a broad pipelineaafyzts. This is intended to allow us to
diversify the risks associated with our researah development expenditures. As a result, we belevduture capital requirements and future
financial success do not substantially depend groae product. To the extent we are unable to karildl maintain a broad pipeline of products, our
dependence on the success of one or a few proidactases.

Our strategy includes entering into alliance areamgnts with third parties to participate in theelepment and commercialization of our products,
such as our collaboration agreements with Daiiemkyo and Kyowa Hakko Kirin. In the event that thirarties have control over the clinical trial
process for a product, the estimated completioa daiuld be under control of that third party rattiem under our control. We cannot forecast with
any degree of certainty whether our products vélshbject to future collaborative arrangementsoov Buch arrangements would affect our
development plans or capital requirements.

51

As a result of the uncertainties discussed aboeanake significant estimates in determining theation and completion costs of our oncology
programs or when and to what extent we will receizgh inflows from the commercialization and sdla product. Our inability to complete our
oncology programs in a timely manner or our failtwenter into appropriate collaborative agreemeatsd significantly increase our capital
requirements and could adversely impact our liquidihese uncertainties could force us to seektiaahdil, external sources of financing from time-to-
time in order to continue with our product develgmnstrategy. Our inability to raise additional italp or to do so on terms reasonably acceptable to
us, would jeopardize the future success of oummssi.

General and administrative

% increase (decrease

2012 2011 2010 2011 to 201% 2010 to 201
(in millions)
General and administrati\ $13.¢ $13.2 $13.5 4% (1)%

2012 compared to 2011General and administrative expense in 2012 irse@@rimarily due to higher stock-based compensa&tipense. General
and administrative headcount was 25 at Decembe2@R and 26 at December 31, 20



2011 compared to 2010General and administrative expense in 2011 deeckslightly from 2010. General and administratieadcount was 26 at
December 31, 2011 and 29 at December 31, 2010.

Interest income, interest expense and other income

% increase (decrease

2012 2011 2010 2011 to 201z 2010 to 201

(in thousands)

Interest incomt $44¢ $317 $61¢ 40% (49)%
Interest expens (26) (25) (274) 4% (91)%
Other income 11z 20 26€ 465% (92)%

Interest income is comprised of interest incomeveerfrom our portfolio of cash, cash equivalerid investments. Interest income increased in
2012 due primarily to the increase in our investopemtfolio from our April 2012 stock offering. latest income decreased in 2011 primarily due to
lower interest rates earned on our portfolio. les¢éexpense was incurred on our notes payableemdated in 2011 due to a $44.4 million payment in
2010 of our notes payable.

Other income in 2012 includes a $113 thousand fgain the increase in fair value of our auction rsgeurities. Other income in 2011 includes a
$20 thousand gain from the increase in fair valueuo auction rate securities. Other income in 2bibudes a $4.4 million gain from the increase in
fair value of our auction rate securities and d $billion loss from the decrease in fair value of ®ut Option upon exercise. Other income in 2010
also includes $1.0 million of cash grants for dfyalig therapeutic discovery projects that were aledrunder the Patient Protection and Affordable
Care Act of 2010.

Provision for income taxes

There was no current or deferred tax expense &yéiars ended December 31, 2012 and 2011. The @gmpeorded a $0.6 million federal
income tax benefit in 2010 attributable to an étecit made in the second quarter of 2010 undesliagpn that allowed net operating losses to affse
100% of alternative minimum tax (“AMT"). Prior tdis legislation, only 90% of AMT could be offset bgt operating losses and accordingly in 2009
the Company recorded a $0.6 million federal incéaxeexpense for AMT. The Company received a refar2D10 of the $0.6 million AMT paid in
2009.

The American Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012 (“ATR Artvas enacted on January 2, 2013 which, among dilregs, provides a retroactive two-
year extension of the U.S. research and developragmtredits that had previously expired on Decam3fie 2011. We have not recorded the benefit of
these credits for the 2012 year. We will recordtibeefit from these credits in the first quartecafendar year 2013 as a result of the enactmetheof
ATR Act. We expect to record a benefit related @2 Research Credit of approximately $1,231, afudl @aluation allowance, resulting in a net
benefit of $0.

52

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

From time to time, new accounting pronouncemergssaued by the Financial Accounting Standards @¢&ASB”) or other standard setting
bodies that are adopted by the Company as of tefegal effective date. Unless otherwise discussedbelieve that the impact of recently issued
standards that are not yet effective will not haveaterial impact on our financial position or fesof operations upon adoption.

In May 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011-0&4ir Value Measurement (Topic 820): Amendmentsctueve Common Fair Value
Measurement and Disclosure Requirements in U.S.FG# IFRS!”. This newly issued accounting standard clariffes application of certain
existing fair value measurement guidance and exp#reldisclosures for fair value measurementsaieestimated using significant unobservable
(Level 3) inputs. This ASU is effective on a prosipee basis for annual and interim reporting pesibéginning on or after December 15, 2011. We
adopted this standard on January 1, 2012 and itatittave a material impact on our financial positbr results of operations

In June 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011-05pfmprehensive Income (Topic 220This newly issued accounting standard (1) elabés the
option to present the components of other compEherncome as part of the statement of changs®ikholdersequity; (2) requires the consecut
presentation of the statement of net income aner@bmprehensive income; and (3) requires an etipyesent reclassification adjustments on the
face of the financial statements from other comgnsive income to net income. The amendments inAtBld do not change the items that must be
reported in other comprehensive income or whertean of other comprehensive income must be recladgié net income nor do the amendments
affect how earnings per share is calculated orgotesl. This ASU is required to be applied retrosipely and is effective for fiscal years and interi
periods within those years beginning after Decembe2011. As this accounting standard only reguirghanced disclosure, the adoption of this
standard on January 1, 2012 did not impact ounfiiz position or results of operations.

In February 2013, the Financial Accounting Stand@8dard (“FASB”) issued an amendment to the acéogrguidance on reporting amounts
reclassified out of accumulated other compreherisis@me. The guidance requires an entity to refereffect of significant reclassifications out of
accumulated other comprehensive income on the cégpdine items in net income if the amount beiaglassed is required under United St



Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAPY)lte reclassified in its entirety to net incomer. &itver amounts that are not required under
United States GAAP to be reclassified in their ratyi to net income, an entity is required to creference to other disclosures required under dnite
States GAAP that provide additional detail aboosthamounts. The guidance is effective prospegtieelreporting periods beginning after Decem
15, 2012. The Company does not expect the adopfithris guidance will have a material impact onfiigncial statements.

ITEM  QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARK  ET RISK
TA.

We own financial instruments that are sensitiventoket risk as part of our investment portfolio. Wave implemented policies regarding the
amount and credit ratings of investments. Our itaest portfolio is used to preserve our capitallinis used to fund operations, including our
research and development activities. Our investsnarg evaluated quarterly to determine the fauevalf the portfolio.

Our cash and marketable securities typically ineludS. Treasury bill funds, money market funds, mmrcial paper and U.S. federal and state
agency backed certificates, including auction sateurities that have strong credit ratings.

Our cash equivalents and our portfolio of markedaglcurities are subject to market risk due to gbain interest rates. Fixed rate interest
securities may have their market value adversepaited due to a rise in interest rates, while ifhgatate securities may produce less income than
expected if interest rates fall. Due in part tosthéactors, our future investment income may fatirsof expectation due to changes in interessrate
we may suffer losses in principal if we are fortedell securities that decline in market value ttuehanges in interest rates.

Auction rate securities are structured with sherirt interest reset dates of generally less thaihe98, but with contractual maturities that can be
well in excess of ten years. At the end of eachtrpsriod, which occurs every seven to twenty-edghts, investors can sell or continue to hold the
securities at par value. If
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auction rate securities fail an auction, due tbarelers exceeding buy orders, the funds associgitlda failed auction would not be accessible luanti
successful auction occurred, a buyer was founddmithe auction process, the underlying secunitiatured or a settlement with the underwriter is
reached. Beginning in the first quarter of 2008 #mdughout 2012, certain auction rate securitdéled at auction due to sell orders exceeding buy
orders. At December 31, 2012 we held $1.8 millibawction rate securities at fair value.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of ArQuihc.,

In our opinion, the accompanying balance sheetdtandelated statements of operations and compseleeloss, of stockholders’ equity (deficit),
and of cash flows present fairly, in all materiegpects, the financial position of ArQule, IncDatcember 31, 2012 and 2011, and the results of its
operations and its cash flows for each of the tlgeges in the period ended December 31, 2012 ifoomity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America. Alsounapinion, the Company maintained, in all materésipects, effective internal control over finahcia
reporting as of December 31, 2012, based on aitsiablished ilnternal Contro—Integrated Frameworissued by the Committee of Sponsor



Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSOg Thmpany’s management is responsible for thesadial statements, for maintaining
effective internal control over financial reportiagd for its assessment of the effectiveness efriat control over financial reporting, included in
Management's Report on Internal Control Over FimegriReporting appearing under Item 9A. Our respailii is to express opinions on these
financial statements and on the Company’s intezaatrol over financial reporting based on our ing¢gd audits. We conducted our audits in
accordance with the standards of the Public Compapunting Oversight Board (United States). Thetsedards require that we plan and perform
the audits to obtain reasonable assurance abouhertibe financial statements are free of mateniabtatement and whether effective internal control
over financial reporting was maintained in all nmeterespects. Our audits of the financial statetmé@mcluded examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the fiahstatements, assessing the accounting prirciyded and significant estimates made by
management, and evaluating the overall financééstent presentation. Our audit of internal cordx@r financial reporting included obtaining an
understanding of internal control over financigloging, assessing the risk that a material weakagists, and testing and evaluating the design and
operating effectiveness of internal control basedhe assessed risk. Our audits also included ipeirig such other procedures as we considered
necessary in the circumstances. We believe thatadits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions

A company'’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonablesssuregarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statetsiéor external purposes in accordance with gelyesatepted accounting principles. A company’s
internal control over financial reporting includi®se policies and procedures that (i) pertaif¢onbaintenance of records that, in reasonableldetai
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii)jat®e reasonable assurance that transactions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation ofi¢iahstatements in accordance with generally aecepccounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made ordg@ordance with authorizations of management amdtdirs of the company; and (iii) provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or tidetgction of unauthorized acquisition, use, opatstion of the company’s assets that could have a
material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢tisstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods atgect to the risk that controls may become inadégjbecause of changes in conditions, or that the
degree of compliance with the policies or procedunay deteriorate.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
March 14, 2013
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ARQULE, INC.

BALANCE SHEETS

December 31

2012 2011

(IN THOUSANDS,
EXCEPT SHARE AND
PER SHARE DATA)

ASSETS
Current assett
Cash and cash equivalel $ 14,327 $ 11,09¢
Marketable securitie-short term 64,94 57,07:
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 344 4,02(
Total current asse 79,61* 72,18¢
Marketable securiticlong term 51,32¢ 40,47"
Property and equipment, r 1,99: 2,93¢
Other asset 1,25¢ 1,44¢
Total asset $134,19: $117,05:

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS ' EQUITY
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable and accrued expel ¢ 10,16 ¢ 11,93:
Notes payabli 1,70(C 1,70(
Current portion of deferred reven 14,23: 34,70¢
Current portion of deferred gain on sale leasel 552 552
Total current liabilities 26,64’ 48,88¢
Deferred revenue, net of current port 25,73 37,097
Deferred gain on sale leaseback, net of curreriqgec 784 1,33¢

Total liabilities 53,16+ 87,32:



Commitments and contingencies (Note
Stockholder’ equity:

Preferred stock, $0.01 par value; 1,000,000 stear#®rized; no shares issued or outstan — —
Common stock, $0.01 par value; 100,000,000 shartb®razed;
62,399,827 and 53,825,567 shares issued and oditsgast

December 31, 2012 and 2011, respecti' 624 53¢
Additional paic-in capital 500,65! 438,67
Accumulated other comprehensive income (I 102 (6)
Accumulated defici (420,35.) (409,48()

Total stockholder' equity 81,02¢ 29,72¢

Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity § 134,19: $117,05;

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktfiancial statements.
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ARQULE, INC.

STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

2012 2011 2010

(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER

SHARE DATA)
Revenue
Research and development reve $ 36,41« $47,31( $ 29,221
Costs and expense
Research and developme 33,96¢ 45,01: 47,03¢
General and administratiy 13,85: 13,37 13,47,
47,81¢ 58,38¢ 60,511
Loss from operation (12,409 (12,079 (31,290
Interest income 44% 317 61¢
Interest expens (26) (25 (274)
Other income 113 20 26€
Loss before income taxi (20,872) (20,76%) (30,679
Benefit from income taxe — — 55C
Net loss (10,872 (10,762 (30,129
Unrealized gain (loss) on marketable secur 10¢€ 1 (62
Comprehensive los $(10,769 _$(10,76) _$(30,19)
Basic and diluted net loss per shz
Net loss per shai § (019 ¢ (020 _§ (0.69
Weighted average basic and diluted common shatssaading 59,82! 52,77¢ 44,52¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktfirancial statements.
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ARQULE, INC.
STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)

(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARE DATA)

COMMON STOCK

ACCUMULATED STOCK-
ADDITIONAL OTHER HOLDERS'



Balance at December 31, 2C

Stock option exercises and issuance of s

Employee stock purchase pl

Stock based compensation
expense

Change in unrealized gain (loss) on markete
securities

Net loss

Balance at December 31, 2C

Issuance of common stock from stock offering,
net

Stock option exercises and issuance of s

Employee stock purchase pl

Stock based compensation
expense

Change in unrealized gain (loss) on marketable
securities

Net loss

Balance at December 31, 2C

Issuance of common stock from stock offerii
net

Stock option exercises and issuance of s

Employee stock purchase pl

Stock based compensati
expense

Change in unrealized gain (loss) on markete
securities

Net loss

Balance at December 31, 2C

Cash flows from operating activitie
Net loss

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash usegerating activities

Depreciation and amortizatic

Amortization of premium/discount on marketable séi@s

Amortization of deferred gain on sale leasek
Non-cash stock compensati
Loss on auction rate securities put opi
Gain on auction rate securiti

Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Prepaid expenses and other current a:
Other lon¢-term asset
Accounts payable and accrued exper
Deferred revenu

Net cash used in operating activit
Cash flows from investing activitie

PAR PAID-IN COMPREHENSIVE ACCUMULATED EQUITY
SHARES VALUE CAPITAL INCOME/(LOSS) DEFICIT (DEFICIT)
44,772,94 $44¢ $379,62: $ 55 ¢ (368,589 $11,53¢
43,62: 1 282 284
156,76 1 55C 551
3,25¢ 3,25¢
(62) (62
(30,129 (30,129
44,973,33 45C 383,71 (7) (398,719 (14,567
8,050,001 80 46,67¢ 46,75¢
692,91t 7 3,93t 3,94:
109,31t 1 522 524
3,83( 3,83(
1 1
(10,762) (10,762
53,825,56 53¢ 438,67 (6) (409,48() 29,72¢
8,222,501 82 56,17+ 56,25¢
254,89: 3 1,347 1,35(C
96,867 1 32z 322
4,13t 4,13t
10¢ 10¢
(10,879) (10,872)
62,399,82 $624 $500,65! 8 102 $  (420,35) $81,02¢
The accompanying notes are an integral part oktfirancial statements.
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ARQULE, INC.
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,
2012 2011 2010
(IN THOUSANDS)
¢ (10,877 ¢ (10,767) $(30,129)
1,06¢ 1,17: 1,42t
1,87:¢ 1,117 1,13C
(552) (552) (552)
4,13t 3,83( 3,25¢
— — 5,074
(119 (20) (4,362
3,67¢ (2,909 1,357
191 (68 (53)
(1,769 (4,909 4,47¢
(31,83) (10,65() (16,447
(34,209 (23,739 (34,816




Purchases of marketable securi (121,499 (185,969 (91,489

Proceeds from sale or maturity of marketable sées 101,12: 149,71 154,12¢
Purchases of property and equipm (1179) (599 (357)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activi (20,499 (36,84¢) 62,28
Cash flows from financing activitie
Payment of notes payat — — (44,400
Proceeds from stock offering, r 56,25¢ 46,75¢ —
Proceeds from stock option exercises and emplaype& plan purchase 1,67: 4,46¢ 83t
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activi 57,92¢ 51,22: (43,56%)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis 3,23 (9,367) (16,094
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of pe 11,09¢ 20,45° 36,55!
Cash and cash equivalents, end of pe § 14,32 § 11,09! § 20,45

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION (I N THOUSANDS):
The Company paid interest on debt of $26, $25 @¥dl$h 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively.
The Company paid no taxes in 2012 or 2011 andveda tax refund of $550 in 2010 of taxes paidda®
The accompanying notes are an integral part oktfirancial statements.
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ARQULE, INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARE AND PER SHARE DATA)
1. ORGANIZATION AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS

We are a clinicabtage biotechnology company organized as a Delaggapmration in 1993 engaged in the research amelaement of innovativ:
cancer therapeutics. Our mission is to produce Irdrugs with differentiated mechanisms of actioattwill extend the lives of our patients. These
drugs target biological pathways implicated in deviange of cancers. We employ technologies suchira&rQule Kinase Inhibitor Platform (“AKIP
T™M™) to design and develop drugs that have the piatietat fulfill this mission.

Our lead product candidate is tivantinib (ARQ 1%#),orally administered, small molecule inhibitbtiee c-Met receptor tyrosine kinase (“c-
MET") and its biological pathway. C-MET is a prorimg target for cancer therapy, based on its matiples in cancerous cell proliferation, tumor
spread, new blood vessel formation and resistamcertain drug therapies. We and our partnerscbia8ankyo Co., Ltd. (“Daiichi Sankyo”) and
Kyowa Hakko Kirin Co., Ltd. (“Kyowa Hakko Kirin")are implementing a clinical development programigtesd to realize the broad potential of
tivantinib as a single agent and in combinatiorhwither anti-cancer therapies in a number of deseafications. Our strategy is to focus on the most
promising indications within our clinical prograrased upon continually generated and updated @atamost advanced indication is liver cancer
(“hepatocellular carcinoma” or “HCC"). We are alsampleting earlier-stage combination therapy tneith tivantinib and other antiancer agents th
may provide data to support later-stage trialsdiditfonal indications.

On January 31, 2013, we announced that the fitsgehad been enrolled in the pivotal Phase 3 METill of tivantinib for patients diagnosed
with HCC who have received one or two prior systeaniti-cancer therapies. The METIV trial is a ramilced, double-blind, controlled study of
previously treated patients with MET-high inopeebICC who will receive tivantinib as a single agenplacebo. The primary endpoint of this trial is
overall survival (“OS”), and the secondary endpdsrprogression-free survival (“PFS”). Approximat@&00 patients are planned to be enrolled at
approximately 120 clinical sites worldwide. Thigltiis being conducted under a Special Protocok8ssient (“SPA”) agreement with the U.S. Food
and Drug Administration (“FDA"). The METIV trial blds upon the results of a randomized, double-blpldcebo controlled, Phase 2 trial in HCC
announced in January 2012 demonstrating that tesdtwith tivantinib as single agent therapy produaestatistically significant improvement in the
primary endpoint of time-to-progression (“TTP”) pneviously treated patients. Patients with higkeels of MET who were treated with tivantinib in
this Phase 2 trial experienced pronounced bemefitolonged TTP. Additional data from this triatepented at the Annual Meeting of the American
Society of Clinical Oncology (“ASCQO”) in June 20 monstrated significant improvements in mediagrall survival (“OS”) and progression-free
survival (“PFS”) in these MET-high patients.

On January 11, 2013, we announced the top-lindtsesiua randomized Phase 2 signal generationdfiivantinib used in combination with
irinotecan and cetuximab in patients with refragtor relapsed colorectal cancer (“CRC”). Althougk trial did not meet its primary endpoint of PFS,
the analysis of the patients enrolled (n=122) shibthat median PFS was 8.3 months in the experirhanta(patients treated with irinotecan and
cetuximab plus tivantinib), compared with 7.3 manith the control arm (patients treated with iririate and cetuximab plus placebo) (hazard ratio =
0.85, 95% CI: 0.55, 1.33). Objective Response R&RR"), a secondary endpoint, was 45 percent éngkperimental arm versus 33 percent in the
control arm but the difference was not statisticalgnificant. The PFS results obtained in bothdbetrol arm and the experimental arm were lot



than expected compared to previously publisheaticstl norms. Additional data and analyses frors thal are planned for presentation at a fu
medical meeting and will include mature OS dataelt as analyses of patient sub-groups, biomartetus and regional variability, including pre- and
post-study treatments. Adverse events were repattsiinilar rates in the experimental and controig except for increased neutropenia observed in
the experimental arm, with no discontinuationsreatment for this reason. No treatment-emergergradvevents leading to death were assessed as
related to study treatment. Tivantinib was gengnakll tolerated in combination with the doses efuximab and irinotecan studied in this trial.
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ARQULE, INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARE AND PER SHARE DATA)
1. ORGANIZATION AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS (Continued )

On October 2, 2012, we and Daiichi Sankyo annoutitatithe independent Data Monitoring CommitteeM©") of the Phase 3 MARQUEE_( M
et inhibitor ARQ197 plus Eflotinib vs. Erlotinib plus placebo in NSCLC) trial recommendéd study be discontinued early following a planned
interim analysis, when they concluded that theystuduld not meet its primary endpoint of improve8.@G\lthough the interim analysis showed a
statistically significant improvement in PFS in ihéent-to-treat (ITT) population, this benefit didt carry over to OS. There were no safety corgern
identified by the DMC to Daiichi Sankyo or ArQulerihg this interim analysis. MARQUEE is a randontizdouble-blind, controlled pivotal trial
conducted under an SPA to evaluate tivantinib imlmoation with erlotinib, an approved anti-cancgesat, in previously treated patients with locally
advanced or metastatic, non-squamous NSCLC. Wé®aiichi Sankyo have provided information regardihg study discontinuation to health
authorities and those clinical investigators pgtiting in studies of tivantinib. Data from thisidy will be presented at an upcoming peer review
forum. Our analysis of these data will inform oecisions regarding potential further developmemi8CLC or in certain biomarker-defined sub-
groups within this disease population. In NSCLC,ame also conducting a Phase 2, randomized tri@arfitinib and erlotinib in patients with a
mutated form of the KRAS gene.

On October 30, 2012, we reported that we had bdemied by Kyowa Hakko Kirin that it will permanénsuspend enrollment in its ongoing
Phase 3 ATTENTION (Asian Trial of Tivantinib plusl&inib for NSCLC without EGFR Mutation) trial fldwing the recommendation of an
independent Safety Review Committee (“SRC”) in Jepfber the reporting of cases of interstitial ldigease (“ILD”) in the study as a drug-related
adverse event. It is our understanding that patiefio were enrolled in the ATTENTION trial at theé of the safety finding can continue to receive
treatment with the combination of tivantinib antb&nib upon request from the patient and investigand after providing new informed consent. [
from the trial is expected in late 2013 or earl{t20The ATTENTION trial is investigating the usetfantinib and erlotinib versus erlotinib and
placebo in second line non-squamous non-smallw&dl cancer (NSCLC). This trial is being condudigdyowa Hakko Kirin in Japan, South Korea
and Taiwan.

We have licensed commercial rights to tivantinibiaman cancer indications to Daiichi Sankyo intth8., Europe, South America and the rest of
the world, excluding Japan and certain other Asamtries, where we have licensed commercial rightéyowa Hakko Kirin. Our agreements with
these partners provide for possible future milestoayments, royalties on product sales, and deredapfunding, in addition to significant payments
that we have already received. The most recenstoibe payments under these agreements were madg 8011, when , we received $25 million
from Daiichi Sankyo resulting from the dosing oé tfirst patient in the MARQUEE trial and $10 mitidrom Kyowa Hakko Kirin resulting from
dosing of the first patient in the ATTENTION tridlhe terms of our tivantinib licensing agreemenith \Waiichi Sankyo and Kyowa Hakko Kirin
remain in effect following the recent developmentboth of these trials.

On November 10, 2011, we and Daiichi Sankyo annedtice execution of a license agreement for theldpment of a new AKT inhibitor, ARQ
092, the first compound to emerge from the commai&IP ™ collaboration. The license agreement provides akedurights to Daiichi Sankyo for
the development, manufacturing and marketing of ABRQ on a worldwide basis. Under this agreementiegeived a $10 million upfront fee from
Daiichi Sankyo in November 2011.

Our proprietary pipeline is directed toward molecubrgets and biological processes with demomstnatles in the development of human cant
The most advanced candidates in this pipeline &€ A87, an inhibitor of fibroblast growth factoceptor, ARQ 621, an inhibitor of the Eg5 kinesin
motor protein, and ARQ 736, an inhibitor of the RkiRases, all of which are in Phase 1 clinicalibgst
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ARQULE, INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARE AND PER SHARE DATA)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES



Significant accounting policies followed in the pagation of these financial statements are asvistio
Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in confeymiith generally accepted accounting principleguises management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts etsissd liabilities, disclosure of contingent assetd liabilities at the date of the financial staénts,
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenseg the reporting period. Actual results coultfetifrom these estimates.

Cash Equivalents and Marketable Securities

We consider all highly liquid investments purchasethin three months of original maturity date t® ¢tash equivalents. We invest our available
cash primarily in U.S. Treasury bill funds, monegrket funds, commercial paper, and U.S. federalstéaig agency backed certificates, including
auction rate securities that have investment gratilggs. Auction rate securities are structuredh\shiort-term interest reset dates of generallytlems
90 days, but with contractual maturities that camfell in excess of ten years. At the end of easktrperiod, which occurs every seven to twesngy
days, investors can sell or continue to hold tloeistes at par value. Our auction rate securdiesclassified as trading securities. We generally
classify our marketable securities as availablesde at the time of purchase and re-evaluate designation as of each balance sheet date. The
Company classifies its investments as either ctioetong-term based upon the investments’ contedghaturities and the Company’s ability and
intent to convert such instruments to cash withia gear. We report available-for-sale investmentaiavalue as of each balance sheet date and
include any unrealized gains and, to the extenteéeetemporary, unrealized losses in stockholdepsite. Realized gains and losses are determined
using the specific identification method and aiuded in other income (expense) in the statemeoperations and comprehensive loss. Certain of
our marketable securities are classified as traséagyrities and any changes in the fair value @ddétsecurities are recorded as other income (egpens
in the statement of operations and comprehensag lo

We conduct quarterly reviews to determine thevalue of our investment portfolio and to identifydeevaluate each investment that has an
unrealized loss, in accordance with the meaningttodr-than-temporary impairment and its applicatmoertain investments. An unrealized loss exists
when the current fair value of an individual setyuis less than its amortized cost basis. In trenethat the cost basis of a security exceedsiits f
value, we evaluate, among other factors, the duratf the period that, and extent to which, the ¥alue is less than cost basis, the financialthezl
and business outlook for the issuer, including stduand sector performance, and operational avahéing cash flow factors, overall market
conditions and trends, our intent to sell the itwesnt and if it is more likely than not that we vebbe required to sell the investment before its
anticipated recovery. Unrealized losses on availétn-sale securities that are determined to b@teary, and not related to credit loss, are reabide
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss).

For available-for-sale debt securities with unizsdilosses, we perform an analysis to assess wivethiatend to sell or whether we would more
likely than not be required to sell the securitjobe the expected recovery of the amortized cosisb&Vhere we intend to sell a security, or may be
required to do so, the security’s decline in failue is deemed to be other-than-temporary andutharhount of the unrealized loss is reflectednia t
statement of operations and comprehensive loss aspairment loss.

Regardless of our intent to sell a security, weéquer additional analysis on all securities with ealized losses to evaluate losses associated with
the creditworthiness of the security. We did nebgnize any other-than-temporary impairments duttiegyears ended December 31, 2012, 2011 or
2010. Credit losses are identified where we daempect to receive cash flows sufficient to recateramortized cost basis of a security.
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Fair Value of Financial Instruments

At December 31, 2012 and 2011 our financial insgnta consist of cash, cash equivalents, investnietarporate debt securities, auction rate
securities, accounts payable, accrued expensescaesl payable. The carrying amount of these firsutstruments approximates their fair values. At
December 31, 2012 and 2011 our financial instrumalso included marketable securities which arerteqd at fair value.

Non-refundable Advance Payments for Research and Delopment

Non-refundable advance payments for goods or ssnltat will be used or rendered for future redeard development activities are initially
deferred and capitalized. Related expenses (ora&oetvenues) are then recognized as expense (paaawenue) as the goods are delivered and
consumed or the related services are performed.

Property and Equipment



Property and equipment are recorded at cost anedaped using the straight-line method over thstimated useful lives. Assets under capital
leases and leasehold improvements are amortizediowshorter of their estimated useful lives @ tibrm of the respective leases by use of the
straight-line method. Maintenance and repair castsexpensed as incurred. Depreciation and amiiotizexpense for the years ended December 31,
2012, 2011 and 2010 was $1,064, $1,172, and $1rd@pectively.

Revenue Recognition—Research and Development Revenu

Research and development revenue is generatedriyithaough collaborative research and developnagmeements. The terms of the agreements
may include nonrefundable upfront payments, fundangesearch and development, milestone paymemntsayalties on any product sales derived
from collaborations.

The Company adopted the FASB issued ASU No. 201®&Venue Recognition—Milestone Metlboda prospective basis on January 1, 2011
decision to use the milestone method of revenuegration is a policy election. The milestone metimoaly impact any new collaboration agreements
or material modifications to existing agreememghie event we elect the policy of utilizing thdestone method to recognize substantive milestones.

Research and development payments associated witotbaboration agreements in effect prior to Jagu, 2011 are recognized as research and
development revenue using the contingency adjyseidrmance model. Under this model, when paymam®arned, revenue is immediately
recognized on a pro-rata basis in the period wéeseltthe milestone based on the time elapsed fneepition of the agreement to the time the
milestone is earned over the estimated duratidhevtlevelopment period under the agreement. There#ie remaining portion of the milestone
payment is recognized on a straight-line basis tweremaining estimated development period urteagreement. This estimated development
period may ultimately be shorter or longer depegdipon the outcome of the development work, rasyith accelerated or deferred recognition of the
development revenue. Royalty payments will be raczsgl as revenue when earned. The costs assowitteshtisfying research and development
contracts are included in research and developme@nse as incurred.

On November 10, 2011, we and Daiichi Sankyo annedtice execution of a license agreement for theldpment of a new AKT inhibitor, ARQ
092. The license agreement provides exclusivesigghDaiichi Sankyo for the development, manufastuand marketing of ARQ 092 on a worldwide
basis. Revenue for this agreement is recognizedySnancial Accounting Standards Board Accoungtandards Update No. 2009-Multiple-
Deliverable Revenue Arrangeme(“ASU 2009-13"). Under ASU 2009-13 all
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undelivered items under an agreement are dividedsieparate units of accounting based on whetlealdliverable provides stand-alone value to the
licensee. The Company determines the best estsedieg price (BESP) for each unit of accountingdzhupon managemesfudgment and includin
factors such as discounted cash flows, estimatedtddxpenses and other costs and probability afessful outcome of clinical trials.

Research and Development Costs

Costs of research and development, which are egpeassincurred, are comprised of the following §/pEcosts incurred in performing research
and development activities and those incurred imection with research and development revenuarisaland benefits, allocated overhead and
occupancy costs, clinical trial and related clihimanufacturing costs, contract services, and atheside costs.

Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets

We assess our long-lived assets for impairment ed@mevents or changes in circumstances (a “trigg&vent”) indicate that the carrying value
of a group of long-lived assets may not be recdderdf such circumstances are determined to exisgstimate of undiscounted future cash flows
produced by the long-lived asset, including itsremal residual value, is compared to the carryialge® to determine whether impairment exists. In the
event that such cash flows are not expected taitfieient to recover the carrying amount of theedssthe assets are written-down to their estimated
fair values. We did not recognize an impairmentgba related to our long-lived assets during 2@02,1 and 2010.

Segment Data

The chief operating decision maker uses consolitfitancial information in determining how to allie resources and assess performance. For
this reason, we have determined that we are pafigipngaged in one operating segment. See NowthIespect to significant customers.
Substantially all of our revenue since inceptios haen generated in the United States and allrdbog-lived assets are located in the United State

Other Income



Other income in 2012 includes a $113 gain fromiticeease in fair value of our auction rate seaesitiOther income in 2011 includes a $20 gain
from the increase in fair value of our auction regeurities. Other income in 2010 includes a $4 @88 from the increase in fair value of our auctio
rate securities and a $5,074 loss from the deciiedag value of our Put Option upon exercise. @timcome in 2010 also includes $978 of cash grants
for qualifying therapeutic discovery projects thatre awarded under the Patient Protection and édfiole Care Act of 2010.

Income Taxes

Income taxes have been accounted for using thé asddiability method. Under the asset and litdpithethod, deferred tax assets and liabilities
recognized for the future tax consequences ataiatto differences between the financial carngngounts of existing assets and liabilities andrthei
respective tax bases and operating loss and tdi ceeryforwards. Deferred tax assets and lidb#itare measured using enacted tax rates expected t
apply to taxable income in the years in which thieseporary differences are expected to be recovaredttled. The effect on deferred tax assets and
liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognizethcome in the period that includes the enactndate. A valuation allowance against deferred tax
assets is recorded if, based upon the weight @ivallable evidence, it is more likely than notttbame or all of the deferred tax assets will rot b
realized. For uncertain tax positions that meettae likely than not” threshold, the Company redegs the benefit of uncertain tax positions in the
financial statements.

65

ARQULE, INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARE AND PER SHARE DATA)
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont inued)
Earnings (Loss) Per Share

The computations of basic and diluted earnings)lpsr common share are based upon the weightedge/eumber of common shares
outstanding and potentially dilutive securitiestdPtially dilutive securities include stock optioi@ptions to purchase 7,157,458, 6,547,443 and
6,355,827 shares of common stock were not inclui¢oe 2012, 2011 and 2010 computations of dilutedloss per share, respectively, because
inclusion of such shares would have an anti-dikig¥fect.

Stock-Based Compensation

Our stock-based compensation cost is measureeé grémt date, based on the calculated fair valukeodward, and is recognized as an expense
over the employees’ requisite service period (gahethe vesting period of the equity grant).

We estimate the fair value of stock options ushgBlack-Scholes valuation model. Key input assimngtused to estimate the fair value of stock
options include the exercise price of the awarggeeted option term, expected volatility of our gtower the option’s expected term, risk-free insere
rate over the option’s expected term, and the ergegnnual dividend yield. We believe that the atibin technique and approach utilized to develop
the underlying assumptions are appropriate in taticig the fair values of our stock options granted

The following table presents stock-based compemsatkpense for the years ended December 31, 2012,&hd 2010 included in our Statements
of Operations and Comprehensive Loss:

2012 2011 2010

Research and developme $1,53¢ $1,58¢ $1,28¢
General and administrati\ 2,602 2,24¢ 1,97¢
Total stocl-based compensation expel $4,13t  $3,83(  $3,25¢

In the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 201€iock-based compensation expense was capializd there were no recognized tax
benefits associated with the stock-based compensaliarge.

The fair value of stock options and employee sfmaichase plan shares granted in the years endeshibec 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 respectively
were estimated on the grant date using the Blatiol8s option-pricing model with the following asgutions:

2012 2011 2010
Dividend yield(1) 0.C% 0.C% 0.C%
Weighted average expected volatility factot 67% 64% 64%
Risk free interest(3 0.€-0.8% 1.C-2.2% 1.4-2.2%

Expected term, excluding options issued pursuatitedmployes



@)
)

Stock Purchase Plan( 5.8-7.0 year 5.6-6.4 year: 5.6-6.4 year:
Expected ter—Employee Stock Purchase Plan 6 months 6 months 6 months

We have historically not paid dividends on our canmnstock and we do not anticipate paying any divildein the foreseeable future.

Measured using an average of historical daily pclegnges of our stock over a period equal to opeeted term.
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®3)

(4)

®)

The risk-free interest rate for periods equal eRpected term of share option based on the UeBsiiry yield in effect at the time of
grant.

The expected term is the number of years that Wmate, based on historical experience, that optigiti be outstanding before
exercise or cancellation. The range in expectad isithe result of certain groups of employeeslaihg different exercising behavic

The expected term of options issued in connectitn @ur Employee Stock Purchase Plan is 6 montkedan the terms of the plan.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

From time to time, new accounting pronouncemerddsaued by the Financial Accounting Standards @¢&ASB”) or other standard setting
bodies that are adopted by the Company as of #eifigul effective date. Unless otherwise discuseedbelieve that the impact of recently issued
standards that are not yet effective will not haveaterial impact on our financial position or lesof operations upon adoption.

In May 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011-0&4ir Value Measurement (Topic 820): Amendmentsctiéve Common Fair Value
Measurement and Disclosure Requirements in U.S.FG# IFRS!”. This newly issued accounting standard clariffes application of certain
existing fair value measurement guidance and exp#relddisclosures for fair value measurementsateestimated using significant unobservable
(Level 3) inputs. This ASU is effective on a prosipee basis for annual and interim reporting pesibéginning on or after December 15, 2011. We
adopted this standard on January 1, 2012 and itatittave a material impact on our financial positdr results of operations.

In June 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011-0Gpfnprehensive Income (Topic 220This newly issued accounting standard (1) eleés the
option to present the components of other compEherncome as part of the statement of changs®ikholdersequity; (2) requires the consecut
presentation of the statement of net income aner@bhmprehensive income; and (3) requires an etipyesent reclassification adjustments on the
face of the financial statements from other comgnsive income to net income. The amendments inABld do not change the items that must be
reported in other comprehensive income or whertean of other comprehensive income must be recladgié net income nor do the amendments
affect how earnings per share is calculated orgotesl. This ASU is required to be applied retrotipely and is effective for fiscal years and interi
periods within those years beginning after Decembe2011. As this accounting standard only reguirghanced disclosure, the adoption of this
standard on January 1, 2012 did not impact ountiiz position or results of operations.

In February 2013, the Financial Accounting Standd@dard (“FASB”) issued an amendment to the acéogrguidance on reporting amounts
reclassified out of accumulated other compreherisiseme. The guidance requires an entity to refherieffect of significant reclassifications out of
accumulated other comprehensive income on the cgpdine items in net income if the amount beiaglassed is required under United States
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAPY) e reclassified in its entirety to net incomer &ter amounts that are not required under
United States GAAP to be reclassified in their matyi to net income, an entity is required to craference to other disclosures required under dnite
States GAAP that provide additional detail aboosthamounts. The guidance is effective prospegtieelreporting periods beginning after Decem
15, 2012. The Company does not expect the adopfithis guidance will have a material impact orfiigncial statements.

3. COLLABORATIONS AND ALLIANCES

Daiichi Sankyo Kinase Inhibitor Discovery Agreem

In November 2012, we completed our research caliglom with Daiichi Sankyo under a research coltabion, exclusive license and co-
commercialization agreement entered into originatlyNovember 7,
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2008, that was focused on applications of our petgry AKIP ™ technology and know-how for the discovery of thexaiz compounds that
selectively inhibit certain kinases in the fieldasfcology. The agreement provides for a $15 millipfront payment, which we received in November
2008, research support payments for the first teary of the collaboration (which was extended foadditional two years in 2010), licensing fees for
compounds discovered as a result of this researtéstone payments related to clinical developmesgulatory review and sales, and royalty
payments on net sales of compounds from the caligion. We retain the option to @a@mmercialize licensed products developed undsrajieemel

in the U.S. In May 2009, we entered into an agregmith Daiichi Sankyo related to potential futundestones and royalties for our AKT
collaboration, under which we could receive up total of $265 million in upfront, potential develment and sales milestone payments for each
product selected for clinical development. Upon nwercialization of a licensed product, we would alsceive tiered, double-digit royalties on its net
sales. Daiichi Sankyo’s obligation to provide fatmesearch funding to ArQule under this agreertegntinated in November 2012. Daiichi retains
rights under the agreement to designate compourdswetred under this collaboration for toxicologgting and also has the option to take one or

of such compounds into clinical testing by optingpia license and development agreement pursudme teconomic terms of the May 2009 agreement
described above.

The duration and termination of the agreementiackto future events. Unless earlier terminatedtduseach, insolvency or upon 90 days notice
by Daiichi Sankyo, the agreement terminates onattez of (i) the expiration of the research colledion period, or (ii) various periods specifiedtire
agreement for development and commercializatigoroducts. If Daiichi Sankyo has commercializedcariised product or products, the agreemen
continue in force until such time as all royaltyntes for all licensed products have ended. The tgyatm, on a country-by-country basis for a praduc
ends as of the later of (i) the expiration of thst lvalid claim under a patent covering the martufac use, or sale of a licensed product or (@gdain
number of years from the date of the commercia efthe licensed product in such country.

Revenue for this agreement was recognized usingahéngency-adjusted performance model with aguerénce period through November 2012.
For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011and 30%® million, $17.7 million and $12.6 milliorespectively, were recognized as revenue. Since
the agreement ended on November 30, 2012, theedeferred revenue at December 31, 2012.

Daiichi Sankyo ARQ 092 Agreem

On November 10, 2011, we and Daiichi Sankyo annedtice execution of a license agreement for theldpment of a new AKT inhibitor, ARQ
092, the first compound to emerge from the commaii&IP ™ collaboration. The license agreement provides ekedurights to Daiichi Sankyo for
the development, manufacturing and marketing of ABRQ on a worldwide basis. Under this agreementiegeived a $10 million upfront fee from
Daiichi Sankyo in November 2011.

Revenue for this agreement is recognized usingn€inbAccounting Standards Board Accounting Stadslafpdate No. 2009-1R®/ultiple-
Deliverable Revenue Arrangeme(“ASU 2009-13"). Under ASU 2009-13 all undeliveriéeims under the agreement are divided into separate of
accounting based on whether the deliverable previtend-alone value to the licensee. These unasafunting consist of (i) the license to develop
and commercialize ARQ 092, (ii) committed futuranidal trial services, (iii) committed future cloal trial costs and (i) steering committee sersice
The Company determined the best estimate selliicg IBESP) for each unit of accounting based upanagement’s judgment and including factors
such as discounted cash flows, estimated direaresgs and other costs and probability of succesafabme of clinical trials.

As the license granted under the agreement wagededl, the license had standalone value, and thene no further obligations related to the
license, revenue of $10 million related to thisaowing unit was recognized in 2011 based on tisé éstimate of selling price of the license. Rewenu
related to future clinical
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trial services, clinical trial costs and steerimgnenittee services will be recognized ratably ower ¢linical trial as services are provided andsase
incurred, up to the amount of cash received fosehdeliverables based on the best estimate afiggltice of each deliverable. The estime



development period for this agreement is througte 2013. For the years ended December 31, 2012Gik1d $2.8 million and $10.0 million,
respectively were recognized as revenue. At DeceBhe2012 $0.2 million remained in deferred reveenu

Daiichi Sankyo Tivantinib Agreeme

On December 18, 2008, we entered into a licensdegelopment and co-commercialization agreement diichi Sankyo to conduct research,
clinical trials and the commercialization of tivanilb in human cancer indications in the U.S., E@,dpouth America and the rest of the world,
excluding Japan, China (including Hong Kong), Sdttinea and Taiwan, where Kyowa Hakko Kirin has asule rights for development and
commercialization.

The agreement provides for a $60 million cash upflicensing payment from Daiichi Sankyo to us, ethive received in December 2008, and an
additional $560 million in potential developmentiasales milestone payments offset by our sharkeoPhase 3 costs. Upon commercialization, we
will receive tiered, double-digit royalties from idni Sankyo on net sales of tivantinib commensuith the magnitude of the transaction. We retain
the option to participate in the commercializatadriivantinib in the U.S. We and Daiichi Sankyo ghare equally the costs of Phase 2 and Phase 3
clinical studies, with our share of Phase 3 coatgple solely from milestone and royalty payment®hiichi Sankyo.

Under the terms of our tivantinib collaborationegment with Daiichi Sankyo we share developmertsaagually with our share of Phase 3 costs
funded solely from milestones and royalties. Inhequarter the tivantinib collaboration costs weuinare compared with those of Daiichi Sankyo. If
our costs for the quarter exceed Daiichi Sankywésrecognize revenue on the amounts due to us timeleontingency adjusted performance model.
Revenue is calculated on a pro-rata basis usingrtteeelapsed from inception of the agreement tverestimated duration of the development period
under the agreement. If our costs for the quartetess than those of Daiichi Sankyo’s, we regmetamount due to Daiichi Sankyo as contra-revenue
in that quarter. To the extent that our share @SeIB collaboration costs exceeds the amount ektoites and royalties received, that excess ischett
against future milestones and royalties if and wesemed and is not reported as contra-revenue.

Our cumulative share of the Daiichi Sankyo Phases3s inception to date through December 31, 2@81&led $63.8 million and we received
milestones of $25.0 million during that period. @umulative share of Phase 3 collaboration costekaeeded the amount of milestones received
through December 31, 2012 by $38.8 million whicll & netted against future milestones and royglifeany, when earned and has not been rep
as contra-revenue. On January 31, 2013, we annduhatthe first patient had been enrolled in tivetal Phase 3 METIV trial of tivantinib, entitling
us to a $15 million milestone. We will not receay net cash proceeds from this milestone aslitogihetted against our cumulative share of Phase 3
collaboration costs in excess of milestones recedfe$38.8 million at December 31, 2012. Our curtiashare of Phase 3 collaboration costs in
excess of milestones received was $10.6 millidbestember 31, 2011.

In 2012, our non-phase 3 tivantinib collaboratiosts incurred were less than those of Daiichi Saiskyy $1.4 million which was recognized as
contra-revenue and netted against our tivantiniiicBiaSankyo research and development revenue nOmirefundable share of advance drug
purchases is recognized as contra-revenue aslétederugs are administered to patients. For &z gnded December 31, 2012, $2.5 million of these
drug purchases was also recognized as contra-rev&here were no advance drug purchases in theepelad December 31, 2012.
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In 2011, our tivantinib collaboration costs incufgere less than those of Daiichi Sankyo’s by $16il6on which was recognized as contra-
revenue and netted against our tivantinib Daiicnlso research and development revenue. Our nondable share of advance drug purchases in
2011 was $5.4 million. These costs are recognisezbatra-revenue as the related drugs are admniste patients. For the year ended December 31,
2011, $2.9 million of these drug purchases was r@sognized as contra-revenue.

In 2010, our tivantinib collaboration costs incagere less than those of Daiichi Sankyo’s by $8ilBon which was recognized as cont@enut
and netted against our tivantinib Daiichi Sankysesgch and development revenue. There were no eeldsng purchases in the year ended Decembe
31, 2010.

Prepaid expenses and other current assets at Dec8hi2011 included $2.5 million of prepaid Phaskrug purchases. This amount was
recognized as contra-revenue in the year endedniteme31, 2012 as the drugs were administered terpatin the Phase 3 trial.

The duration and termination of the agreementiackto future events. Unless earlier terminatedtdugeach, insolvency or upon 90 days noti
prior to phase 3 clinical trials or 180 days notiioen or after the beginning of phase 3 clinic&ls by Daiichi Sankyo, the agreement shall cargin
until the later of (i) such time as Daiichi Sankgmo longer developing at least one licensed prbdu(ii) if Daiichi Sankyo has commercialized a
licensed product or products, such time as allltpyarms for all licensed products have ended. Myalty term, on a country-by-country basis for a
product, ends as of the later of (i) the expiratibthe last valid claim under a patent covering tiranufacture, use, or sale of a licensed produ@) @
certain number of years from the date of the cororaksale of the licensed product in such cour



Revenue for this agreement is recognized usingdhé&ngencyadjusted performance model. Through September(B®,2evenue was recogniz
based upon an estimated development period thrbeghmber 2013. As a result of the October 2012saecto discontinue the MARQUEE trial, the
development period as of October 1, 2012 was ertéitm June 2015. Therefore, commencing with thetfioguarter of 2012, revenue is recognized
over this new development period. Under the previestimated development period revenue for thiseagent was expected to be approximately $4.7
million in the fourth quarter of 2012. Under theised development period revenue for this agreemvast$2.1 million in the fourth quarter of 2012
resulting in a reduction of $2.6 million.

For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 ar@ $02.4 million, net of $3.9 million of contra-mwue, $9.5 million, net of $19.5 million of
contra-revenue and $10.5 million net of $3.3 millf contra-revenue, respectively, were recognaetevenue. At December 31, 2012 and 2011,
$20.8 and $37.0 million respectively, remainedéfiedred revenue.

Kyowa Hakko Kirin Licensing Agreeme

On April 27, 2007, we entered into an exclusiverise agreement with Kyowa Hakko Kirin to develod aammercialize tivantinib in Japan and
parts of Asia. A $3 million portion of an upfromténsing fee was received by the Company undetiieement in the first quarter of 2007, and an
additional $27 million in upfront licensing fees svaeceived on May 7, 2007. The agreement includ@8 #illion in upfront and potential
development milestone payments from Kyowa Hakkankio ArQule, including the $30 million cash upftditensing payments. In February 2008,
received a $3 million milestone payment from Kyadekko Kirin. Upon commercialization, ArQule will ceive tiered royalties in the mid-teen to
low-twenty percent range from Kyowa Hakko Kirin net sales of tivantinib. Kyowa Hakko Kirin will besponsible for all clinical development costs
and commercialization of the compound in certairmAgountries, consisting of Japan, China (inclgditong Kong), South Korea and Taiwan. In {
2010, we announced the initiation of a Phase Rwiiih tivantinib by Kyowa Hakko Kirin in gastricancer, for which we received a $5 million
milestone payment in September 2010. In August 2R¥twa Hakko Kirin announced the initiation of tRbase 3 ATTENTION trial in Asia of
tivantinib and erlotinib in non-squamous NSCLC eats with wild type
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EGFR. Dosing of the first patient in this trialggiered a $10 million milestone payment, which weeieed in August 2011. The milestone payment
was recorded as deferred revenue and is beingmeaebas revenue using the contingeadyusted performance model with an estimated devedmt
period through April 2016.

In addition to the upfront and possible regulatmijestone payments totaling $123 million, the Compwill be eligible for future milestone
payments based on the achievement of certain lefelst sales. The Company will recognize the paysef any, as revenue in accordance with the
contingency-adjusted performance model. As of Ddmar81, 2012, the Company had not recognized amntes from these sales milestone
payments, and there can be no assurance that dmwslo in the future.

The duration and termination of the agreementiackto future events. Unless earlier terminatedtduseach, insolvency or upon 90 days notice
by Kyowa Hakko Kirin, the agreement terminatesimn date that the last royalty term expires in allrdries in the territory. The royalty term ends as
of the later of (i) the expiration of the last perglpatent application or expiration of the pat@erthe country covering the manufacture, use, & sha
licensed product or (ii) a certain number of ydeos the date of the commercial launch in such éguaf such license product.

Revenue for this agreement is recognized usingdh&ngency-adjusted performance model with anredgd development period through April
2016. For the years ended December 31, 2012, 201112010, $5.7 million, $10.1 million, and $6.1 lroit, respectively were recognized as revenue.
At December 31, 2012 and 2011, $19.0 million and. $2nillion respectively, remained in deferred mave.

4. MARKETABLE SECURITIES AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT S

We generally classify our marketable securitieaaslable-for-sale at the time of purchase andvaeugate such designation as of each balance
sheet date. Since we generally intend to converhtimto cash as necessary to meet our liquidityirements our marketable securities are classif
cash equivalents if the original maturity, from ttete of purchase, is ninety days or less and@s$-&rm investments if the original maturity, frahe
date of purchase, is in excess of ninety daysdast than one year. Our marketable securities assified as long-term investments if the maturayed
is in excess of one year of the balance sheet date.

We report available-for-sale investments at falugas of each balance sheet date and includerapglized gains and, to the extent deemed
temporary, unrealized losses in stockholders’ gg&iealized gains and losses are determined useagpecific identification method and are included
in other income (expense) in the statement of dipermand comprehensive loss. Our auction ratergiesuare classified as trading securities and any
changes in the fair value of those securities ecerded as other income (expense) in the statesheperations and comprehensive Ic



We conduct quarterly reviews to determine thevalue of our investment portfolio and to identifydaevaluate each investment that has an
unrealized loss, in accordance with the meaningtluér-than-temporary impairment and its applicatmnoertain investments. An unrealized loss exists
when the current fair value of an individual setyuis less than its amortized cost basis. In trenethat the cost basis of a security exceedsiits f
value, we evaluate, among other factors, the duratf the period that, and extent to which, the ¥alue is less than cost basis, the financialthezl
and business outlook for the issuer, including stduand sector performance, and operational aahéing cash flow factors, overall market
conditions and trends, our intent to sell the itwest and if it is more likely than not that we vdbe required to sell the investment before its
anticipated recovery. Unrealized losses on availétn-sale securities that are determined to b@teary, and not related to credit loss, are rembide
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss).
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For available-for-sale debt securities with unizsdilosses, we perform an analysis to assess wivethiatend to sell or whether we would more
likely than not be required to sell the securitjobe the expected recovery of the amortized cosisb&Vhere we intend to sell a security, or may be
required to do so, the security’s decline in failue is deemed to be other-than-temporary andutharhount of the unrealized loss is reflectednia t
statement of operations and comprehensive loss asp@irment loss.

Regardless of our intent to sell a security, weéquer additional analysis on all securities with ealized losses to evaluate losses associated with
the creditworthiness of the security. Credit lossesidentified where we do not expect to receaghdlows sufficient to recover the amortized cost
basis of a security.

We invest our available cash primarily in U.S. B bill funds, money market funds, commercialgrapnd U.S. federal and state agency be
certificates, including auction rate securitied thave investment grade ratings. Auction rate seesiiare structured with short-term interest resees
of generally less than 90 days, but with contrdanegturities that can be well in excess of ten geat the end of each reset period, which occuesyev
seven to twenty-eight days, investors can selbatinue to hold the securities at par value. Iftemncrate securities fail an auction, due to sefleos
exceeding buy orders, the funds associated wistiledfauction would not be accessible until a sssfté auction occurred, a buyer was found outside
the auction process, the underlying securities redtar a settlement with the underwriter is reached

ArQule’s marketable securities portfolio includesmillion (at cost) at December 31, 2012 and 2@iested in auction rate securities.

ArQule’s marketable securities portfolio includesb$b million (at cost) at December 31, 2009, ingdsh auction rate securities. Beginning in the
first quarter of 2008 and throughout 2012, certaintion rate securities failed at auction due tbosders exceeding buy orders. On November 3, 2
the Company received a put option from UBS AG faurehase auction rate securities owned by the Coynaiapar value at any time during the pe
from June 30, 2010 through July 2, 2012 (the “Ppti@»”). The Company accounted for the Put Optisradreestanding financial instrument and
elected to record the value under the fair valugagor financial assets and financial liabilities

On June 30, 2010, the company exercised the PitrOgind in July 2010, UBS AG redeemed at par vall$22.9 million of the Company’s
auction rate securities held by UBS AG that werstamding at June 30, 2010. Throughout 2010 UBSédeemed at par value a total of $56.9
million of the Company’s auction rate securitietdhgy UBS AG, including those redeemed from thereise of the Put Option. The Company used a
portion of the $56.9 million of 2010 redemptiongétire the $44.4 million notes payable to UBS A@tthad been outstanding at December 31, 2009.
The credit line at UBS AG was cancelled in July @01

The following is a summary of the fair value of éable-for-sale marketable securities we held atédeber 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011:

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
December 31, 201. Cost Gains Losses Value
Security type
Corporate debt securiti-short tern $ 64,92: $ 45 § (22 $ 64,94«
Corporate debt securiti-long term 49,46( 93 (14) 49,53¢
Total availabl-for-sale marketable securiti $114,38: § 13t § (36 _f$114.48

72

ARQULE, INC.



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARE AND PER SHARE DATA)

4. MARKETABLE SECURITIES AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT S (Continued)

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
December 31, 201 Cost Gains Losses Value
Security type

U.S. Federal Treasury and U.S. government ageseiggitie-short term $17,25¢ $ 1 $ (2) $17,25¢
Corporate debt securiti-short terrr 39,82¢ 22 (36) 39,81+«
57,08’ 23 (37) 57,07:
U.S. Federal Treasury and U.S. government ageeem®sitie-long term 33,55¢ 13 (6) 33,56:
Corporate debt securit-long term 5,23¢ 2 (1) 5,23¢
38,79: 15 (7) 38,79¢
Total availabl-for-sale marketable securiti $95,87¢ § 38 § (49 _$95.87:

The Company'’s available-for-sale marketable seiesrin a loss position at December 31, 2012 anceiéer 31, 2011, were in a continuous
unrealized loss position for less than 12 months.

The following is a summary of the fair value ofdirgg securities we held at December 31, 2012 arcéDber 31, 2011:

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
December 31, 201. Cost Gains Losses Value
Security type
Auction rate securitie $2,10( $ — $(317) $1,78¢
Total trading securitie $2,10( $ = $(311) $1,78¢
Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
December 31, 201 Cost Gains Losses Value
Security type
Auction rate securitie $2,10( ¢ — $(424) $1,67¢
Total trading securitie $2,10( ¢ = $(429) $1,67¢

The underlying collateral of our auction rate sé@s consists of student loans, supported by d¢kderfal government as part of the Federal Family
Education Loan Program (FFELP). At December 3122€1e Company’s auction rate security is inclugtecharketable securitideng term and total
$1,789. At December 31, 2011, the Company’s aucatmsecurity is included in marketable securitieg) term and totals $1,676. The net increas
value of our auction rate securities totaling $irifhe year ended December 31, 2012 was recordadyas in other income in the statement of
operations and comprehensive loss. The net incieasdue of our auction rate securities totalid® $n the year ended December 31, 2011 was
recorded as a gain in other income in the andratie of operations and comprehensive loss.

The following tables present information about assets that are measured at fair value on a reguésis for the periods presented and indicates
the fair value hierarchy of the valuation technigjue utilized to determine such fair value. In gahdair values determined by Level 1 inputs aéli
quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets feniital assets or liabilities. Fair values deteediby Level 2 inputs utilize data points that are
observable such as quoted prices, interest rategialil curves. We value our level 2 investmenisgiguoted prices for identical assets in the miarke
where they are traded, although
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such trades may not occur daily. These quoted peoe based on observable inputs, primarily inteegss. Fair values determined by Level 3 inputs
are unobservable data points for the asset ofitigkand include situations where there is litifeany, market activity for the asset or liabiliffhere
were no transfers in or out of Level 1 or Level @asurements for the periods presented:

Significant

Other Significant

Quoted Prices in Observable Unobservable
December 31 Active Markets Inputs Inputs

2012 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Cash equivalent ¢ 11,75« & 11,75¢ g — § =
Corporate debt securit-short terrr 64,94« — 64,944 —
Corporate debt securit-long term 49,53¢ — 49,53¢ —
Auction rate securitilong term 1,78¢ — — 1,78¢
Total $128,02¢ $ 11,75¢ $114,48: $ 1,78¢

Significant

Other Significant

Quoted Prices in Observable Unobservable
December 31 Active Markets Inputs Inputs

2011 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Cash equivalent $ 10,04: $ 10,04: $ — ¢ —
U.S. Federal Treasury and U.S. government ageremgitie-short term 17,25¢ — 17,25¢ —
Corporate debt securit-short tern 39,81« — 39,81« —
U.S. Federal Treasury and U.S. government ageremsitie-long term 33,56: — 33,56: —
Corporate debt securit-long term 5,23¢ — 5,23¢ —
Auction rate securitilong term 1,67¢ — — 1,67¢
Total $107,59( $ 10,04 $95,87: d 1,67¢

Due to the lack of market quotes relating to owtian rate securities, the fair value measurememtsur auction rate securities have been
estimated using an income approach model (discduwash flow analysis), which is exclusively based-evel 3 inputs. The model considers factors
that reflect assumptions market participants wausle in pricing including, among others, the coliaieation underlying the investments, the
creditworthiness of the counterparty, the expetiwtate cash flows, liquidity premiums, the probébibf successful auctions in the future, and iesér
rates. The assumptions used are subject to volaiid may change as the underlying sources oéthesumptions and markets conditions change.

The following table rolls forward the fair value ofir auction rate securities and put option, wHasevalues are determined by Level 3 inputs for
2012:

Amount

Balance at Deceber 31, 20 $1,67¢
Gain on auction rate securiti 11z
Settlement: =
Balance at December 31, 2C $1,78¢
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The following table rolls forward the fair value ofir auction rate securities and put option, wHasevalues are determined by Level 3 inputs for
2011:

Amount

Balance at December 31, 20 $2,15¢



Gain on auction rate securiti 20

Settlement: (499
Balance at December 31, 2C $1,67¢

The following table provides quantitative infornmation the unobservable inputs of our fair valuesneaments for our Level 3 assets for the year
ended December 31, 2012:

Estimated
Fair Value at Valuation
December 31, 2012 Technique Unobservable Inputs Range
Auction rate securitie ) 1,78¢ Discounted cas
flow
Maximum rate 1.62%
Liquidity risk premiun 3.50%-4.5(%

Probability of earning

maximum rate until

maturity 0.06%-0.0%
Probability of principe

returned prior to

maturity 86.34%-88.3%
Probability of default 11.57%43.5%

A significant increase or decrease in the individissumptions included above could result in ai@mtly lower or higher fair value
measurement.

5. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment consist of the followin@patember 31, 2012 and 2011:

USEFUL
LIFE
ESTIMATED
(YEARS) 2012 2011

Machinery and equipme| 5 $12,82¢  $12,73:
Leasehold improvemen 3-10 4,62( 4, 59¢
Furniture and fixture 7 1,17¢ 1,17¢
Computer equipmer 3 3,63¢ 3,63¢

22,25¢ 22,14:
Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortiza 20,26¢ 19,20z
Net property and equipme § 1,99: § 2,93¢
Depreciation and amortization expel §106¢ _§1177
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On May 2, 2005, we completed a transaction toamelMWoburn headquarters facility and two parcel&andl in exchange for a cash payment, net of
commissions and closing costs, of $39,331. Simatias with that sale, we entered into an agreermdatse back the entire facility and the associated
land. The lease was subsequently amended on Ju28@® The amended lease has a term of ten yédwramaverage annual rental rate of $3,409.
We also have options to extend the lease termddo an additional ten years. We are applying kaseback accounting to the transaction and are
treating the lease as an operating lease. As # ofghis transaction, we realized a gain on thie &f $5,477, which was deferred and is being
amortized over the initial ten year lease term esdaction in rent expense. The remaining amouth@tleferred gain is $1,336 at December 31, 2012.

6. OTHER ASSETS



Other assets include the following at Decembe2812 and 2011:

2012 2011
Security deposit $ 66¢ $ 66¢
Prepaid rent, net of current porti 58¢ 78C
Total other asse! $1,25¢ §1,44¢

7. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED EXPENSES

Accounts payable and accrued expenses includetibeving at December 31, 2012 and 2011:
2012 2011

Accounts payabl § 56C § 22€
Accrued payrol 2,872 2,76¢
Accrued outsourced p-clinical and clinical fee 5,501 8,03«
Accrued professional fet 641 37¢
Other accrued expens 58¢ 52E

$10,16¢ §11,93:

8. NOTES PAYABLE

In October 2008, we entered into a margin loanegent with a financial institution collateralized $2.9 million of our auction rate securities and
borrowed $1.7 million which is the maximum amoulidwaed under this facility. The amount outstandingler this facility was $1.7 million at
December 31, 2012 and 2011, collateralized by 8#lliion of auction rate securities at cost.

Interest expense was $26, $25 and $274 for thes yrated December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, resplgctiv
9. STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Preferred Stock

We are authorized to issue up to one million shafgseferred stock. As of December 31, 2012 arl2¢here were no outstanding shares of
preferred stock. Our Board of Directors will det@mnthe terms of the preferred stock if and whenghares are issued.
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Common Stock
Our amended Certificate of Incorporation authoribhesissuance of up to 100 million shares of $@&lvalue common stock.

In January 2011, we completed a stock offering lictv we sold 8,050,000 shares of common stockpaica of $6.15 per share for net proceeds of
$46.8 million after commissions and offering expEns

In April 2012, we completed a stock offering in whiwe sold 8,222,500 shares of common stock ata pf $7.30 per share for net proceeds of
$56.3 million after commissions and offering expEns

At December 31, 2012, we have 585,033 common shesesved for future issuance under the EmployeekJturchase Plan (“Purchase Plan”)
and for the exercise of common stock options pursteathe 1994 Amended and Restated Equity Incerlan (“Equity Incentive Plan”) and the 1996
Amended and Restated Director Stock Option Plairétor Plan”).

10. EQUITY INCENTIVE PLANS



During 2011, our stockholders approved an amendtoghe Equity Incentive Plan to increase the nunatbshares available to 15,500,000. All
shares are awarded at the discretion of our Boiaddrectors in a variety of stock based forms imlthg stock options, restricted stock and perfornai
based stock units. Pursuant to the Equity IncerRia@, incentive stock options may not be grantddss than the fair market value of our common
stock at the date of the grant, and the option t@ay not exceed ten years. Stock options issuezlipat to the Equity Incentive Plan generally vest
over four years. For holders of 10% or more ofwating stock, options may not be granted at leas tiL0% of the fair market value of the common
stock at the date of the grant, and the option t@ay not exceed five years. Stock appreciationtsighanted in tandem with an option shall have an
exercise price not less than the exercise pritkefelated option. As of December 31, 2012, nokséppreciation rights have been issued. At
December 31, 2012, there were 3,521,735 sharekbleafor future grant under the Equity IncentivarP

During 2011, our stockholders approved an amendtoghe Director Plan to increase the number ofeshavailable to 950,500. Under the terms
of the Director Plan, options to purchase shareoofmon stock are automatically granted (A) to@hairman of the Board of Directors (1) upon his
or her initial election or appointment in the ambah25,000 and vesting over three years and (2hups or her re-election or continuation on our
board immediately after each annual meeting ofitolciers in the amount of 25,000 and vesting imiedly, and (B) to each other Director (1) upon
his or her initial election to our board in the ambof 30,000 and vesting over three years andg@h his or her re-election or continuation on our
board in the amount of 15,000 and vesting immeljiagdl options granted pursuant to the DirectoafPhave a term of ten years with exercise prices
equal to fair market value on the date of grantotigh December 31, 2012, options to purchase 98%&b8éres of common stock have been granted
under this plan of which 615,000 shares are cugrexercisable. As of December 31, 2012, 212,0@0eshare available for future grant.
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Option activity under the Plans for the years endedember 31, 2010, 2011 and 2012 was as follows:

Number Weighted Average
Stock Options of Shares Exercise Price
Outstanding as of December 31, 2( 5,215,18! $ 6.04
Granted 1,548,65! 3.74
Exercisec (83,029 3.4z
Cancellec (324,989 10.3i
Outstanding as of December 31, 2( 6,355,82 g 5.2¢
Granted 1,675,95! 6.6¢
Exercisec (728,81)) 5.41
Cancellec (755,527) 7.8€
Outstanding as of December 31, 2( 6,547,44. ¢ 5.34
Granted 1,453,46: 7.72
Exercisec (278,54%) 4.8t¢
Cancellec (564,909 7.2C
Outstanding as of December 31, 2( 7,157,45i § 5.7(
Exercisable as of December 31, 2( 4,428,15 § 5.17
Weighted average gréedate fair value of options granted during the yerated
December 31, 201 § 4.67

The following table summarizes information aboutiaps outstanding at December 31, 2012:

Options Outstanding

Options Exercisable

Number Weighted Average
Outstanding at Remaining Weighted Average Exercisable as o Weighted Average
Range of Exercise Price December 31, 2012 Contractual Life Exercise Price December 31, 2012 Exercise Price
$2.35-2.80 18,00( 5.¢ $ 2.4¢ 17,00( $ 2.4¢
2.8(-5.60 2,859,28 54 3.92 2,319,63! 4.01
5.6(-8.40 4,203,17. 6.€ 6.8¢ 2,014,51! 6.3¢

8.4(-11.20 77,00 4.4 9.0¢ 77,00( 9.0¢




7,157,45i 6.1 $ 5.7C 4,428,15. § 5.17

The aggregate intrinsic value of options outstag@inDecember 31, 2012 was $6, all related to édake options. The weighted average grant
date fair value of options granted in year endeddbeber 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 was $4.67, $3.99%2124, per share, respectively. The intrinsic
value of options exercised in the year ended Deeerdb, 2012, 2011, and 2010 was $604, $963, and, $84pectively.

Shares vested, expected to vest and exercisablecatmber 31, 2012 are as follows:

Weighted-Average

Remaining Aggregate

Weighted-Average Contractual Intrinsic

Shares Exercise Price Term (in years) Value
Vested and unvested expected to vest at Decemb@032 6,991,76. $ 5.7C 6.1 $ 6
Exercisable at December 31, 2C 4,428,15: $ 5.17 4.8 $ 6
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The total compensation cost not yet recognized 8eoember 31, 2012 related to non-vested opticardswas $7,218 which will be recognized
over a weighted-average period of 2.3 years. Dutiegyear ended December 31, 2012, there were B08}&res forfeited with a weighted average
grant date fair value of $3.91 per share. The weifjaverage remaining contractual life for optierercisable at December 31, 2012 was 4.8 years.

In 2009, we granted 412,200 shares of restrictatksb employees, vesting annually over a four yesiod. In 2008 we granted 103,316 shares of
restricted stock to employees, vesting annually avieur year period and 125,000 shares vestingallynover a two year period. The shares of
restricted stock were issued at no cost to theietis. The weighted average fair value of theimst stock at the time of grant in 2009 and 2668
$3.54 and $4.31 respectively, per share, and rgt®ipensed ratably over the vesting period. THiddgcember 31, 2012, 69,495 shares have been
forfeited, and 491,226 shares have vested. We némed) share-based compensation expense relatesttizted stock of $257, $358 and $389 for the
year ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, tesggc

Restricted stock activity under the Plan for tharyended December 31, 2012 was as follows:

Weighted Average

Grant Date
Restricted Stock Number of Shares Fair Value
Unvested as of December 31, 2( 195,97¢ $ 3.6
Granted — —
Vested (207,639 3.7¢
Cancellec (8,550 3.5¢
Unvested as of December 31, 2( 79,79¢ § 3.5¢

The fair value of restricted stock vested in 2@ 1 and 2010 was $223, $800 and $449, respectively

In July 2010, the Company amended its chief exeeudfficer’s (the “CEO’s”) employment agreemengrant the CEO 100,000 stock options, of
which 25% vested upon grant and 25% vest annuglly the next three years, and a maximum of 390p@®fdbrmancebased stock units that vest ug
the achievement of certain performance and mawkstdtargets. In February 2012, the Company ametedeltief medical officer’s (the “CMO’s”)
employment agreement to grant the CMO 50,000 pmidiace-based stock units that vest upon the achievieof certain performance based targets.
Through December 31, 2012 no expense has beerdegcfor these performance-based stock units.

In March 2013, the Company amended its chief operatfficer’s (the “COO’s") employment agreementgiant the COO 125,000 performance-
based stock units that vest upon the achievemesgrtdin performance based targets. In March 20E3Company amended its CMO’s employment
agreement to grant the CMO 120,000 performanceebsteek units that vest upon the achievement déceperformance based targets.

In 1996, the stockholders adopted the Purchase Phas plan enables eligible employees to exengiges to purchase our common stock at 85%
of the fair market value of the stock on the dageright was granted or the date the right is éged; whichever is lower. Rights to purchase sh



under the Purchase Plan are granted by the Bodditexdtors. The rights are exercisable during aopedetermined by the Board of Directors;
however, in no event will the period be longer thaanty-seven months. The Purchase Plan is avaitaldubstantially all employees, subject to
certain limitations. In 2011, our stockholders ay@d an amendment to the Purchase Plan to inctleasggregate number of shares of the Comgany’
common stock that may be issued to 2,400,000. AgEmber 31, 2012, 1,814,967 shares have beehgsed and 585,033 shares are available for
future sale under the Purchase Plan. We recognized
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share-based compensation expense related to theaerPlan of $159, $165 and $248 for the yeardebdeember 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010,
respectively.

11. INCOME TAXES

There was no current or deferred tax expense foyélars ended December 31, 2012 and 2011. The @gmeeorded a $550 federal income tax
benefit in 2010 attributable to an election it mauéhe second quarter of 2010 under legislatiat #lowed net operating losses to offset 100% of
alternative minimum tax (“AMT”). Prior to this leglation, only 90% of AMT could be offset by net ogting losses and accordingly in 2009 the
Company recorded a $550 federal income tax explengeMT. The Company received a refund in 2010h& $550 AMT paid in 2009.

The American Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012 (“ATR Artias enacted on January 2, 2013 which, among dilregs, provides a retroactive two-
year extension of the U.S. research and developtarmredits that had previously expired on Decar8ie 2011. We have not recorded the benefit of
these credits for the 2012 year. We will recordlibeefit from these credits in the first quartecalendar year 2013 as a result of the enactmehteof
ATR Act. We expect to record a benefit related @2 Research Credit of approximately $1,231, aful @aluation allowance, resulting in a net
benefit of $0.

The following is reconciliation between the U.Sddeal statutory rate and the effective tax ratelieryears ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and
2010:

2012 2011 2010
Income tax (benefit) expense at statutory $(3,69¢) $(3,65%) $(10,430)
State tax (benefit) expense, net of Federal tangti® expens: (449) 357 (559)
Permanent item 64¢ 617 11€
Effect of change in valuation allowance and
State NOL expiratiol 3,19(C 3,737 11,58¢
Tax credits 32C (2,00¢) (1,46€)
Other (13) 954 203
Tax expense (benefi $§ — & — & (550

The income tax effect of temporary differences casipg the deferred tax assets and deferred taiitias on the accompanying balance sheets is
a result of the following at December 31, 2012 2081

2012 2011
Deferred tax asset

Net operating loss carryforwar $ 91,11¢ ¢ 86,84¢
Tax credit carryforward 22,17: 22,49;
Equity based compensati 6,77¢ 5,881
Book depreciation in excess of t 2,26° 2,321
Reserves and accrus (132) (103
Deferred revenu 15,67 21,43¢
Loss on investmer 194 194
Other 14C 18(C
138,20: 139,25

Valuation allowanct (138,20 (139,259



Deferred tax liabilities _ _
Net deferred tax asse g — $ —
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Total valuation allowance decreased by $1,053Heryear ended December 31, 2012. We have evalpesitive and negative evidence bearing
upon the realizability of our deferred tax assetsich are comprised principally of federal net atigrg loss (“NOL”"),net capital loss, and research
development credit carryforwards. We have deterththat it is more likely than not that we will n@tcognize the benefits of our federal and state
deferred tax assets and, as a result, we havdisks&aba full valuation allowance against our nefedred tax assets as of December 31, 2012.

As of December 31, 2012, we had federal NOL, $tidé, and research and development credit carryfadsvaf approximately $265,004,
$113,262 and $24,885 respectively, expiring frorh@® 2032, which can be used to offset futurerimedax liabilities. Federal capital loss
carryforwards of approximately $571, expiring inl80can be used to offset future federal capital greome. Approximately $15,003 of our federal
NOL and $907 of our state NOL were generated freoess tax deductions from sh-based awards, the tax benefit of which will beditesl to
additional paid-in-capital when the deductions mdaurrent taxes payable.

At December 31, 2011, and 2012 we had no unrecedrax benefits. We do not expect that the totalarhof unrecognized tax benefits will
significantly increase in the next twelve monthsir Qolicy is to recognize interest and penaltidatesl to uncertain tax positions in income tax
expense. As of December 31, 2011 and 2012, we diaderued interest or penalties related to uncetéai positions. Our U.S. federal tax returns for
the tax years 2010 through 2012 and our stateetaxns for the tax years 2009 through 2012 rempéndo examination. Prior tax years remain open
to the extent of net operating loss and tax crestityforwards.

Utilization of NOL and research and developmentitrearryforwards may be subject to a substantiaal limitation in the event of an owners
change that has occurred previously or could orttive future pursuant to Section 382 and 383 efltiternal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, as
well as similar state provisions. An ownership ademay limit the amount of NOL and research anceligament credit carryforwards that can be
utilized annually to offset future taxable incoraed may, in turn, result in the expiration of atjwor of those carryforwards before utilization. In
general, an ownership change, as defined by Se882nresults from transactions that increase #reeoship of certain stockholders or public groups
in the stock of a corporation by more than 50 petage points over a three year period. We underdodétailed study of our NOL and research and
development credit carryforwards through Januar2@3, to determine whether such amounts are likebe limited by Section 382. As a result of
this analysis, we currently do not believe any Best382 or 383 limitations will significantly imptour ability to offset income with available NOL
and research and development credit carryforw&tdaiever, future ownership changes under Sectiom38g limit our ability to fully utilize these t¢
benefits.

12. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Leases

We lease facilities under non-cancelable operdéages. At December 31, 2012, the minimum leasavgtrents for all leased facilities, net of
sublease income, are as follows:

YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31, OPERATING LEASES
2013 $ 3,07¢
2014 3,18t
2015 1,06
2016 —
Thereaftel —
Total minimum lease paymer $ 7,32
81
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARE AND PER SHARE DATA)
12. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Continued)
Rent expense under non-cancelable operating lesseapproximately $2,866 for the years ended Deeelib, 2012, 2011, and 2010.
13. CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK

Revenue from one customer represented approxim@4étyof total revenue during 2012, 79% in 2011 @@ in 2010. Revenue from another
customer represented approximately 16% of totaedmae during 2012, 21% in 2011, and 21% in 2010.

14. SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)

FIRST SECOND THIRD FOURTH
QUARTER QUARTER QUARTER QUARTER

2012
Net revenue $ 8,49¢ $11,82¢ $10,94+ $5,14:
Net loss (4,260) (88%) (431) (5,29¢)

Loss per share
Basic and diluted net loss per she

Net loss per shai $ (0.0¢) $ (0.0) $ (0.0) $ (0.09
FIRST SECOND THIRD FOURTH
QUARTER QUARTER QUARTER QUARTER
2011
Net revenue $13,40¢ ¢ 5,44 $11,95¢ $16,50¢
Net income (loss (1,46¢€) (10,809 (2,260 3,76¢
Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per sh
Net earnings (loss) per shz ¢ (0.03) $ (0.20 $ (0.09 $ 0.07
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON AC COUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Conclusion Regarding the Effectiveness of DiscloserControls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Clgécutive Officer and President and Chief Opega@ificer (Principal Financial Officer),
evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure otsaind procedures as of December 31, 2012. The“tisclosure controls and procedures,” as
defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) undeBgwurities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (“Bxgha&\ct”), means controls and other
procedures of a company that are designed to ettsatrerformation required to be disclosed by a pany in the reports that it files or submits under
the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summaaizédeported, within the time periods specifiethim SEC's rules and forms. Disclosure controls
and procedures include, without limitation, corgrahd procedures designed to provide reasonahleaasg that information required to be disclosed
by a company in the reports that it files or sulsrmitder the Exchange Act is accumulated and conwatad to the company’s management, including
its principal executive and principal financialiofirs, as appropriate to allow timely decisionsarding required disclosure. Our management
recognizes that any controls and procedures, ntentatw well designed and operated, can providg dsonable assurance of achieving their
objectives and our management necessarily appgi@gsdgment in evaluating the cdstnefit relationship of possible controls and pchoes. Based ¢
the evaluation of our disclosure controls and pdaces as of December 31, 2012, our Chief Exec@iifieer and President and Chief Operating
Officer (Principal Financial Officer) concluded thas of such date, our disclosure controls andgutores were effective at the reasonable assurance
level.

Management's Report on Internal Control Over Finandal Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finah@gorting, as such term is definec



Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). Under the supervisiod with the participation of our management, idilg our principal executive officer and
principal financial officer, we conducted an evdioa of the effectiveness of our internal contreéofinancial reporting based on the framework in
Internal Contro—Integrated Frameworissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrise Treadway Commission. Based on our evaloatio
under the framework imternal Control—Integrated Frameworlour management concluded that our internal cbatrer financial reporting was
effective as of December 31, 2012.

The effectiveness of our internal control over ficial reporting as of December 31, 2012 has beditealiby PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an
independent registered public accounting firm,tated in their report which is included herein.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There has been no change in our internal contret fimancial reporting during the quarter endeddmelber 31, 2012 that has materially affected or
is reasonably likely to materially affect our imal control over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.
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PART Il

Except as otherwise indicated, the following infatian required by the Instructions to Form 10-Knisorporated herein by reference from various
sections of the ArQule, Inc. Proxy Statement fer aihnual meeting of stockholders to be held on Byy2013, as summarized below:

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS, AND CORPORATE GOVERN ANCE

“Election of Directors;” “Section 16(a) Benefici@wnership Reporting Compliance;” “Corporate Govewsy” and “Board Committees and
Meetings.”

Information regarding the executive officers of @@mpany is incorporated by reference from “Exeeu@fficers of the Registrant” at the end of
Item 1 of this report.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

“Compensation Discussion and Analysis;” “Execut@mpensation;” “Director Compensation;” “CompensatiNominating and Governance
Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation;dd@ompensation Committee Report.”

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS

“Share Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners” &8dcurities Authorized for Issuance Under Equityrpensation Plans.”

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

“Certain Relationships and Related Transactions!‘&irector Independence.”

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

Fees paid to the Company’s independent registesblicpaccounting firm are disclosed under the @aptRatification of the Selection of an
Independent Registered Public Accountants.”

PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The financial statements are listed under ltem @isfreport.

2. FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES



The financial statement schedules are omitted tlaareport because they are not applicable oriredjinformation are shown in the financial
statements of the footnotes thereto.
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3. EXHIBITS
EXHIBIT
NO. DESCRIPTION

3.1 Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Compatiled as Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Annual Bemn Form 10-K
filed on March 2, 2011 (File No. 0-21429) and incorporated herein by referel

3.3 Amended and Restated By-laws of the Company. RigeBxhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Current Report om#8-K filed
on November 19, 2007 (File No. (-21429) and incorporated herein by referel

4.1 Specimen Common Stock Certificate. Filed as ExHilftto the Company’s Registration Statement omF®+1 filed on
August 19, 1996 (File No. 3-11105) and incorporated herein by referel

10.1* Amended and Restated 1994 Equity Incentive PldadFis Appendix A to the Company’s Definitive Prégatement
filed on April 29, 2011 (File No. 0(-21429) and incorporated herein by referel

10.2* Amended and Restated 1996 Employee Stock PurchaseRed as Appendix B to the Company’s DefirgtiRroxy
Statement filed on April 29, 2011 (File No. (-21429) and incorporated herein by referel

10.3* Amended and Restated 1996 Director Stock Option.FH#ed as Appendix C to the Company’s DefinitRmxy
Statement filed on April 29, 2011 (File No. (-21429) and incorporated herein by referel

10.4* 2005 Director Stock Compensation Plan. Filed asitix to the Compar’'s Registration Statement on Fori-8 filed on
December 6, 2005 (File No. 3-130159) and incorporated herein by refere

10.5 Amended and Restated Lease by and between MRERegion No. 20, LLC and the Company, dated June2805. Filec
as Exhibit 10.21 to the Company’s Quarterly ReparForm 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2088 éin August 5,
2005 (File No. 00-21429) and incorporated herein by referel

10.6* Employment Agreement between the Company and Beteawrence, dated April 13, 2006. Filed as ExHibitl to the
Compan'’s Current Report on Forn-K dated April 18, 2006 (File No. 0-21429) and incorporated herein by referel

10.7+ Exclusive License Agreement, by and between the g2omy and Kyowa Hakko Kogyo Co., Ltd. Filed as Exhil®.1 to

the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q fordgharter ended June 30, 2007 filed on August 77ZB0e No. 000-
21429) and incorporated herein by refere

10.8* Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated as ofli@ctd, 2007, by and between the Company and Petev8ence
Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Repa Form 8-K filed on October 10, 2007 (File N®0-21429) and
incorporated herein by referen:

10.9* Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement. Filedeabibit 10.16 to the Company’s Annual Report onrrdrOK filed on
March 17, 2008 (File No. 0+21429) and incorporated herein by referel

10.10* Form of Non-Statutory Stock Option Agreement. FigestExhibit 10.17 to the Company’s Annual ReporForm 10-K
filed on March 17, 2008 (File No. 0-21429) and incorporated herein by referel

10.11* Second Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated 24br2008, by and between ArQule, Inc. and P8tdrawrence

Filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Current Repa Form 8-K, filed on April 18, 2008 (File No00-21429) and
incorporated herein by referen:
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EXHIBIT
NO. DESCRIPTION
10.12* Employment Agreement, dated as of April 15, 2008aihd between ArQule, Inc. and Paolo Pucci. Fie&ehibit 10.4 tc
the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filedApril 18, 2008 (File No. 000-21429) and incorporhteerein by
reference
10.13+ Collaborative Research, Development and Licensed&gent, dated November 7, 2008, by and betweenlgay@e. and

Daiichi Sankyo Co., Ltd. Filed as Exhibit 10.22the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for treedil year ended
December 31, 2008 filed on March 6, 2009 (File 8lac-21429) and incorporated herein by referel

10.14+ License, C-Development and (-Commercialization Agreement, dated December 183269 and between ArQule, In
and Daiichi Sankyo Co., Ltd. Filed as Exhibit 10td3he Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K fa fiscal year
ended December 31, 2008 filed on March 6, 200@ (Rd. 00-21429) and incorporated herein by referel

10.15+ Agreement on Milestone Payments and Royaltiesctffe as of May 25, 2009 by and between ArQule, &md Daiichi
Sankyo Co., Ltd. Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Comps Current Report on Form 10-Q for the quartetezhJune 30,
2009, filed on August 7, 2009 (File No. (-21429) and incorporated herein by referel

10.16* Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated as of 152010, by and between the Company and Paoldi.Friled as
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report amrfr 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2010 Gledugust 4,
2010, (File No. 00-21429) and incorporated herein by referel

10.17* Form of Stock Unit Agreement. Filed as Exhibit 1@2he Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Qtfier quarter
ended June 30, 2010, filed on August 4, 2010, (Rde00(-21429) and incorporated herein by referel
10.19* Form of Restricted Stock Agreement. Filed as ExHiBi3 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on ForrQLfor the

quarter ended June 30, 2010, filed on August 402(Hile No. 00-21429) and incorporated herein by referel



10.20+ Amendment No. 1 to Collaborative Research, Devekgrand License Agreement, dated October 8, 2018n0
between ArQule, Inc. and Daiichi Sankyo Co., Ltiledras Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s AmendmentiNo. Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended Septe®®e2010 filed on January 14 , 2011, (File No.-22@29) and
incorporated herein by referen:

10.21* Employment Agreement, dated as of November 21, 29Chd between ArQule, Inc. and Thomas C. K. Cfila as
Exhibit 10.21 to the Company’s Annual Report onrRdi0-K for the year ended December 31, 2011 filedarch 1,
2012 (File No. 00-21429) and incorporated herein by referel

10.22* Employment Agreement, dated as of June 17, 2008nHybetween ArQule, Inc. and Brian Schwartz, fdsdExhibit 10.1
to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filedFebruary 24, 2012 (File No. 0@1-429) and incorporated herein
reference

10.23* Amendment to Employment Agreement dated as of Fepr23, 2012 by and between ArQule, Inc. and B8ahwartz,

filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Amendment No.1 to the Camgs Current Report on Form 8-K filed on Februavy 2012 (File
No. 00(-21429) and incorporated herein by referel

10.24+ License and C&@ommercialization Agreement, dated November 8, 26¢%5nd between ArQule, Inc. and Daiichi San
Co., Ltd., filed as Exhibit 10.24 to the Companiisnual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended Ddumsn31, 2011
filed on March 1, 2012 (File No. 0-21429) and incorporated herein by referel

10.25* Amendment to Employment Agreement filed dated dd@fember 2, 2012 by and between ArQule, Inc. dmoiias C.
K. Chan, filed herewith
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EXHIBIT
NO. DESCRIPTION
10.26* Second Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated kkarch 8, 2013, by and between ArQule, Inc. aadl® Pucci,

filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Reéjpo Form 8-K filed on March 11, 2013 (File No.0321429) and
incorporated herein by referen:

10.27* Third Amendment to Employment Agreement, datedfadarch 8, 2013, by and between ArQule, Inc. anteP$.
Lawrence, filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’sr€nt Report on Form 8-K filed on March 11, 2018¢Mo. 000-
21429) and incorporated herein by referel

10.28* Second Amendment to Employment Agreement, dateati@yr2013, by and between ArQule, Inc. and Brieiw&rtz,
filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Current Reéjpo Form 8-K filed on March 11, 2013 (File No.0321429) and
incorporated herein by referen

23.1 Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an IndemeiREgistered Public Accounting Firm, filed herdw
31.1 Rule 13i-14(a) Certificate of Chief Executive Officer, filéetrewith.

31.2 Rule 13a-14(a) Certificate of Principal Financidfi€®r, filed herewith.

32 Rule 13a-14(b) Certificate of Chief Executive Ofiand Principal Financial Officer, filed herewith.

101 The following materials from ArQule, Inc.’s Annudkport on Form 10-K for the year ended DecembeRB12,

formatted in XBRL (Extensible Business Reportingigaage): (i) Balance Sheets, (ii) Statements ofr@jmns and
Comprehensive Loss, (iii) Statements of Stockhaldequity (Deficit) and Comprehensive Loss, (iva@gments of Cash
Flows, and (v) Notes to Financial Stateme

* Indicates a management contract or compensatony pla

+ Certain confidential material contained in the doent has been omitted and filed separately witfSéneurities and Exchange Commiss
pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1383amended or Rule z-2 of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, asralad.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f{the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regyigthas duly caused this report to be signed
on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duth@iized.

A RQULE, | NC.

By:  /s/ PaoLo Pucci
Paolo Pucci
Chief Executive Office
Date: March 14, 2013




Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgé Act of 1934, this report has been signed belpthe following persons on behalf of the
registrant and in the capacities and on the datiedted.

SIGNATURE TITLE DATE
/s/ PaoLo P ucci Chief Executive Officer and Directi March 14, 201
(Principal Executive Officer)
Paolo Pucc
/s PETERS . L AWRENCE President and Chief Operating Officer March 14, 201

(Principal Financial Officer)
Peter S. Lawrenc

/s/ ROBERTJ. W EISKOPF Vice President of Finance, Corporate March 14, 201
Controller and Treasurer (Principal
Robert J. Weiskor. Accounting Officer)
/s PATRICK J.Z ENNER Director—Chairman of the Board March 14, 201

Patrick J. Zenne

/s/ TimoTHY C . B ARABE Director March 14, 201

Timothy C. Barabt

/s/ SusaNL .K ELLEY Director March 14, 201

Susan L. Kelley

/s/ RONALD M . L INDSAY Director March 14, 201

Ronald M. Lindsay

/s/ MicHAEL D . L OBERG Director March 14, 201

Michael D. Loberc

/s/ WiLLIAM G .M ESSENGER Director March 14, 201

William G. Messenge
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Exhibit 10.2¢

November 2, 201

Dr. Thomas Chan
99 Ridge Street
Winchester, MA 01890

Dear Tom:

The purpose of this letter agreement (“Agreemeisttd confirm the terms of your separation of ergpient from ArQule, Inc.

(“ArQule” or the “Company”).1 This Agreement shall be effective on the eighth)8ay following your signing of this Agreement, a
which time it shall become final and binding onlbparties.

1. Superseding AgreementBYy entering into this Agreement, the partiegimt and do hereby supersede all of the terms of
an Employment Agreement dated November 21, 200@ 2008 Agreement”), except as to those providibasthe parties expressly
agree herein shall survive.

2. Separation of Employme. Contingent upon your execution of this Agreemgaur employment with ArQule she
terminate upon expiration of your current employtreggreement effective as of November 22, 2012 (8bparation Date”)You hereby
acknowledge that your termination of employmentdkintary. The Company will continue your regubaise pay and insurance benefits
through the Separation Date. ArQule hereby wadrgsobligation by you to provide further noticesas forth in Section 5.3 of the 2008
Agreement. From and after November 22, 2012, yaill aot perform duties (except as provided in BadbB below) for or be present
at ArQule facilities, nor shall you represent yalf$o any third party as an employee or agenhef@Gompany. Any accrued and unused
vacation pay shall be paid to you with the firsynodl following the Separation Date.

3. Other Economic Benefits Also contingent upon your signing of this Agresm) ArQule agrees to provide you with the
following Economic Benefits.

A. 2012 PreRata Bonus ArQule shall pay to you a 2012 bonus pro-ratedlfl/12ths of the year. The bonus amount will
be determined based on the typical procedure frehning the bonuses of ArQule senior executives@mployees (i.e., target
bonus amount times a percentage based on the gadrimrporate goals by the CN&G committee and esetbby the board at
its January meeting, and, in your case, times }1/E@r illustrative purposes only, if the CN&G corittee and board were to
award bonuses at 100%, you would in such casefiikedrio the gross amount of one hundred ten thodsix hundred forty ot
and sixty three cents ($110,641.63), less all amjipayroll taxes and withholdings, which amountigdoe paid when such
bonuses are paid to other ArQule employees, exgppéateccur during Q1 of 2013. You hereby

1 The parties agree that, except with respect tti@e8 of this Agreement, which shall be the olfiga of ArQule, Inc. only, wherever the term
“ArQule” or “the Company’is otherwise used in this Agreement, it shall rédeArQule, Inc., and any and all of its divisioafiliates and subsidiarie
and all other related entities, and its and theeators, officers, employees agents, successarassigns.

acknowledge that the dollar amount of your pro@&@12 bonus is uncertain and not guaranteed agdméess than the gross
amount set forth in the illustration above.

B. Stock Options- Extension of Exercise PeriodYou will be entitled to exercise only those $taptions granted to you
under ArQule’s Amended and Restated 1994 Equitgnitice Plan (as amended) that are vested as &dparation Date, and
only in accordance with the terms and conditionthefapplicable plan(s), except that ArQule heraimees that for all such
vested stock options, you may exercise your riglpiurchase such shares up to and through Decerhib20B3. Except for tho:
vested options, you acknowledge and agree thatlgamot now have, and will not in the future havghts to vest in any other
equity plans (of whatever name or kind, includiwithout limitation, any stock option or restrictetbck plan) that you
participated in or were eligible to participatedring your employment with ArQuile.

4, Acknowledgement. You acknowledge and agree that ArQule is not oldigido provide you with the Other Econor
Benefits set forth above, that such Other Econdeitefits are not otherwise due or owing to you urtde 2008 Employment
Agreement, or any other agreement between youren@ompany (oral or written), or Company policypoactice. You further
acknowledge that except as set forth in Secticmsd23 above, you are not now and shall not inaheé be entitled to any other
compensation from the Company including, withouritation, other wages, bonuses, stock options po#imer form of equity, vacation




pay, holiday pay, paid time off or any other forfirompensation or benefit.

5. COBRA. Following the Separation Date, and to the expentitted by the provisions of the Consolidatednms
Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985 (COBRA), you whilhve the right, at your sole expense, to contyrug participation in the
Company’s group medical and dental insurance plae “qualifying event” under COBRA shall be deehte have occurred on the
Separation Date.

6. Other Agreements By You

A. You will promptly return to ArQule all property arthcuments of ArQule in your custody or possessidou hereby
reaffirm your obligations set forth in Sections87and 10 of the 2008 Agreement (such terms beiogrjrorated herein by
reference), and your obligations contained in thpByee Non-Disclosure and Inventions Agreementiptsly executed
between ArQule and you (a copy of such agreeménglatached hereto as Exhibit)Awhich agreement also is incorporated
herein by reference. You further agree to abidaryand all common law and/or statutory obligatioglating to the protection
and non-disclosure of ArQule’s trade secrets ancidofidential and proprietary documents and infdiom To the extent that
the obligations set forth in either referenced agrent impose greater obligations upon you, thensyali be bound by such
greater obligations.

B. You agree that while you remain employed by ArQtriem and after the date hereof through the Sejoar&tate, you

will make yourself available to ArQule, upon reaabie notice, either by telephone or, if ArQule éedis necessary, in person, to
assist ArQule in any matter relating to the serwigerformed by you during your employment with Ak&Qimcluding, but not
limited to, transitioning your duties to other Arl@employees. You further agree that in the fufume will cooperate fully with
ArQule in the defense or prosecution of any claimactions now in existence or which may be brougthreatened in the
future against ArQule by third parties or on belwdlArQule, including

any claim or action against its directors, officangl employees. Your cooperation in connectioh witch claims or actions sh
include, without limitation, your being available ineet with ArQule to prepare for any proceedingyrovide truthful affidavits,
to assist with any audit, inspection, proceedingtber inquiry, and to act as a withess in conoecivith any litigation or other
legal proceeding affecting ArQule. ArQule will mburse you for all reasonable, documented, outecket expenses incurred
by you in cooperating with ArQule. You further agrthat should any individual representing a padtyerse to the business
interests of ArQule (including, without limitatipanyone threatening any form of legal action agjaftrQule) contact you
(directly or indirectly), you will promptly (withi®8 hours) inform the General Counsel and/or Viasigdent of Human
Resources in writing of that fact.

C. Unless and only to the extent disclosed by the Gomn regulatory or legal filings with the Secig® and Exchange
Commission or other entities, you agree that extm@ptour obligations under Section 6A above, mlbimation relating in any
way to the subject matter of this Agreement, inclgdhe existence and provisions of this Agreemeiit,be held confidential b
you and will not be publicized or disclosed to @®yson other than an immediate member of your faanilyour legal counsel,
accountant or financial advisor, (provided that angh individual to whom disclosure is made shalbbund by these
confidentiality obligations), or a state or fedesat authority or government agency to which disate is mandated by applica
state or federal law. You further agree that ydlinet make any statements that are disparagimogitatr adverse to the business
interests of ArQule (including its directors, offis, and employees) or which are intended to haemeputation of ArQule
including, but not limited to, any statements ttliaparage any of its products, services, financasabilities or any other aspect
of the business of ArQule.

Your breach of any obligation contained in thist®ec6 will constitute a material breach of thisrAgment and, in addition to
any other legal or equitable remedy available tQée, will entitle ArQule to recover the monetaaiue of the Other Economic Bene
being provided to you under Section 3 of this Agreat.

7. Release of Claims You acknowledge and agree that, but for agretirige conditions and providing the waiver and
release contained in this Agreement, you wouldoeateceiving the Other Economic Benefits providadherein. You further hereby
acknowledge and agree that by signing this Agre¢iseth accepting the Other Economic Benefits, yewaiving your right to assert
any form of legal claim against ArQule (as defimedootnote no. 1 to this Agreement) of any kindatgoever from the beginning of til
through and including the Separation Date or ttie gau sign this Agreement, whichever is later.ui¥waiver and release is intended to
bar any form of legal claim, charge, complaint oy ather form of action (collectively referred te ‘&laims”) against ArQule seeking
any form of relief including, without limitation gaitable relief (whether declaratory, injunctiveatherwise), the recovery of any




damages or any other form of monetary recovery sd®ater (including, without limitation, back payofit pay,
compensatory damages, emotional distress damag@syp damages, attorneys’ fees or any other rasgf@inst ArQule up through and
including the Separation Date or the date you gighAgreement, whichever is later. You understidnad there could be unknown or
unanticipated Claims resulting from your employmeith ArQule and the termination thereof and adghes such Claims are intended to
be, and are, included in this waiver and release.

Without limiting the foregoing general waiver aredaase, you specifically waive and release ArQudefany Claims arising
from or related to your employment relationshiphwit

ArQule or the termination thereof, including withdumitation: (i) Claims under any state (includjngithout limitation, Massachusetts)
or federal discrimination statute (including but imited to Massachusetts General Laws ChapteBl8ie Age Discrimination in
Employment Act, the Americans With Disabilities A€itle VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964), faiemployment practices or any other
employment related statute, regulation or execudider, (as each may have been amended througlatb®n which you sign this
Agreement); (ii) Claims under any other state (idahg, without limitation, Massachusetts) or fedemployment related statute
(including but not limited to the Worker Adjustmeantd Retraining Notification (WARN) Act), regulati@r executive order (as they n
have been amended through the date on which yalilsig letter agreement) relating to wages, houeny other terms and conditions
employment; (iii) Claims under any state (includimgthout limitation, Massachusetts) or federal coom law theory; and (iv) any other
Claim arising under state or federal law.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, this Section 8 wiilit release ArQule from any obligation expresstyfegth in this Agreement or
with respect to distributions not yet made to yoder the terms of ArQule’s 401(k) Savings Plan.

8. OWBPA. Itis ArQule’s desire and intent to make certhiat you fully understand the provisions and dffexf this
Agreement. To that end, ArQule hereby advises gawriting to consult with legal counsel for the pase of reviewing the terms of this
Agreement and you are being given the opportuniyat so. Because you are over 40 years of ageangpogranted specific rights under
the Older Workers Benefit Protection Act (OWBPA}ieh prohibits discrimination on the basis of agjee release set forth in Section 7
is intended to release any rights you may havenagairQule alleging discrimination on the basisgg, including claims under the
federal Age Discrimination in Employment Act and @®A. Consistent with the provisions of OWBPA, yaxknowledge that you ha
been provided with at least 21 days to consideraamadpt the provisions of this Agreement. In addjtyou may rescind your assent to
this Agreement if, within seven (7) days after dage you sign this Agreement, you deliver a writtetice of rescission to ArQule. To
be effective, such notice of rescission must bérmparked, and sent by certified mail, return recedgjuested, or delivered in-hand within
the seven-day period to Tony Messina at ArQule.tl@reighth day following your execution of thisrdgment (the “Effective Date”), it
will become final and binding on all parties.

Also, consistent with federal discrimination lawsthing in this release shall be deemed to prokihit from challenging the
validity of this release under federal discrimipatiaws or from filing a charge or complaint of ageother employment related
discrimination with the Equal Employment Opportyr@ommission (“EEOC"), or from participating in aimwestigation or proceeding
conducted by the EEOC. However, this release pomsbit you from seeking or receiving monetary daes or other individual-
specific relief in connection with any such chaogeomplaint of age or other employment-relatedritisination that relates to or arises
out of any Claims occurring up through and inclgdihe Separation Date or the date you sign thieément, whichever is later.

Further, nothing in this release or Agreementldf@mbeemed to limit ArQule’s right to seek immedidismissal of such charge or
complaint on the basis that your signing of thiseament constitutes a full release of any individigdts under federal discrimination
laws, or ArQule’s right to seek restitution or atfhegal remedies to the extent permitted by lavhefeconomic benefits provided to you
under this Agreement in the event that you suca#gsthallenge the validity of this release andvaiein any claim under federal
discrimination laws.

9. Full Agreement, Choice of Law, Jury WaiveExcept as expressly provided for herein, thiseggnent supersedes any
and all prior oral and/or written agreements, agtg forth

the entire agreement between ArQule and you ineasyf your separation from ArQule. No variatimrsnodifications hereof shall be



deemed valid unless reduced to writing and sigriyedrQule and you. This Agreement shall be deemduhve been made in the
Commonwealth of Massachusetts and shall take edfeah instrument under seal within the CommonWwedIMassachusetts. The
validity, interpretation and performance of thisrAgment, and any and all other matters relatingtw employment and separation of
employment from ArQule, shall be governed by, amiistrued in accordance with, the internal lawshef€ommonwealth of
Massachusetts, without giving effect to confliclaf principles. Both parties agree that any actaemand, claim or counterclaim
relating to (i) your employment and separation afiyemployment, and (ii) the terms and provisiohthis Agreement or to its breach,
shall be commenced in the Commonwealth of Massa&ttsus a court of competent jurisdiction. Bothitjws further agree that any such
action, demand, claim or counterclaim shall bedthg a judge alone, and both parties hereby waidef@arever renounce the right to a
trial before a civil jury. The provisions of tdggreement are severable, and if for any reasomanyhereof shall be found to be
unenforceable, the remaining provisions shall Hererd in full.

By executing this Agreement, you are acknowleddiirag you have been afforded sufficient time to ustéd the provisions ai
effects of this Agreement and to consult with legmiinsel, that your agreements and obligationsruhieAgreement are made

voluntarily, knowingly and without duress and thaither ArQule nor its agents or representative® lmaade any representations
inconsistent with the provisions of this Agreement.

Yours very truly,

ArQule, Inc.

By: /s/ A.S. Messina
11/7/12

ACCEPTED AND AGREED TO:

/sl Thomas Chan
Dr. Thomas Chan

Dated: November 2, 2012



Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referémt¢lee Registration Statements on Form S-8 (Fide.N833-178228, 333-178227, 333-178226,
and 333-130159) of ArQule, Inc., of our report dakéarch 14, 2013 relating to the financial statete@md the effectiveness of internal control over
financial reporting, which appears in this FormKLO-

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
March 14, 2013



Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATE OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
I, Paolo Pucci, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-Kdule, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtaynuntrue statement of a material fact or ométate a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstancesuwtieh such statements were made, not misleaditigrespect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statement$,agéimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cieWs of the registrant as of, and for, the pesipdesented in this repo

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | aesponsible for establishing and maintaining disate controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) amdriat control over financial reporting (as definedxchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15
() for the registrant and hav

a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduregused such disclosure controls and procedures tlesigned under our supervision
ensure that material information relating to thgisegant, is made known to us by others within ¢éestities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepare

b) Designed such internal control over financial réipgr, or caused such internal control over finahi@orting to be designed under «
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rieggifte reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generallymedeaccounting principle

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’sld&ire controls and procedures and presentedsimetport our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proces] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation;

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the regit’s internal control over financial reporting thatomed during the registrée’s most recer
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal qeaiin the case of an annual report) that has fadl{eaffected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registre’s internal control over financial reporting; &

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | leadisclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorteyhal control over financial reporting, to the
registran’s auditors and the audit committee of the regit's board of directors (or persons performing thewadent functions)

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contradiofinancial reporting which are reasona
likely to adversely affect the registr’s ability to record, process, summarize and refjmncial information; an

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significéain the registra’s internal contro
over financial reporting

Date: March 14, 2013
/s/ PaoLo P ucci

Paolo Pucci
Chief Executive Office




Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATE OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
I, Peter S. Lawrence certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-Kdule, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtaynuntrue statement of a material fact or ométate a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstancesuwtieh such statements were made, not misleaditigrespect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statement$,agéimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cieWs of the registrant as of, and for, the pesipdesented in this repo

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | aesponsible for establishing and maintaining disate controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) amdriat control over financial reporting (as definedxchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15
() for the registrant and hav

a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduregused such disclosure controls and procedures tlesigned under our supervision
ensure that material information relating to thgisegant, is made known to us by others within ¢éestities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepare

b) Designed such internal control over financial réipgr, or caused such internal control over finahi@orting to be designed under «
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rieggifte reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generallymedeaccounting principle

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’sld&ire controls and procedures and presentedsimetport our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proces] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation;

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the regit’s internal control over financial reporting thatomed during the registrée’s most recer
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal qeaiin the case of an annual report) that has fadl{eaffected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registre’s internal control over financial reporting; &

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | leadisclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorteyhal control over financial reporting, to the
registran’s auditors and the audit committee of the regit's board of directors (or persons performing thewadent functions)

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contradiofinancial reporting which are reasona
likely to adversely affect the registr’s ability to record, process, summarize and refjmncial information; an

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significéain the registra’s internal contro
over financial reporting

Date: March 14, 2013

/s/ PETERS.L AWRENCE

Peter S. Lawrence
President and Chief Operating Offic
(Principal Financial Officer)




Exhibit 32
ArQule, Inc.

CERTIFICATE OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND
PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER

The undersigned, Paolo Pucci, Chief Executive ©ffaf ArQule, Inc. (the “Company”) and Peter S. ltamce, President and Chief Operating
Officer (Principal Financial Officer) of the Comparboth duly elected and currently serving, do daeteby certify that, to the best of his/her
knowledge:

1. The annual report on Form-K for the period ending December 31, 2012, filecbehalf of the Company pursuant to the SecuritiehBnge
Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”) and containing fir@ncial statements of the Company, fully compligth the requirements of section 13
(a) of the Exchange Act; ar

2. The information contained in such annual reportyfigiresents, in all material respects, the finahcondition and results of operations of the
Company for the dates and periods covered by sucheh report

This certification accompanies the Company’s AnrRegport on Form 10-K for the year ended DecembgePB12 pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (the “2002 Act”) andlkhat be deemed filed by the Company for purpadeSection 18 of the Exchange Act.

This certification is being made for the exclusprgpose of compliance by the Chief Executive Offied Acting Principal Accounting and
Financial Officer of the Company with the requirertseof Section 906 of the 2002 Act, and may natliselosed, distributed or used by any person for
any reason other than as specifically requiredaioy |

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have execuisdQertificate as of the Iday of March 2013.
/sl PaoLo P ucci

Name: Paolo Puct
Title: Chief Executive Office

/s/ PETERS.L AWRENCE
Name: Peter S. Lawren:

President and Chief Operating Officer
Title: (Principal Financial Officer)




